托福口语看这本就够了

出国考试满分『培训

托福口语绿宝书

张涵⊙编著

前ETS托福出题人倾力之作 托福口语考试技巧完全解密 托福口语考试全真练习题 "想搞定托福口语,看这本就够了!"



张涵

- ⊙ 啄木鸟教育教学管理部总监 & 教学研发中心总监
- ⊙ 宾夕法尼亚大学跨文化交流硕士
- ⊙ 香港大学社会经济学习项目访问学者
- ⊙ 在美期间曾作为ETS普林斯顿总部托福项目第一位 来自中国大陆的实习生为托福考试出题
- ⊙ 前宾夕法尼亚大学PCCW国际青年学者项目TOEFL 及SAT授课教师
- ⊙ 宾夕法尼亚大学北京区录取面试官
- ⊙ 独创托福口语步点式答题法 (Step-Point Method)
- ⊙ 多年托福及SAT教学教研经验,作为TOEFL考试出题人,深谙TOEFL考试出题思路和应试技巧

HAN ZHANG

- Director of Training & Director of Research and Development at Woodpecker Education
- M.S.Ed in Intercultural Communication at the University of Pennsylvania
- Visiting Scholar in Leeshiu Socio-Econimic Study Project at the University of Hong Kong
- First Mainland-Chinese Intern in TOEFL Program at ETS Main Office in Princeton, NJ
- Former Instructor of TOEFL & SAT at Penn-PCCW
 International Young Scholars Program
- O Alumni Interviewer of Upenn in Beijing District
- O Developed Step-Point Method in TOEFL Speaking
- \odot Years of teaching & research experience in TOEFL & SAT



序言(一)

——陈起永

在我看来,张涵是中国托福考生的宝贝,因为他是稀有的甚至是迄今仅有的真正"打入" 美国 ETS 托福出题组内部的中国大陆人。凭借他出色的口语和美式思维方式,张涵成为参 与托福出题的中国人,这即使在美国所有的常春藤盟校(包括张涵的母校宾夕法尼亚大学) 及其他美国大学的中国留学生中也是前无古人的创举。

张涵对于中国托福考生的价值就在于,他了解出题者的思路,因为他就是口语考题的出题者,他了解答题的思路,因为很多答案的得分点是他参与制定的,更为重要的是,他的思路与其他出题者的思路是一致的。因此,张涵对参加托福考试考生的指导,是绝对权威的。

为了让更多的中国托福考生能够取得好成绩,我一直建议张涵出一本书来惠及更多的中国学生。由于与 ETS 有保密约定,因此张涵不能透露任何他所出过的题目,但这本书,却是张涵想到的两全其美方案的结晶:一方面,在这本书中张涵没有透露任何的自己有参与出题的题目,另一方面,张涵用出题者的逻辑和思路为中国学生提供了新的视角。

在我看来,这本书对学生的价值,就好比哈佛商学院提倡的案例教学法对于其学生的价值。我的一位哈佛商学院的教授说过,他并不能代替企业家或者职业经理人去更好地经营企业,他可以告诉我们的只是其他企业是如何成功和失败的案例。

因此,我一直习惯性地把张涵的这本书对托福考生的指导意义与哈佛商学院之案例教学法对企业家和职业经理人的指导意义进行类比.但仔细思考之后,我又坚信张涵的这本书对托福考生的指导意义要远远大于哈佛商学院之案例教学法对企业家和职业经理人的指导意义,因为要做好一个企业,仅仅跑到哈佛商学院去学习是远远不够的,而要参加托福口语考试,就像这本书的名字一样, "看这本就够了"。



序言(二)

——程来川(猴哥)

一周托福口语提高 6 分的奇迹

猴哥有一个学生,托福 95 分,其中阅读 27、听力 25、写作 25,但是口语 18 分。这个时候,离申请前最后一次托福考试的时间只有一周.很明显,口语拖了他的后腿,托福如果不到 100 分,大量的学校将不能申请.

这个时候我能想到名字只有一个,"张涵"!也许,只有他能创造奇迹.

4个小时的1对1课程,让学生的托福口语成绩,发生了无法想像的变化.

第一个小时,发现问题,帮助学生建立自信。只需简单的几句,张涵就发现了学生的问题并不是口语的发音,也不是单词,或者句式,而是没有说到正确的点子上,并且由于长期口语考试分数低,学生对托福口语考试失去了自信。张涵通过第一个小时的课程,告诉学生,虽然只剩下一周时间,但是由于问题已经找到,而如何答题是可以短时间训练的(并不像口语能力,需要较长时间的训练),所以一定要有信心。学生按照张涵在课上所提供的方法试着组织自己的思维和语言,结果很快找到了窍门。学生的自信找回来了!

第二、三个小时,张涵针对他的问题,为其制定了每个题型的答题方案和训练方法。

第四个小时,张涵带着学生进行了大量的训练和纠错,并且为其安排了课程结束之后几天的训练计划.与此同时,正确的考试心态也是他讲解的重点.学生自信满满的结束了四个小时的课程。

一周后的托福考试,这个学生考了 107 分,其中口语是 24 分,一周提高了 6 分。这是一个大家都没有想到的分数.



后来在跟张涵聊天的过程中,他告诉我,他在 ETS 从事托福口语出题工作的时候,除了写出题目外,还需要给每一道题写出答题要点(key points),而这些答题要点,就是学生最需要掌握的。很多中国学生在英语口语能力方面没有问题,甚至很优秀,但是在答题技巧方面,往往答不到正确的点子上,不知道该覆盖什么样的信息点,所以才导致分数不高。由于张涵的1对1口语课的高效性,很多家长和学生,都点名要让张涵上口语1对1课,哪怕只是1个小时。

作为啄木鸟教育的教学总监,张涵肩负着啄木鸟教育全国各分公司及合作院校的大量的教研管理、教学管理、教师培训管理等工作,所以当我经常给他安排重点学生的课程时,他总是面露难色。于是,当他告诉我他在写一本书,会把他的托福口语课程的所有精华全部写进去时,我高兴得跳了起来,考生们太需要这样一本书了。

猴哥有幸成为最早看到这本书的书稿的人,书不厚,甚至可以说很薄,但是,指导性十分强,学生很快可以看完,并且可以马上开始实践和练习。这本书把张涵老师在 ETS 的 出题经历、多年的托福教学经验、大量的托福教研经验的精华全部囊括。正如书名所说,"托福口语看这本就够了"!

猴哥一直认为,要成为一个教语言的好老师,需要对语言的热爱,需要对教育的热爱, 更需要极高的天赋.

这些,张涵都有!



自序

我的托福故事

Rosedale Road 666 号,Messick Hall,编号为 N-208-Z 的一个普通的格子间。在 2009 年 7 月 6 日上午我到达这里之前,这里于我而言,只是个遥远的、神秘的地方。而 当我离开这里时,我的导师之一 Emily Pooler 女士微笑着走到我的桌前对我说:"It's been a privilege working with you Han. You do know you're the first Chinese intern we have, right?"在那一刻,我才知道,自己是这个项目组历史上第一位来自中国大陆的实习生。也正因为这个特殊的身份,使我意识到我所肩负的责任:帮助中国考生,真正理解并应对托福考试。

这里是坐落于美国新泽西州,普林斯顿城郊的 ETS 总部。ETS 全称为 Educational Testing Service,是目前世界上规模最大的教育考试评估机构,其管理的托福(TOEFL)、GRE、SAT等标准化考试已在近年来为广大中国考生所熟知。ETS 这个机构,不仅是许多中国考生们口中的魔鬼机构,也常常被英语老师们当作各种段子里调侃的对象。ETS 究竟是如何的? 考官们是什么人? 出题由谁来出,标准究竟如何? 评分的标准和方式究竟又是怎样? 一道道考题背后,究竟是一些什么人,在付出怎样的努力? 在此之前,我无从得知,直到这次经历给了我答案和启示。2009 年夏天,ETS 托福项目组总共招收了 35 名实习生,其中有中学老师,有考试评分人,有语言学博士生,甚至有一名即将入职 FBI 的学者,而除我以外唯一的一名外国实习生是来自俄罗斯的富布赖特学者。和他们共同工作充满挑战又受益匪浅,亲身经历了一道题目从命题到定稿漫长细致的整个周期,也让我得以认识到ETS 对认真负责、以及对不同语言文化背景考生保证公平的重视程度。经历了贯穿始终,涉及命题理念、出题答题、评分标准等一系列培训之后,我不仅有幸得窥传说中 ETS 的真面目,更得以同时以考生,老师和出题人的三重视角,理解并把握托福考试的精髓。而这些,正是我希望在不违反保密条例、不泄露任何 ETS 机密信息的情况下,和大家所分享的。

我在 2007 年 10 月 20 日参加了我的第一次、也是唯一的一次托福考试,拿到了 112 分,在当时是我的家乡重庆地区第一个考到 110 分以上的考生。与现在不同的是,那时新托福考试进入中国才刚刚一年左右,市面上的参考书和材料非常有限,除了托福官方指南 (Official Guide) ,朗文,巴朗等少数几本教材之外,几乎找不到其他任何资料,更不要提众多真题



和考试攻略。当时还普遍不熟悉新托福考试的中国考生,如果分数能达到 100 分以上,便已具备申请美国名校的实力,110 以上的分数更是十分难得。而在过去几年中,随着新托福考试在中国考生中的逐渐普及,越来越多的托福考试参考资料开始涌入市场,越来越多的同学们也从中得到了巨大的帮助。到了现在的 2012 年,大家会发现像 100 分、乃至 110 分这样的成绩已经不再像几年前那样的寥寥无几。高分不再遥不可及,然而,我们仍旧有许多同学在托福备考之路上艰难跋涉着,每一步路都走得辛苦,却未必方向正确。其中,许多功底扎实的同学在读听写方面进步很快,口语部分却进展缓慢。每当看到有学生因为口语单项成绩拖累总分、或因单项不达标而无法进入理想学校时,我既深感遗憾,又因此更希望帮助他们。

当今,市面上的托福口语参考书数不胜数,其中也不乏信息完备、指导到位、对考试把握准确的出色作品。然而遗憾的是,仍旧有许多书目所提供的信息并不准确、甚至对考生给出了错误的指导,造成不少学生努力不少,却收效甚微。为了能为各位同学们提供最有价值的、最准确的信息,同时尽可能地节约大家宝贵的考试准备时间,我将本书篇幅压到最少,在简明扼要阐述托福口语所需的全部技巧以外,尽可能减少不必要的额外信息。这也是为什么我将本书命名为"托福口语看这本就够了"的原因。

留学之路并不轻松,托福考试只是众多难关的其中之一。往后的申请、入学、求学等阶段,仍是任重而道远。我也许无法伴大家走完全程,但愿能够有幸在托福这一段路上与你们并肩前行,助你们一臂之力。希望大家能够攻克托福考试,顺利闯关,最后如愿踏上前往大洋彼岸的梦想征程。若日后你回首求学之路,能够想起我曾在你备考托福时,对你有那么一点点的帮助,这便是我身为师者最大的满足。



张涵

2012年4月

于北京中关村



目 录

第一章 关于托福考试 1

- 1. 托福考试概况 3
- 2. 托福考试的三个特点 6
- 3. 托福考试的重要性 9

第二章 关于托福口语 11

- 1. 托福口语考试概况及题型介绍 13
- 2 托福口语考试评分标准 16
- 3 参加托福口语考试所需的八大能力 22

第三章 托福口语解题技巧 27

- 1 任务一(独立):自由选择 29
- 2 任务二 (独立): 二选一 37
- 3 任务三(综合):校园声明/观点和原因 43
- 4 任务四(综合): 学术概念/抽象到具体 54
- 5 任务五(综合): 学生对话/问题和解决方案 64
- 6 任务六(综合): 学术话题 / 摘要 72

第四章 托福口语练习题 81

托福口语练习题(一) 83

托福口语练习题(二) 91

托福口语练习题(三) 99

托福口语练习题(四) 108

托福口语练习题(五) 116

第五章 托福口语练习题参考答案 125

托福口语练习题(一)参考答案 127

托福口语练习题(二)参考答案 130

托福口语练习题 (三) 参考答案 133

托福口语练习题(四)参考答案 136

托福口语练习题(五)参考答案 139

附录 142

后记 148

感谢 154

案例分析 155



第一章 关于托福考试







1. 托福考试概况



托福考试由美国著名教育测验机构 ETS(Educational Testing Service)研发,它旨在评估有意到美国大学学习的外国学生在学术环境下运用和理解英语的能力.托福考试在全球范围内有三种不同的考试模式,分别为纸考 PBT(paper based test,满分为 677 分),机考 CBT(computer based test,满分为 300 分),以及网考 iBT(internet based test,满分 120 分).本书中我们提到的托福均为网考 internet based test,也即就是我们日常提到的 TOEFL iBT. 托福考试自 1964 年起在全世界范围内被使用,至今已有近50 年的历史,全球共有超过两千三百万考生参加过托福考试,因此它在全球范围内有着相当大的影响力.自2006 年 9 月 15 日起,TOEFL iBT 即托福网考成为在中国大陆被广泛且唯一使用的托福考试模式,一直至今.因此本书的所有内容均针对托福网考而设计.

托福网考总共被分为了四个部分,分别是阅读、听力、口语、写作。每个部分的满分是 30分,整个托福网考的满分是 120分.下面我们就一起来看看托福网考的每个部分分别包含了什么样的内容.

阅读 Reading

托福网考的阅读考试一共有 3-5 篇文章 , 考试时间为 60-100 分钟 . 每篇阅读文章的长度 约在 700 字左右 , 比之前两种形式的托福阅读文章都要更长一些 , 每篇文章后边有 11-13 个题目 , 均为选择题 . 题目主要包括 10 类 : 事实信息题(factual information question), 否定信息题(negative factual information question), 推断题(inference question), 修辞目的题(rhetorical purpose question),词汇题(vocabulary question),指代题(reference question), 句子简化题(sentence simplification question), 文本插入题(insert text question),总结题(prose summary),表格题(fill in a table). 在托福阅读中 , 大多数题目是针对文章的某一部分提问,且题目的出现顺序与文章的段落顺序一致,但最后一题通常会针对整篇文章提问。



听力 Listening

托福网考的听力考试一共有 2-3 个听力段子组合,每个组合由1个校园对话 (conversation) 和 2 个学术讲座 (lecture) 组成,所以一共有 6-9 个听力段子.整个听力 考试会持续 60-90 分钟,每个校园对话的长度是 3-5 分钟,之后有 5 个题目,每个学术讲座 的长度是 4-6 分钟,之后有 6 个题目.与大多数的英语能力考试不一样的是,在托福网考的听力部分中,考生在听录音资料之前无法提前看到题目,但考生可以在听录音过程中记笔记以帮助理解.除听力部分之外,托福网考的口语和写作部分也会涉及对学生听力能力的考察,因此学生听力水平的高低将会极大的影响学生的最后的分数.在我个人看来,托福网考就是一个听力为王的考试,听力能力强的考生会在整个考试中处于非常有力的位置.因此,同学们千万不能放松对于听力能力的练习.

口语 Speaking

托福网考的口语考试一共有6道题目,持续约20分钟.6个题目中第1,2题是独立口语题,要求考生就某一话题阐述自己的观点,其中第1题是自由选择,第2题是二选一.在第1,2题中,考生需要具备较强的口语表达能力.第3,4题是综合口语题,题目要求考生首先在45秒内阅读一段100单词左右长度的短文,随后短文消失,考生再听一段与短文有关的对话或课堂演讲,然后根据先前阅读的短文和播放的对话或演讲回答相关问题.在第3,4题中,考生有30秒钟时间准备,然后有60秒钟时间作答.第5,6题要求考生听一段校园场景对话或者课堂演讲,然后回答相关问题.考生有20秒钟时间准备,之后有60秒钟时间作答.考生可以在读阅读和听录音的过程中记笔记以帮助答题.在综合口语题中,除了口语能力,考生也需要具备较强的阅读,听力,以及综合多重信息的能力.也就是说,托福的口语部分,其实考的不只是学生的口语能力.

写作 Writing

托福网考的写作考试要求考生在约1小时内完成两篇作文.第一篇作文是综合写作,要求考生首先阅读一篇文章,3分钟以后隐去文章,播放一段与文章有关的课堂演讲.课堂演讲中会列举一些论据支持或者反驳文章中的论点和论据.考生需要在20分钟内写一篇大约150-225字的作文,总结课堂演讲的论点和论据,并陈述它们是如何支持或者反驳阅读文章中的论点论据的.听录音时学生可以记笔记.在进行写作时,阅读文章会重新显示在屏幕上.在综合写作中,文章不要求考生阐述自己的观点.第二篇作文是独立写作,比较类似于老托



福的写作,要求考生在30分钟内根据自己的知识和经验就某一话题阐述自己的观点看法,并举出相应事例.独立写作的字数要求为300字以上.

加试 Extra

托福考试中,考生通常会在阅读或者听力部分遇到加试试题,也可能阅读和听力两部分同时加试,或者同时不加试(后两种情况较少).加试部分虽然不算分,但考生考试时并不知道其中的哪一部分是加试部分,所以考生必须认真对待整个考试.除此之外,在中国大陆参加托福网考的考生的加试中,大量的出现目前被众多考生称作"经典加试"的固定加试题目(如阅读部分的苏美尔人和听力部分的大王花),因此考生可以提前对相应题目进行熟悉.需要注意的是,经典加试对于中国大陆之外的考生并不适用.





2. 托福考试的三个特点



在中国学生申请美国大学的时候,会经历诸如托福,SAT,GRE,GMAT,LSAT等众多考试,在其中托福考试是惟一一个几乎任何中国学生都必须参加的考试,这也就决定了它的重要性.托福考试虽然在难度上比其它几个考试相对简单,但它仍然具备自己独有的特点.如果能够把握好这些特点,考生在准备托福考试的时候会更加有针对性.下边就是托福考试最大的三个特点:

托福考试是一个语言考试 TOEFL is a language test

从托福考试的全称 Test of English as a Foreign Language 里边我们可以清晰地看到,与 SAT,GRE 等考试不一样,托福考试是一个语言考试.正因为它是一个语言考试,同学们在准备它的时候,应当使用有针对性的策略.既然考试考察的是学生的英语语言能力,学生在考试的时候应当尽可能的通过对词汇,短语,句型等一系列语言技巧的运用,去给托福考试评分人展示自己的语言能力.拿托福口语举例,正因为托福考察的是学生英语水平的高低,所以学生不用把过多的注意力集中在追求完美的逻辑和内容上,而应该花更多的时间和精力去提高自己的语言质量,比如改进自己的语音语调,注重高级词汇使用,以及复杂的句型变换.



小贴士: 托福和 SAT 的关系和不同

托福考试和 SAT 考试均是在中国高中生申请美国大学本科的时候必须参加的考试,两者之间存在一种互补的关系. 托福考试是一个语言考试,它考察的是中国学生是否具备能够在美国校园的学术环境里听懂课程,与教授互动,与同学沟通,最终达到学术成功的英语语言能力. 它针对的是想要去美国大学学习的不是以英语为母语的学生. 而 SAT 考试是一个逻辑与智力的考试,它考察的是学生是否具备在美国大学里成功学习的阅读,数学,写作,逻辑等能力,它是一个以英语为母语的学生也必须参加的考试 — 俗称"美国高考". 正因为两种考试之间存在这样的差异,同学们在对付两种考试的时候应当有相应的偏重点. 以写作部分为例,托福写作部分的独立写作和 SAT 的短文写作部分相对类似,但在评分标准上会有一些不同. 因为托福是一个语言考试,评分人会更加注重学生的语言能力 — 如在写作中表现出的对于词汇,语法,句型等知识的运用. 而 SAT 考试的评分人则会更加注重文章的内容和逻辑 — 如各论点之间的联系,论据是



否能很好的支持论点.一个学生如果犯下语法错误,在 SAT 考试中,只要他仍旧能够表达清楚自己的意思,可能并不会被严厉地惩罚,但如果是在托福考试中,语法错误通常对分数影响较大,因为语法能力是语言能力的一种非常具体的表现形式.

托福考试是一个以能力为核心的考试 TOEFL centers on language ability

同学们要想在一个考试中取得好成绩,必须同时注重能力,技巧,和发挥三个方面.以托福考试为例,能力就是指考生本身的英语语言运用能力;技巧指的是考生在对付托福这个特定考试中不同题目的时候,具备的相应的做题技巧;而发挥指的是考生在真正参加托福考试的时候,面对电脑的临场表现.在进入网考时代之前,托福考试在中国的考察形式是笔考,托福笔考考试是一个高度以考试技巧为核心的考试.简言之,学生在参加托福笔考考试的时候,并不需要具备很强的英语语言能力,只要能掌握好相应的考试技巧,他们就能在这个考试中拿到很好的成绩.以听力部分为例,曾经有一部分对考试研究非常透彻的学生,能够做到不听听力段子,把题目做对一半.这样的一个考试显然是不合理的,一方面它对于那些努力学习英语的学生来说不公平,另一方面它无法协助美国大学录取人员正确有效的判断申请人的英语能力.于是 ETS 改革了托福考试.

现在的托福网考是一个设计得非常成功的语言考试,因为它不再以技巧为考试核心,而将学生真实的语言能力放到了最重要的位置上.也就是说,如果一个学生具备很强的英语语言能力,就算他对托福考试考试技巧的研究并不深入,他仍然能获得不错的分数.相反地,如果一个学生自身的英语能力非常有限,就算他潜心钻研托福考试的考试技巧,他也很难在考试中拿到高分.能力决定分数,这也是广大努力学习英语的学生和大学录取官员们希望看到的局面.正因为托福考试的这种变化,以讲授考试技巧为生的传统培训机构遇到了巨大的挑战,因为他们以前所讲授的内容,对于学生考试成绩的提高,已经起不到那么大的作用.如何提高学生自身的英语能力,才应当是现今国内留学考试培训从业人员的研究重点.笔者在本书中会不断地宣传一个重要观点:想要考好托福考试,最好的办法就是努力学习英语,提高自己真正的语言能力.What is the best strategy to crack TOEFL? Study English — it's this simple.

托福考试需要较长的准备时间 It takes time to prepare for TOEFL

谈到托福考试需要的准备时间,大家众说纷纭.笔者认为通常来说3-6个月是相对合理



的,原因在于托福考试已经不再是以前那个以考试技巧为核心的考试了.倘若一个考试的核心是考试技巧,那它的准备时间会相对较短,因为考试技巧的学习和积累是相对较快的,学生通过诸如上培训班学习之类的手段,可以在很短的时间内掌握相应的考试技巧,从而在考试中拿到高分.但托福考试已经成功转型为一个以能力为核心的考试.学生如果想要在这个考试中拿到好成绩,较强的英语能力和大量的练习是必不可少的.而语言能力的提高和大量的练习,都是需要较长时间来完成的.这也正是为什么托福考试需要较长时间准备的原因.笔者认为,对于一个英语水平中等,对于托福考试没有任何了解的学生来说,大概半年的准备时间是必须的.从了解考试,到提高能力和学习考试技巧,再到大量的练习,半年的时间是比较正常,也比较充足的.如果学生本身的英语基础非常好(如英语考试总是全班前三名,或者在美国念高中等),那需要的准备时间会较短一些,但如果学生的目标是在托福考试中获得100,甚至110以上的高分,那3个月的准备时间在笔者看来也是必须的.当然,在笔者的学生中,也有英语能力极强的学生在一个月内将托福考试的分数提到110已上的,但那只是凤毛麟角,对同学们参考价值不大.

那是不是准备时间越长,考试分数就越有保障呢?坦白说,笔者不赞同学生将托福考试的准备时间拖得太长,因为它会让学生过于疲惫,对考试产生逆反心理,这样反而不利于学生在托福考试中提高分数.





3. 托福考试的重要性



至今为止,美国和加拿大共有2300多所院校规定,凡是外国学生想要到该校进行学习的,必须提供托福考试成绩.只有达到学校所要求成绩的申请人,才能取得入学和申请奖学金的资格.由此可见,托福考试在北美大学的入学条件里,占据着非常重要的地位.那是不是托福考试只能用于北美大学的申请呢?当然不是.除了美国,加拿大的各类大学外,欧洲(如英国),大洋洲(如澳大利亚,新西兰)以及东南亚一些国家和地区的大学也都已承认托福考试成绩.除了在大学申请时的使用之外,近几年来,国内众多的海外组织驻华机构和外企及合资企业在招聘员工时,以及很多国际组织在测试其员工的英语水平时,也都经常采用托福考试的成绩作为评判标准.

除了帮助同学们满足申请国外大学的硬性要求,托福考试的准备过程本身也对大家提高自身的英语语言运用能力有着巨大的帮助.同学们如果能够认真准备托福考试,会发现自己对于英语这门语言的掌控能力,以及在学术环境下对它的使用能力,都会有长足的进步.而这些能力,正是同学们在国外大学里念书时所必备的能力.因此,无论是从满足录取要求,还是从提高自身语言能力角度来看,认真准备托福考试都会对同学们意义重大.



第二章 关于托福口语







1. 托福口语考试概况及题型介绍



老版的托福考试(PBT,CBT)中并没有测试口语能力的部分,也就导致了北美众多大学在通过托福成绩衡量申请人的英语能力时,无法了解他们的英语口语表达能力.然而口语能力对于海外学生在美国学术环境下的生存起着举足轻重的作用.于是在 2005 年 ETS 向全球正式推出新版的托福网考(IBT),即能够反映在北美大学教学和校园生活中对语言实际需求的新托福考试.新托福考试包含了专门对学生英语口语能力进行测评的口语部分,这对于从来没有包含过口语部分的托福考试来说,无疑是一个巨大的进步.在 2006 年的 9 月 15 日,新版托福网考正式在中国大陆开考,一直到现在.

在托福考试的口语部分中,考生需要在大约 20 分钟的时间内回答 6 个问题.考试主要测试的是学生在北美学术环境下的英语口语能力,题目会涉及到北美校园生活以及各类学术讲座.6 个题目中第 1,2 题是独立口语题,要求考生就某一话题阐述自己的观点,其中第 1 题是自由选择,第 2 题是二选一.在 1,2 题中,学生有 15 秒钟时间准备,45 秒作答.在这两个题目中,考生需要具备较强的口语表达能力.第 3,4 题是综合口语题,题目要求考生首先在 45 秒内阅读一段 100 单词左右长度的短文,随后短文消失,考生再听一段与短文有关的对话或课堂演讲,然后根据先前阅读的短文和播放的对话或演讲回答相关问题.其中第 3 题是校园场景题目,第 4 题是学术场景题目.在第 3,4 题中,考生有 30 秒钟时间准备,然后有 60 秒钟时间作答.第 5,6 题要求考生听一段校园场景对话或者课堂演讲,然后回答相关问题.其中第 5 题是校园场景题目,第 6 题是学术场景题目.考生有 20 秒钟时间准备,之后有 60 秒钟时间作答.在综合口语题中,除了口语能力,考生也需要具备较强的阅读,听力,以及综合多重信息的能力.需要注意的是,在托福口语考试过程中,考生可以在读阅读和听录音的过程中记笔记以帮助答题.在托福口语考试中,学生的英语发音,语法,流利程度,逻辑准确性等多重能力均得到了综合的考察.

下面的表格是 ETS 对于托福考试口语部分题型的官方介绍,它能够客观且清晰的反映出托福口语考试的结构:



Task Type 任务类型	Task Description 任务描述	Timing 时间限制			
Independent Tasks 独立任务					
Personal Prefenrence 个人偏好	This question asks the test taker to express and defend a personal choice from a given category, for example,important people,places,events,or activities that the test taker enjoys. 学生需要就一个日常生活中的常见话题发表自己的观点并加以解释.例如:重要的人,地点,事件或活动.	Preparation time 准备时间: 15 seconds Response time 答题时间: 45 seconds			
Choice 选择	This question asks the test taker to make and defend a personal choice between two contrasting behaviors or courses of action. 学生需要就某两个日常生活中出现的对立选项或者对立观点作出自己的选择并加以解释.	Preparation time 准备时间 : 15 seconds Response time 答题时间 : 45 seconds			
	Integrated Tasks (R/L/S) 综合任务 (读 / 听 / i	说)			
Campus Situation: Fit and Explain 校园场景: 联系观点并解释原因	A reading passage (75—100 words) presents a campus-related issue. A listening passage (60—80 seconds,150—180 words) comments on the issue in the reading passage. The question asks the test taker to summarize the speaker's opinion within the context of the reading passage. 阅读部分会陈述一个校园话题,听力部分会对阅读中的话题进行评论,考生需要概括听力中说话人对阅读中话题所持的观点和评论.	Preparation time 准备时间: 30 seconds Response time 答题时间: 60 seconds			
Academic Course: General/ Specific 学术课程 : 抽象 / 具体	A reading passage (75—100 words) broadly defines a term, process, or idea from an academic subject. An excerpt from a lecture (60-90 seconds,150—220 words) provides examples and specific information to illustrate the term, process, or idea from the reading passage. The question asks the test taker to combine and convey important information from the reading passage and the lecture excerpt. 阅读部分会广泛地定义一个学术术语,过程或思想,听力部分会就阅读中的概念给出具体事例或特定信息,考生需要结合阅读和听力中的重要信息.	Preparation time 准备时间: 30 seconds Response time 答题时间: 60 seconds			



	Integrated Tasks (L/S) 综合任务 (听 / 说)	
Campus Situation: Problem/ Solution 校园场景: 问题 / 解决方案	The listening passage (60—90 seconds, 180—220 words) is a conversation about a student-related problem and two possible solutions. The question asks the test taker to demonstrate an understanding of the problem and to express an opinion about solving the problem. 听力部分会涉及与学生有关的一个问题和两个解决问题的方案,考生需要总结听力部分内容并发表自己的观点.	Preparation time 准备时间 : 20 seconds Response time 答題时间 : 60 seconds
Academic Course: Summary 学术课程 : 摘要	The listening passage is an excerpt from a lecture (90—120 seconds, 230—280 words) that explains a term or concept and gives concrete examples to illustrate that term or concept. The question asks the test taker to summarize the lecture and demonstrate an understanding of the relationship between the examples and the overall topic. 听力部分会涉及一个术语或概念,并给出相应的例子,考生需要总结听力部分内容并解释主题与例子间的关系.	Preparation time 准备时间 : 20 seconds Response time 答题时间 : 60 seconds





2 托福口语考试评分标准



托福考试的口语部分采取网考的形式,学生需要面对电脑答题,所以在整个考试过程中 将不会出现任何的口头互动环节(这点与雅思考试的口语部分是完全不同的).因此,同学 们在参加托福口语部分的考试时,需要以独白的形式展现自己的英语口语能力.

你的托福口语答案将会被进行整体性评分.也就是说,评分人虽然会根据你在口语回答中所表现出的各种特点(例如语音,流利度,逻辑,语法等)来判断你的英语口语能力,但他们不会分项对你进行打分,并进行叠加得到总分,而是会根据你的整体表现为你给出一个综合分数.这给同学们带来的暗示便是如果你在某一个因素上较弱(例如发音不好),并不会对你的最后得分有很大的影响,如何展现出一种对于英语口语表达的整体把握,才是决定你托福口语分数的最重要因素.根据题目的不同,ETS会有评分标准上的细微改变,但总体来说,评分人会根据以下三个要素来为学生给分:

Delivery 表达: 你的口语答案是否足够清晰,是否足够流利,其中是否展现出了优秀的英语语音,自然的节奏以及语调.简言之,在 delivery 这一项评分标准中,同学们应当要关注的因素有三个: pronunciation 发音, intonation 语调,以及 flow 语流.

Language Use 语言使用:你是否能够有效地运用正确且恰当的词汇和基本的以及复杂的语法结构去表达你的观点.简言之,在 language use 这一项评分标准中,同学们应当关注的两个主要因素是 vocabulary 词汇以及 grammar 语法.

Topic Development 话题发展: 你是否能够全面地回答问题, 是否能够有逻辑地, 并且连贯地陈述你的观点, 是否能够有效地使用掉分配给你的答题时间, 是否能够有效且明确地表明观点与观点之间的各种逻辑关系.

托福口语评分人在打分时会在 0 到 4 分的范围内进行评分, 然后将全部 6 个题目所得分数的平均分按照分数换算表转换成 0 到 30 分, 这个分数将会是学生最后的托福考试口语部分得分.



由 ETS 公布的具体评分标准如下:

TOEFL iBT Speaking Scoring Rubric

Independent Tasks (Questions 1 and 2)

Score	General Description	Delivery	Language Use	Topic Development
4	The response fulfills the demands of the task, with at most minor lapses in completeness. It is highly intelligible and exhibits sustained, coherent discourse. A response at this level is char-acterized by all of the following:	Generally well-paced flow (fluid expression). Speech is clear. It may include minor lapses, or minor difficulties with pronunciation or intonation patterns, which do not affect intelligibility.	The response demonstrates effective use of grammar and vocabulary. It exhibits a fairly high degree of automaticity with good control of basic and complex structures (as appropriate), Some minor (or systemic) errors are noticeable but do not obscure meaning.	Response is sustained and sufficient to the task. It is generally well developed and coherent; relationships between ideas are clear (or clear progression of ideas).
3	The response addresses the task appropriately, but may fall short of being fully developed. It is generally intelligible and coherent, with some fluidity of expression though it exhibits some noticeable lapses in the expression of ideas. A response at this level is characterized by at least two of the following:	Speech is generally clear, with some fluidity of expression, though minor difficulties with pronunciation, intonation, or pacing are noticeable and may require listener effort at times (though overall intelligibility is not significantly affected).	The response demonstrates fairly automatic and effective use of grammar and vocabulary and fairly coherent expression of relevant ideas. Response may exhibit some imprecise or inaccurate use of vocabulary or grammatical structures used. This may affect overall fluency, but it does not seriously interfere with the communication of the message.	Response is mostly coherent and sustained and conveys relevant ideas/information. Overall development is somewhat limited, usually lacks elaboration or specificity. Relationships between ideas may at times not be immediately clear.



TOEFL iBT Speaking Scoring Rubric

Independent Tasks (Questions 1 and 2)

Score	General Description	Delivery	Language Use	Topic Development
2	The response addresses the task, but development of the topic is limited. It contains intelligible speech, although problems with delivery and/or overall coherence occur; meaning may be obscured in places. A response at this level is characterized by at least two of the following:	Speech is basically intelligible, though listener effort is needed because of unclear articulation, awkward intonation, or choppy rhythm/pace; meaning may be obscured in places.	The response demonstrates limited range and control of grammar and vocabulary. These limitations often prevent full expression of ideas. For the most part, only basic sentence structures are used successfully and spoken with fluidity. Structures and vocabulary may express mainly simple (short) and/or general propositions, with simple or unclear connections made among them (serial listing, conjunction, juxtaposition).	The response is connected to the task, though the number of ideas presented or the development of ideas is limited. Mostly basic ideas are expressed with limited elaboration (details and support). At times relevant substance may be vaguely expressed or repetitious. Connections of ideas may be unclear.
1	The response is very limited in content and/or coherence or is only minimally connected to the task, or speech is largely unintelligible. A response at this level is characterized by at least two of the following:	Consistent pronunciation, stress, and intonation difficulties cause considerable listener effort; delivery is choppy, fragmented, or telegraphic; frequent pauses and hesitations.	Range and control of grammar and vocabulary severely limit (or prevent) expression of ideas and connections among ideas. Some low-level responses may rely heavily on practiced or formulaic expressions.	Limited relevant content expressed. The response generally lacks substance beyond expression of very basic ideas. Speaker may be unable to sustain speech to complete task and may rely heavily on repetition

0 Speaker makes no attempt to respond OR response is unrelated to the topic.

of the prompt.



TOEFL iBT Speaking Scoring Rubric

Delivery

Integrated Tasks (Questions 3, 4, 5, and 6)

General Description

The response fulfills the demands of the task, with at most minor lapses in completeness. It is highly intelligible and exhibits sustained, coherent discourse. A response at this level is characterized by all of the following:

Speech is generally clear, fluid, and sustained. It may include minor lapses or minor difficulties with pronunciation or intonation. Pace may vary at times as speaker attempts to recall information.

Overall intelligibility

remains high.

The response demonstrates good control of basic and complex grammatical structures that allow for coherent. efficient (automatic) expression of relevant ideas. Contains generally effective word choice. Though some minor (or systematic) errors or imprecise use may be noticeable, they do not require listener effort (or obscure meaning).

Language Use

The response presents a clear progression of ideas and conveys the relevant information required by the task. It includes appropriate detail, though it may have minor errors or minor omissions.

Topic Development

3 The response addresses the task appropriately, but may fall short of being fully developed. It is generally intelligible and coherent, with some fluidity of expression, though it exhibits some noticeable lapses in the expression of ideas. A response at this level is characterized by at least two of the following:

Speech is generally clear, with some fluidity of expression, but it exhibits minor difficulties with pronunciation, intonation, or pacing and may require some listener effort at times. Overall intelligibility remains good, however.

The response demonstrates fairly automatic and effective use of grammar and vocabulary and fairly coherent expression of relevant ideas. Response may exhibit some imprecise or inaccurate use of vocabulary or grammatical structures or be somewhat limited in the range of structures used. Such limitations do not seriously interfere with the communication of the message.

The response is sustained and conveys relevant information required by the task. However, it exhibits some incompleteness, inaccuracy, lack of specificity with respect to content, or choppiness in the progression of ideas.



TOEFL iBT Speaking Scoring Rubric

Integrated Tasks (Questions 3, 4, 5, and 6)

Score	General Description	Delivery	Language Use	Topic Development
2	The response is connected to the task, though it may be missing some relevant information or contain inaccuracies. It contains some intelligible speech, but at times problems with intelligibility and/or overall coherence may obscure meaning. A response at this level is characterized by at least two of the following:	Speech is clear at times, though it exhibits problems with pronunciation, intonation, or pacing and so may require significant listener effort. Speech may not be sustained at a consistent level throughout. Problems with intelligibility may obscure meaning in places (but not throughout).	The response is limited in the range and control of vocabulary and grammar demonstrated (some complex structures may be used, but typically contain errors). This results in limited or inaccurate connections. Automaticity of expression may be evident only at the phrasal level.	The response conveys some relevant information but is clearly incomplete or inaccurate. It is incomplete if it omits key ideas, makes vague reference to key ideas, or demonstrates limited development of important information. An inaccurate response demonstrates misunderstanding of key ideas from the stimulus. Typically, ideas expressed may not be well connected or cohesive so that familiarity with the stimulus is necessary in order to follow what is being discussed.
1	The response is very limited in content or coherence or is only minimally connected to the task. Speech may be largely unintel-ligible. A response at this level is characterized by at least two of the following:	Consistent pronunciation and intonation problems cause considerable listener effort and frequently obscure meaning. Delivery is choppy, fragmented, or telegraphic. Speech contains frequent pauses and hesitations.	Range and control of grammar and vocabulary severely limit (or prevent) expression of ideas and connections among ideas. Some very low-level responses may rely on isolated words or short utterances to communicate ideas.	The response fails to provide much relevant content. Ideas that are expressed are often inaccurate, or limited to vague utterances or repetitions (including repetition of prompt).

Speaker makes no attempt to respond OR response is unrelated to the topic.



需要同学们注意的是,托福口语考试的评分人并不指望考生的答案是完美无缺的,即便是在托福口语考试中取得高分的考生,也或多或少可能犯下一些轻微的错误(无论是发音,语法,还是内容上的).因此同学们并不需要执着地追求完美,尽自己所能去展现英语口语能力才是在托福考试口语部分中拿到高分的最佳策略.





3 参加托福口语考试所需的八大能力



根据 ETS 对于托福考试口语部分的描述,它所考察的能力主要是学生在北美校园及学术环境下运用口语表达自己观点和总结客观信息的能力.学生必须同时具备在教室里以及教室外的英语口语技巧.在教室里,学生通常需要具备四种主要技巧:1.回应教授问题的技巧.2.和同学进行学术话题讨论的技巧.3.总结在课本中读到的以及教授讲课时听到的知识的技巧.4.就各种话题表达自己观点看法的技巧.在教室外,学生通常需要具备三种主要技巧:1.参与各种对话的技巧.2.表达自己观点看法的技巧.3.在书店,图书馆,住房办公室等地与工作人员交流的技巧.

为了具备以上提到的七种托福考试口语部分所看重的英语口语技巧,同学们必须在准备 托福口语时在以下几种英语能力上多下功夫:

语音 pronunciation:

语音是困扰大多数中国学生的一个老大难问题.在托福考试口语部分中,虽然语音并不是一个取得高分的决定性因素,但它的重要性是无庸置疑的.试想如果同学们能够在回答托福口语试题的时候向评分人展现出非常标准的英式或者美式发音,那必定能够为自己在托福口语考试中的表现锦上添花.当然,发音不是十分标准,甚至带有浓重口音的考生也不必太担心,只要你能够流利清楚地表达自己想表达的信息点,在托福口语考试中拿到高分也并不是一件难事.简言之,语音并不是一个决定性因素,但好的语音绝对是一个 bonus.因此,笔者建议同学们在为托福考试做早期准备的时候,注意养成良好的英语发音习惯,倘若不好的习惯已经养成,要尽力纠正.

语调和重音 intonation & stress:

对于绝大多数中国考生来说,语调和重音是比语音更加难解决的问题.同学们一定有过这种经历,听一个中国人说英语,并不能找出其在语音上的明显错误,貌似他讲出的每一个单词发音都十分标准,但是你仍然能够很快地辨别他是一个中国人.这是为什么呢?笔者认为,在中国学生中,存在很大一部分学生,他们的英语发音十分标准,但是却难以展现出欧美人在说话时语调和重音上的跌宕起伏以及轻重缓急.笔者认为,如果一个考生能够具备这



种能力,能够做到真正意义上的 native-like,这对于他的托福口语考试分数提高将会有很不小的帮助.关于语调和重音的学习,笔者认为最好的方法便是多接触英文的电影,电视剧,演讲等视频内容,从中去学习欧美人在讲英语时在语调和重音上的变化,并在自己讲英语的时候尽力模仿.

口语词汇及短语 spoken vocabulary & phrases:

中国考生从来不缺乏背诵英语单词和短语的能力,但纵观市面上发行的英语词汇书籍,大多以阅读和写作词汇居多,这也就造成了同学们在口语表达词汇和短语上的积累通常都不足. 托福考试的口语部分对于学生在口语词汇和短语运用上有较高的要求. 如果一个考生在参加托福口语考试的时候使用的词汇过于书面化,将会使其答案显得非常生硬,这无疑不利于考生在口语考试中获取高分. 笔者认为,中国考生尤其需要背诵记忆的是逻辑转换词(例如 because,nevertheless,furthermore 等)以及所谓的无实意插入语(例如 all I'm trying to say is…,to put it another way…等),笔者将会在本书的结尾部分对这部分内容进行补充和总结.

流利度/语流 flow/fluency:

在托福考试的口语部分中,学生回答问题时所展现出的流利度和语流,是评分人评价一个考生英语口语能力高低最重要的标准之一.因此,如何能够使自己在用英语回答托福口语试题的时候做到流利,是考生应该高度关注的问题.在讲一门并非自己母语的语言的时候,如何能够做到流利,如何能够有很好的语流,这是众多中国学生在提高英语口语时遇到的巨大困扰.笔者认为,要想有好的英语语流,最好的方法就是在平时多积累,多背诵英文的语段(例如名人的演讲,电影的台词等).如果同学们对一系列的英语语段做到高度地熟悉,那在碰到相应的主题时,便能够节省掉去思考单词,短语,语法结构的时间,从而大大地加快自己的反应速度,做到流利地说话.这也正是为什么国内外众多的英语教学专家都极力推崇学生在口语学习的过程中背诵大量的英语语段的原因(大量的学生背诵新概念英语的文章便是一个典型的例子).笔者认为,要想考好托福口语,同学们必须下功夫增加自己的英语语段储备,这不仅仅是对英语口语能力,甚至对学生的英语写作能力,都会有巨大的帮助.在本书的结尾部分,笔者将为大家提供一些在笔者自己学习英语口语过程中所使用到的非常有价值的书籍,影视作品,以及其他材料的列表,以供同学们参考.



语法 grammar:

语法在英语中的地位举足轻重,在托福考试口语部分中也不例外.一个人能够看懂或者使用英语句子去表达意思,他必须具备至少两种能力:词汇和语法.如果学生在语法能力上有巨大的缺陷,在托福口语中,他将遇到巨大的困难.虽然口语部分的考试并不像写作部分的考试那样,会要求学生进行大量的句型变换,但体现出在语言使用上的 diversity,同样是非常重要的.试想如果一个学生在说英语的时候永远都是使用主谓宾简单句,那他的英语口语能力很难获得评分人的青睐.相反地,如果学生能在说英语的时候也体现出其对于多种语法结构的应用自如,那评分人对他的态度必定会有巨大的改观.因为中国的英语教育一直以语法教学为核心,所以中国学生的语法能力总体来说还算不错,但仍然存在很大的进步空间.笔者认为,想要提高语法能力,除了了解基本的语法知识外,学生还需要进行大量的英语阅读,并学会积累里边的常用句型结构.

阅读和听力 reading & listening:

托福考试口语部分不同于其他很多口语考试的一点,便是在其中除了对考生英语口语能力的考察,也包含了对学生的英语阅读和听力能力的考察.以托福口语第3题为例,学生需要先阅读一段文章,然后听一段对话,最后再进行口语答题.如果学生的阅读和听力能力不过关,那他肯定无法有效的完成之后的口语应答.因篇幅有限,笔者就不在此讨论提高阅读能力和听力能力的方法了,但希望同学们一定注意,优秀的英语阅读和听力能力,对于同学们在托福考试口语部分中拿到高分,是万分重要的!

头脑风暴 brainstorming:

如何在进行托福口语考试时快速地获取观点(这点主要针对托福口语第 1,2 题,在这两个题目中,考生需要给出自己的观点),这是很多中国学生非常关心的问题.在很多场合下,学生并不是不知道 how to say it in English,而是不知道 what to say.想不出观点,比不知道如何用英语表达,更加可怕.虽然很多同学认为自己缺乏观点,但笔者认为,大多数的托福口语第 1,2 题的题目,都与同学们的日常生活息息相关,所以大家在考试中无法快速获取观点,主要原因并不是因为对话题不熟悉,而是因为过度紧张.所以,在参加托福口语考试时,同学们要学会保持一个平和的心态,尽量减轻自己的心理压力,这样才能有更好的发挥.当然,为了使自己在回答问题时有话可说,同学们平时可以注意多读报刊杂志,多看新闻,积累更多的知识.当知识储备量足够大的时候,同学们一定会在答题时更加游刃有余.



笔记 note-taking:

在托福考试口语部分中,尤其是在第 3,4,5,6 题四个综合任务中,考生的笔记能力显得尤为重要.同学们都不是速记员,更不是英语速记员,所以大家不可能完整地记录下综合任务中阅读和听力段子中的所有内容.因此,如何把握阅读和听力段子中的重要信息,并用最有效的手段把它们记录下来,成为答好这几个题目的关键.笔者一直认为,每个考生都有自己最熟悉,也最擅长的笔记方法,没有哪一种笔记方法是适合所有考生的.对于个别学生来说,甚至不记笔记的效果比记笔记的效果更好.因此,笔者不想在这里大谈特谈笔记方法.但是,什么样的信息是重要信息,什么样的信息可以忽略,这是我们可以讨论的.笔者会在接下来的章节中为同学们详细讲解到底什么样的信息,才是重要的信息,才是同学们需要记录的信息.与此同时,为了使同学们在记笔记的时候能够节省时间,笔者在本书的末尾部分为大家提供了一些简单的笔记符号,希望对大家有所帮助.

以上笔者为同学们详细解释了在托福口语考试中获得高分所需要具备的8种非常重要的能力,希望同学们在日常的口语练习中,能够在这些方面多下功夫,从而让自己在参加托福口语考试的时候事半功倍.



第三章 托福口语解题技巧







1 任务一(独立):自由选择



托福考试口语部分中的第一题是一道独立口语题.之所以被称为独立题,是因为在这道题的考察中,考生并不需要具备较强的阅读和听力能力,题目的核心关注点将会是考生如何在较短的时间内,对于一个自由主题的话题发表自己的观点和见解,并举出相应的事例或细节.在托福口语第一题中,考生将在电脑屏幕上看到题目,也能听到题目,然后有15秒的时间准备,有45秒的时间作答.第一题对考生的意义非常重大,如果一个考生能够在第一题中做出相对较为满意的应答,将会对考生的心态有着巨大的稳定作用.反之,如果考生在第一题中的表现不好,有可能会对随后的考试造成较大的影响.因此,不论从何角度来说,第一题都是一道非常难,而且非常重要的题目.

1.1 题目类型

托福口语第一题主要被分为两种题型:自由选择和三选一.在其中,自由选择题目出现的概率远远超过了三选一题目.下面我们就来看看两种题型的具体例子.

自由选择:

山

Choose a place you go to often that is important to you and explain why it is important. Please include details in your explanation.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

Talk about the person you respect most and explain why you respect him or her. Use details and examples in your response.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

Ы



If you were given the opportunity to learn a new skill, what would you learn? Explain your choice with details and examples.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds



小贴士:在托福口语考试中,自由选择类题目的主题多种多样,但大多数题目(不是所有题目)通常会被集中到以下四个领域:

Person:

Eg. Talk about the teacher from whom you learned the most and explain what you have learned from him or her. Use details and examples in your response.

Eg. What kinds of characteristics do you think make someone a good neighbor? Explain why these characteristics are important.

Place.

Eg. Describe your favorite area in your school and explain why you enjoy spending time there. Please include details in your explanation.

Eg. If you had a chance to visit a foreign country, which country would you go to? Explain why you want to visit that country with details.

Object:

Eg. Talk about a book you really enjoy reading and explain why you love the book. Please include details in your response.

Eg. Talk about your favorite movie and explain what you have learned from it. Please include details or examples in your answer.



Event/Activity:

Eg. Talk about a holiday that you often celebrate in your country and explain why people love celebrating it. Use details and examples in your response.

Eg. Describe a personal experience in which you learned an important lesson? Explain what that lesson is with details.

三选一:

Ф

Which of the following careers do you think is most important to society? Doctor, farmer, or teacher. Choose one of the careers and explain why you think it is most important to society.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

Which of the following way of transportation do you like most when travelling? Airplane, train, or automobile. Choose one of the ways of transportation and explain why you like to travel this way.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

需要同学们注意的是,虽然三选一的题目在以前的托福考试中出现次数非常有限,但是在近两年的托福考试中它出现的次数越来越多,因此大家千万不能掉以轻心,一定要在平时练习的时候做好充分的准备.

1.2 解题技巧

1. 拿到题目后快速读题,不用理会电脑读题. 在考生在屏幕上看到题目的同时,电脑会朗读题目,这一部分朗读内容,学生是可以完全不理会的,因为我们的眼睛肯定是比耳朵快的,如果能够很快的阅读完题目,可以为我们争取至少4-5秒的时间,这对于本身只有15秒钟时间准备的托福口语第一题,是十分宝贵的.请同学们务必要利用好这一点抢来的时间.



- 2. 读完题后, 马上开始在脑海中进行搜索, 快速获取第一套答题方案, 这也就是你最终的答题方案. 其实这就是一个头脑风暴的过程. 因为准备时间太短, 学生在做托福口语第一题是, 没有办法去发展出多套答题方案, 并从中挑选, 能最快想到的, 就是最好的. 就算观点并非十分成熟, 只要考生的回答能够流利清楚, 也是可以获取高分的. 托福口语的独立任务, 与其说是考察学生的口语能力, 不如说是考察学生的反应能力. 因此, 同学们在准备时千万不要纠结于观点的质量, 如何最快地做好应答的准备, 是最重要的. 当然, 这种能力在平时也是可以训练的, 主要的方法还是通过大量的练习机经以及相关的话题, 当考生对于众多话题都有一定的熟悉程度的时候, 搜索观点的过程就会简单而且迅速得多.
- 3. 考生答题时给出的 response, 应当有清晰的结构, 而不能杂乱无章地进行作答. 笔者在这里推荐的结构叫做 TSE 结构. 与众多培训机构的老师提出的 TSE 结构 (Topic Sentence Supporting Details Ending) 不一样的是, 笔者推荐的结构是 (Topic Sentence Supporting Sentence Example/details). 下面我们就从笔者对一个例题的剖析来看看这种结构到底应该怎样运用:

Talk about a person you admire a lot and explain why you admire him or her. Use details and examples in your response.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds Response Time: 45 Seconds

Topic Sentence 主題句: Allen Iverson, the NBA superstar, is definitely one of the people for whom I have a huge admiration.

主题句的目的是正面回答问题,这是在托福口语第一题中非常重要的一个部分.在进行深入的解释之前,考生必须非常直接的给出自己对于题目的答案.比如此题,题目中明确要求考生谈谈一个自己崇拜欣赏的人,在考生回答时,第一句话就必须清楚直白地说出这个人到底是谁.在例题中,笔者直接说出了 NBA 球星艾弗森是他最崇拜的人之一.

Supporting Sentence 支持句: I admire him a lot because he is such a hard-working guy that you would feel like there's nothing he cannot do.



支持句的主要目的在于正面解释你选择这个答案的原因,这个环节在托福口语第一题中也是必不可少的.既然考生做出了一个选择,就必须要给出他做这个选择的原因.例如在此题中,既然艾弗森是笔者最为欣赏崇拜的人之一,那究竟是什么原因让笔者如此欣赏他,崇拜他呢?笔者给出了很直接的答案,因为艾弗森是一个非常勤奋的球员.

Example/details 例子/细节: Once I watched an interview of his coach in high school on NBC. He said that Allen was just super diligent. He was always the first person that arrived for the training, and always the last one to leave. He usually stayed for another 2 hours after all his teammates left for dinner. So it's definitely his hard work that made him one of the most phenomenal players in the league.

例子/细节对于托福口语的独立任务来说,是极其重要的.它的作用主要体现在三个方面:第一,它为前边的主题句和支持句提供了强烈的支持.第二,它让考生的整个答案变得更加生动有趣.ETS 的其中一个语言偏好便是和讲道理比起来,他们更愿意听故事.第三,因为例子/细节具有很强的伸缩性,所以它能在时间控制上为考生提供巨大的帮助.如果考生发现自己可能讲不满要求的时间,那他可以在例子中加入更多细节,以延长自己的答题时间.如果考生发现自己可能没办法在规定时间内答完题目,那也可以通过简化或者删去例子中的细节,从而压缩自己的答题时间.在此题中,笔者引用艾弗森的高中教练在一次访谈中讲述的故事作为例子,不仅让整个回答充满了趣味,与此同时也大大地增加了笔者观点的说服力.笔者认为,例子/细节在托福口语独立任务中的作用非常之大,所以请考生务必掌握讲述例子的技巧.考生需要注意的是,例子的优势不仅体现在口语独立任务中,在写作独立任务中也一样能够得到体现.当然,对于部分题目,考生会发现无法举出有效的例子,在这种情况下,给出足够多的细节,也是可以达到类似的效果的.通常来说,在这三个部分的时间分配上,前两部分会占到10-15 秒,第三个部分会占到25-30 秒.

如果我们将以上三个部分的回答放在一起,我们就能够得到一个非常完整,而且优秀的答案,如下:

Allen Iverson, the NBA superstar, is definitely one of the people for whom I have a huge admiration. I admire him a lot because he is such a hard-working guy that you would feel like there's nothing he cannot do. Once I watched an interview of his coach in high school on NBC. He said that Allen was just super diligent. He



was always the first person that arrived for the training, and always the last one to leave. He usually stayed for another 2 hours after all his teammates left for dinner. So it's definitely his hard work that made him one of the most phenomenal players in the league.

- 4. 在答案的开头可以加上 hedge. 根据英英词典上的解释 ,hedge 的意思是 a word or phrase used to allow for additional possibilities or to avoid overprecise commitment. 也就是我们中文里常说的让步词或让步短语(它们可以提供更多的可能性 ,同时也避免了过于唐突的答案). 加上这一类的表达之后 , 考生的答案会显得更加的成熟 , 更像是经过深思熟虑之后的答案 . 例如 ,题目问考生: Talk about your favorite movie. 考生的回答可以是: Well, I've seen hundreds of movies, some of which are truly great, but speaking of my favorite, it's definitely going to be Titanic. 下划线的部分 ,便是笔者这里所说的hedge. 当然 ,hedge 并不是一个必须出现的部分 , 所以考生可以在作答的时候酌情考虑 .
- 5. 结尾是可有可无的. 同学们在看到上边的回答的时候,可能会奇怪为什么它没有一个清晰的结尾. 在笔者看来,结尾句在托福口语独立任务中,并不是一个不可或缺的部分. 当然,如果考生加上结尾句,也并不会带来什么负面效应. 考生可以根据答题时间灵活掌握. 需要同学们注意的是,在回答结尾时应尽量避免说出像 That's all. 或者是 Thank you. 之类的表达.
- 6. 支持点最好只给一个,最多只给两个.很多托福口语教师在教学时都会告诉学生,托福口语独立任务中,至少需要两个支持点.拿上面的题为例,如果说了崇拜艾弗森,那至少需要给出两个崇拜他的原因(例如除了他勤奋,他还具有领袖气质等).在笔者看来,这是没有任何依据的说法.与其慌慌张张地在45秒钟内说两个观点,还不如讲好一个观点,然后给出具体的例子去 fully develop 这个观点.当然,对于个别题目,如果考生有两个都非常强的观点,或者是考生发现只讲一个观点可能没法用完答题时间,那使用两个观点的答法也是可以接受的.需要同学们注意的是,尽量避免出现三个及以上观点.试想一下,如果我们去头去尾,真正讲述观点和例子的时间只有大概30-35秒的时间,如果你有超过3个观点,就算我们假设你英语十分流利,那每个观点也只能讲出一两句话,这是根本无法深入的.结果很可能是你在给出一个观点的列表,这也正是评分人最不喜欢看到的答题方法.
- 7. 使用你熟悉的单词,短语,和句型.在托福口语的独立任务中,同学们要尽可能的使用自己平时熟悉的表达,这样可以大大地减低作答时的焦虑度.如果尝试用高难度的表达,



或者新的表达,一方面考生需要花时间去思考,另一方面考生不见得能掌握那些表达的准确意思,所以可能造成句意上的偏差.因此,最稳当的方法,无疑是使用那些自己已经很熟悉的表达方式.如果考生希望能够让自己的语言更加出彩,大可以在平时练习的时候努力积累和使用,但绝不是在考试的时候.

- 8. 轻微的无组织和偏题是不会对分数造成影响的.ETS 非常明白考生在用非自己母语的语言进行口语作答时候的难度,很多题目就算是让母语是英语的人士作答,也会有巨大的困难.因此,即便是考生在回答托福口语独立任务的过程中出现了轻微的无组织disorganization和偏题 deviation,只要他能够保持整个答案的完整和流利(例如通过在答案结束时进行点题),也能拿到高分.
- 9. 笔记并不是必须的. 很多老师会建议学生在读完题目之后在草稿纸上写下诸如信号词一类的东西去提醒自己. 这样的方法当然没有问题, 但对于个别短时记忆能力非常强的考生来说, 笔记并不是必须的. 只要你确信能记清楚自己的观点, 你并不需要花时间把它写到纸上. 大家要明白一点, 笔记是用来帮助我们作答的, 倘若记笔记已经成为一个负担, 影响你的答题, 那还不如不记. 考生需要注意的是, 千万不要指望能在草稿纸上写出整个回答. 第一, 你不可能有足够的时间. 第二, 评分人需要知道的是你说话的能力, 不是朗读文章的能力. 尽可能的避免给 ETS 一种你已经将答案 rehearse 了很多次的印象, 过度熟练反而会影响你的分数.
- 10. 掌握好答题时间. 托福口语独立任务的答题时间只有 45 秒钟, 考生务必要控制好自己的答案长度. 笔者认为, 考生的答案如果能够控制在 42 秒到 45 秒之间, 便不会有任何的问题. 反之, 如果不足 42 秒, 或者在 45 秒之内没有说完, 那将会对分数造成一定的影响. 很多同学曾经问笔者, 如果已经讲了 35-40 秒钟, 但还有一个观点, 那是应该继续讲(但是肯定 45 秒内讲不完), 还是直接放弃那个观点, 开始收尾呢. 笔者认为, 虽然这两种情况我们都不愿意看到, 但如果确实发生了, 那宁肯直接收尾, 也不要出现没办法在 45 秒内结束回答的状况, 尽量保持答案的完整性. 同学们可以通过自己平时大量的练习去提高自己对于时间的敏感度, 与此同时, 在考试的时候通过自己对于语速的调整 (pace yourself) 去控制时间, 也是非常有效的办法.
- 11. 考生在回答问题的时候,应当尽量保持语言上的自然,谨慎使用所谓的模板(这里笔者所谓的模板,是指一些固定的答题句型). 笔者曾经认识一个在美国高中交换了一年的学生,回国后第一次参加托福考试,没有经过任何准备,口语部分得到了25分. 随后,他参



加了一系列培训班,大量的采用了某些老师所谓的高分模板进行练习.之后几次的托福考试,他口语部分的单项分数,再也没有超越过 25 分.从中我们可以看到一个问题,ETS 并不喜欢学生使用模板,而是希望学生用自己的方式,自然的方式,去展现自己的语言能力.笔者一直认为,模板答题法虽然能够帮助一些低水平考生开口,以及整理思路,但是对于真正想拿到 25 分以上高分的考生,不仅没有帮助,反而会造成负面影响.还是拿上边的题目举例,试想一下,如果每一个考生的开头,都是 Well, in my personal opinion, the person I admire most is XXX because of the following two reasons. On the one hand, …. On the other hand, ….那评分人一定会觉得非常头疼.托福口语是一个考察学生用英语进行口语沟通交流能力的考试,一个真正善于沟通,善于交流的人,是不会在回答别人问题的时候采用模板的.笔者一直认为,真正的高手,是无招胜有招的,最自然地表达自己的观点(包括说话时带有正常的停顿,口水话等),才是最有效的回答.当然,针对部分基础较差的同学来说,模板还是具有一定的参考价值,但就算是要使用模板,也应当使用自己精心准备的,属于自己的模板,而不是那些已经被大众用滥了的版本.

1.3 例题及参考答案

可

If you were going to take a trip alone, what would you take with you? Please include details in your response.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

Sample Answer: If I'm traveling myself, I guess I'll take a lot of items with me, among which my iPad is a must. You know, it's always pretty boring when you travel alone, especially when you're on a plane or train. With iPad, I can do a lot of things to kill that kind of boring time. For example, I can chat with my friends through MSN or Facetime, play video games, watch movies, etc. I still have a very clear memory of my trip to Australia; it's the iPad that got me through the tedious 10-hour flight. I can't even imagine how bored I would be if I had to sit in the cabin doing nothing for such a long period of time.





2 任务二(独立):二选一



托福考试口语部分中的第二题也是一道独立口语题.在此题中,考生同样只需要具备较强的口语能力,即可顺利答题.它与托福口语第一题最大的区别便是在第一题中,考生会就一个自由主题发表自己的看法,然而在此题中,题目中已经给出两个对立选择,因此考生只需要在两个选择中找到一个自己偏好的,然后在加以解释和说明,并举出相应的事例或细节.在托福口语第二题中,考生将在电脑屏幕上看到题目,也能听到题目,然后有15秒的时间准备,有45秒的时间作答.在笔者看来,托福口语第二题在难度上稍低于第一题(因为考生不需要自己想出一个选择),因此,考生应当尽力做好此题,给独立部分的考试划上一个完整的句号.

2.1 题目类型

托福口语第二题主要被分为两种题型:二选一和同意或反对.在其中,二选一题目出现的次数略微超过了同意或反对题目.下面我们就来看看两种题型的具体例子.

二选一:

Some people like to work for themselves. Some people like to work for other people as employees. Which do you think is better for you, and why? Please include details and examples in your explanation.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds



Some people think knowledge learned from school is more important for success. Others think knowledge gained from work experience is more important. Which opinion do you agree with, and why? Please include details and examples in your explanation.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

Some people like to travel alone. Others like to travel with lots of friends. Which way of traveling do you prefer, and why? Please include details in your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

同意或反对:

덱

Do you agree or disagree with the following statement? "Cell phones have greatly improved people's lives."

Use details and examples to explain your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds Response Time: 45 Seconds

Do you agree or disagree with the following statement?

"A boss should keep a certain distance from his or her own employees."

Use details and examples to explain your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds



bo you agree or disagree with the following statement?

"If you really want to know a place, it is better for you to visit there in person than read about it in books."

Use details and examples to explain your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

2.2 解题技巧

因为托福口语第二题和第一题均为独立任务,此两题之间具有高度的相似性,在解题技巧上也有很多的共通之处.因此,在下面笔者就不再赘述已经在第一题的解题技巧中提到的信息(同学们如有需要,请自行查阅第一题解题技巧部分),而是介绍一些专属于第二题的解题技巧.

- 1. 考生在回答托福口语第二题的时候,如果能够在两个选择(或者同意或反对)之间做出明确的选择,那就这样去做吧. 笔者相信,在这种选择类的题目中,ETS 更愿意听到同学们直接地做出自己的选择,而不是在两个选择之间游离不定. 与此同时,如果学生想要使用平衡观点,在答题的时候也会遇到更多的困难. 例如,考生需要考虑问题的两面,所以会增加思考时间;考生需要回答问题的两面,所以会增加答题时间. 在只有 15 秒准备时间,45 秒答题时间的托福口语第二题里边,时间是非常有限的,如果考生考虑过于细致,没有充分的时间去准备和答题,那就得不偿失了. 因此,笔者认为最好的策略,便是选择其中一边,然后加以解释. 当然,在个别情况下,如果考生认为只答一边没有办法讲满时间,或者有把握能够逻辑清晰地答完两边,那选择平衡观点也是未尝不可的. 要记住,没有任何一种答题方式是万能的,考生可以根据临场情况随机应变.
- 2. 同学们在做选择时,并不一定非要选择你自己赞同的那一个观点,而应当去选择一个你认为比较好回答的观点.哪一边你能讲得更流利,更清楚,更有逻辑,那就勇敢的选它吧.除此之外,同学们也需要知道,ETS的评分人不会因为你的选择和他的选择不一样,而在分数上对你进行惩罚,因为这是有违公正的.



3. 在托福口语第二题的回答中,考生也可以使用笔者在第一题中所推荐的 TSE 结构 (Topic Sentence — Supporting Sentence — Example/Details). 下面我们就从笔者对一个例题的剖析来看看这种结构在托福口语第二题中到底应该怎样运用:

Some people like to have dinner in a restaurant. Others like to cook dinner for themselves. Which do you think is better, and why? Please use details and examples to explain your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

Topic Sentence 主题句: I have a pretty hectic life, so I guess having dinner in a restaurant is definitely a better choice for me.

主题句中,笔者用了很轻松的开头方式 "I have a pretty hectic life." 作为一个 ice-breaker. 然后很快地正面做出了选择 — 我认为在餐馆里吃晚饭对我来说绝对是一个更好的选择.

Supporting Sentence \bar{z} 50 know, the problem is that I really don't have that much time to cook for myself.

支持句中,笔者正面且简单的解释了自己为什么不愿意自己做晚餐,而是去餐馆的原因 一因为他真的没有足够的时间.

Example/details 例子 / 细节: I can show you why it's a mission impossible. I got off work every day probably some time between 7 and 8. If I want to have dinner at home, I'm going to have to spend 1 hour buying food materials in the grocery store, and probably another 1 hour cooking — I'm a terrible cook, by the way. So when I'm done cooking, it's around 10. I seriously doubt that I still want to eat, not just go to bed or something.



笔者在这里并没有使用诸如"for example"或者 "for instance"之类的举例表达,但是同学们如果仔细看完这个部分,你会发现笔者其实以自己的生活为例子,讲述了为什么不愿意自己做晚餐的原因.值得提到的是,笔者给出的例子中,充满了细节,甚至出现了具体的时间,这样无疑大大增加了答案的可信性.与此同时,笔者也恰当地使用了一些小幽默,例如 "I'materrible cook, by the way".这样的句子是可以让评分人会心一笑的.同学们可能会注意到,在笔者的答案中,出现了一些口语化的表达,例如 "you know"和 "or something",这样的地道口语化表达在托福口语考试里边,是完全被接受的,甚至会为你的口语加分.

如果我们将以上三个部分的回答放在一起,我们就能够得到一个非常完整,而且优秀的答案,如下:

I have a pretty hectic life, so I guess having dinner in a restaurant is definitely a better choice for me. You know, the problem is that I really don't have that much time to cook for myself. I can show you why it's a mission impossible. I got off work every day probably some time between 7 and 8. If I want to have dinner at home, I'm going to have to spend 1 hour buying food materials in the grocery store, and probably another 1 hour cooking — I'm a terrible cook, by the way. So when I'm done cooking, it's around 10. I seriously doubt that I still want to eat, not just go to bed or something.

2.3 例题及参考答案

Do you agree or disagree with the following statement?
"It is always better to have more than one leader in a group."
Use details and examples to explain your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds



Sample Answer: Admittedly, more people can contribute more ideas, but I don't think having multiple leaders in a group always helps us work better. In many cases, this is quite a deficiency because it seriously slows down the decision-making process. Let me give you an example. When I was in high school, I worked in the student union, and we have like 5 or 6 people who all believed they were in charge. Once we were trying to find a venue for a prom. People all seemed to have their own preferences and just didn't want to make any concession. It took us 3 hours, yeah, 3 hours to reach a consensus. If there had been only one boss, we could have gotten a final plan much more quickly.





3 任务三(综合): 校园声明 / 观点和原因



托福考试口语部分中的第三题是托福口语六道题里边出现的第一道综合口语题.所谓的综合口语题,意思是在此题中,考生不但需要具备较强的口语能力,同时也需要具备较强的阅读和/或听力的能力.综合任务中的第三题是 R/L/S 题目,也就是说,考生将会在此题中同时遇到阅读和听力的内容.在第三题中,考生将会用 45 到 50 秒的时间先阅读一个关于校园话题的短文,然后再听一个 60 到 90 秒的学生对话,其中两个学生会对阅读里的主题进行讨论和评价.随后,考生需要在阅读话题的背景下总结听力的内容.在托福口语第三题中,考生答题时有 30 秒的时间准备,60 秒的时间作答.这是一道校园场景的题目,在对于考生词汇和逻辑上的要求会稍稍偏低(相对于学术场景的题目来说),因此,考生应当好好把握住对本题的回答,从而为综合任务部分的考试取得一个良好的开端.

3.1 题型介绍

托福口语第三题是一个校园场景的题目,因此其中的主题均与校园话题相关,例如寝室,食堂,实验室,健身房,学费,课程设置,交通设施等等.国际学生所不了解的话题(例如兄弟会,姐妹会等)和敏感话题(例如约会,毒品,性等)均不会出现.下面我们就来看看一个具体例子.

首先,考生会有45秒的时间去阅读一个75-100字的短文(如果字数在100-110之间,学生将有50秒钟阅读).短文的内容多种多样,但在绝大多数情况下,都是以下两种.第一种是学校要颁布一个声明,可能是需要改变某种政策.第二种是一个学生给学校或学校领导写的一封信,建议学校做某一个改变.下面便是一个例子:

可



Reading Time: 45 Seconds

New Sports Complex

The university president announced last week that the school was planning to spend \$3 million to build a new sports complex, with the hope that a new sports complex would help the university attract more excellent students. The president also said that, if there was a new sports complex, the university could strengthen its relationship with the local community since there would be sufficient space to seat more people, not only students, parents, and alumni, but also members of the local community.

然后,考生会听一个60到90秒的学生对话,其中两个学生会就阅读中的问题发表自己的看法,并给出相应的原因.下面便是一个对话的例子:

Now listen to two students discussing the article.





Male: So what is your opinion on the university's new plan?

Female: Well! I don't know. I actually don't think it's gonna work.

Male: Really?

Female: I mean I do not think top students would care a lot about a sports complex when there are obviously other conditions on this campus that need to be improved.

Male: What exactly do you mean?

Female: Like the science laboratories not having cutting-edge equipment, and the library needing many more books, and the cafeteria being so crowded...I think that the 3 million could be spent in better places if the school really wants to get more good students to come.

Male: Fair enough, but what about the other reason? I mean having more contact with the local community.

Female: Yeah, still not gonna work. Look, people in the local community hardly ever come to those sports games because our teams lose all the time and they are not going to start winning tomorrow. Moreover, even if there are more seats, it won't make any difference. If they didn't come before, they won't come now just because there's a brand new sports complex.

听完对话之后, 考生需要按照题目要求作答(准备时间 30 秒, 答题时间 60 秒). 下面便是一个题目要求的例子:

фГ



The woman expresses her opinion about the university's plan. State her opinion and explain the reasons she gives for holding that opinion.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds Response Time: 60 Seconds

3.2 解题技巧

笔者一直认为,在托福考试口语部分的综合任务中,只要考生能够将自己的意思表达清楚,无论他使用什么类型的词汇句型,有什么样的语言风格,都没有问题.重要的是,考生在答题时,必须给出 ETS 想要的信息点,也就是所谓的 key points.在托福口语的四个综合任务中,如何找到 key points,都是十分关键的.因此,笔者推崇一种按照信息点来回答问题的答题方法,我们可以叫它 "信息点式答题法".在托福口语第三题中,有六个信息点,是考生必须抓住的.下面笔者会对于这六个信息点做出详细阐述,并以上边提到的题目为例,告诉考生如何将信息点整合到一个60秒的答案中去.

首先,在托福口语第三题的阅读部分里边,会出现三个非常重要的信息点,分别是一个主题,和它的两个方面(此处的两个方面可能是两个原因,两个结果,两个影响,等等).下边我们以最常见的考察模式,也就是两个原因模式,来举例告诉同学们如何获取信息点.如果我们用非常简单的语言去描述这三个非常重要的信息点,便是:

- 1. 学校计划做什么
- 2. 学校计划做这件事的第一个原因
- 3. 学校计划做这件事的第二个原因



下面便是阅读部分,请同学们尝试着找出这三个重要信息点:

Ф

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

New Sports Complex

The university president announced last week that the school was planning to spend \$3 million to build a new sports complex, with the hope that a new sports complex would help the university attract more excellent students. The president also said that, if there was a new sports complex, the university could strengthen its relationship with the local community since there would be sufficient space to seat more people, not only students, parents, and alumni, but also members of the local community.

如果同学们刨除阅读部分里的次要信息(即细节信息,例如\$3 million, parents, alumni等),相信大家不难看出,阅读文章里边的三个关键信息点就是:

- 1. The university plans to build a new sports complex.
- $\hbox{2.Because the university wants to attract more excellent students}.$
- 3.Because the university wants to strengthen its relationship with the local community.

如果同学们能在阅读部分里边抽取出以上的三个关键信息点,那你对于阅读部分的理解就是完整的.在三个关键信息点之外的信息,都是背景信息或者补充说明信息,它们都不是考生需要去担心的部分.笔者说过,在托福口语第三题中,有六个信息点很重要,既然阅读部分已经出现了三个,那剩下的三个必然就出现在听力部分中了.那听力部分的三个重要信息点分别是什么呢?它们分别是:



- 1. 学生是同意 / 反对学校的计划
- 2. 学生同意 / 反对学校计划的第一个原因
- 3. 学生同意 / 反对学校计划的第二个原因

下面同学们来找找,听力部分中的三个关键信息点是什么.以下是听力部分:

Now listen to two students discussing the article.

Male: So what is your opinion on the university's new plan?

Female: Well! I don't know. I actually don't think it's gonna work.

Male: Really?

Female: I mean I do not think top students would care a lot about a sports complex when there are obviously other conditions on this campus that need to be improved.

Male: What exactly do you mean?

Female: Like the science laboratories not having cutting-edge equipment, and the library needing many more books, and the cafeteria being so crowded...I think that the 3 million could be spent in better places if the school really wants to get more good students to come.

Male: Fair enough, but what about the other reason? I mean having more contact with the local community.

Female: Yeah, still not gonna work. Look, people in the local community hardly ever come to those sports games because our teams lose all the time and they are



not going to start winning tomorrow. Moreover, even if there are more seats, it won't make any difference. If they didn't come before, they won't come now just because there's a brand new sports complex.

相信同学们不难找出,听力部分的三个关键信息点分别是:

- 1. The female student disagrees with the university's plan.
- 2. She believes excellent students won't care too much about the new sports complex; rather, the money could be spent in better places such as science laboratories, cafeteria, and library.
- 3. She believes a new sports complex won't help attract people from local community to come to watch games because the reason why they didn't come is that their teams always lose, not that the place was too old and small.

如果考生能够成功地捕获听力中的这三个信息点,那加上阅读中的三个信息点,我们就有了对于阅读听力两个部分非常充分的信息.六个信息点如下:

- 1. The university plans to build a new sports complex.
- 2.Because the university wants to attract more excellent students.
- 3. Because the university wants to strengthen its relationship with the local community.
- 4. The female student disagrees with the university's plan.
- 5. She believes excellent students won't care too much about the new sports complex; rather, the money could be spent in better places such as science laboratories, cafeteria, and library.



6. She believes a new sports complex won't help attract people from local community to come to watch games because the reason why they didn't come is that their teams always lose, not that the place was too old and small.

至此,我们已经有了所有关键的信息点,如果考生直接重复这六个信息点,已经能获得非常不错的分数,但我们应当如何精益求精呢?怎样处理这六个点中的信息,才能串成一个托福口语第三题的完美答案呢?笔者认为,在我们一起给出这个完美答案之前,同学们需要注意以下几点:

- 1. 托福口语第三题是一个综合任务. 既然是"综合"任务, 那说明 ETS 希望考生们去"综合"阅读部分和听力部分的信息, 而不是简单地把两个部分完全分开处理. 因此, 以前一些所谓的专家提出的"In the reading materials, …. In the listening material, …."这样的答题方法, 在笔者看来, 是非常不合理的. 倘若考生以这样的方式答题, 那他们根本没有做任何的"综合"工作. 因此, 我们应当避免使用这样的语言.
- 2. 在托福口语的综合任务中, 乃至托福写作的综合任务中, 只要阅读部分和听力部分同时出现, 考生都应当把答题的重心放在听力部分上, 而不是阅读部分上. 因此, 在答题过程中, 考生在讲述听力部分内容上所花的时间, 是远远超过在阅读内容上所花时间的.
- 3. 在听力对话中,会有一个主要说话者(负责表明观点),以及一个次要说话者(负责引出观点). 考生需要抓住的重要信息点,均会由前者给出. 因此,考生需快速辨别前者,然后排除后者对获取信息点所造成的干扰(例如记笔记时可以只记主要说话人的那部分内容).
- 4. 听力部分的后两个信息点一般是跟阅读部分的后两个信息点相关的, 考生应当注意去建立这种相关性.
- 5. 考生在托福口语综合任务的答题过程中(第五题除外), 不能掺入任何的个人观点, 所有的回答均需要以阅读和听力部分的内容为基础.
- 6. 如果考生的目的是获得 27 分以上的绝对高分, 那考生需要尽量使用自己的语言, 而非原文中的.



在明白这六点之后,相信同学们已经能够给出一个较为理想的答案.以下是笔者自己给出的参考答案:

The university is planning to spend a huge amount of money on building a new sports complex because they want to draw the attention from more high-level students. And also, they are really hoping to strengthen the tie between the university and the local community. But the woman thinks it's a terrible idea. She thinks that spending money in such places as the library and cafeteria, which top students obviously care more about, is a much better choice compared with wasting it on building sports complex. Besides, it's not going to help strengthen the relationship because people didn't come to games because they hated to watch the teams losing, not because there weren't enough seats.

3.3 例题及参考答案

맆

You will now read a short passage and then listen to a conversation on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Free Shuttle Service Elimination

The university made the decision to eliminate its free shuttle service. The reason for making this decision is that only very few students ride the shuttles and therefore they are costly to operate. In the past few years, the shuttles have run from the campus center past school buildings and through some of the neighborhoods outside the campus. The money saved by stopping this service will be used to enlarge the overcrowded campus parking lots.



Now listen to two students discussing the article.



Male: I don't like the school's plan.

Female: Why? I've taken those shuttles before, and sometimes they were completely empty. It did seem like kind of a waste.

Male: I get your point. But I believe the problem is that the route is badly designed. It only passes the neighborhoods that have gotten too expensive for students to live in. It's insane that they haven't already changed it—you know, so it goes where most off-campus students live now. If they did that they would get a large number students riding those shuttles.

Female: Well, at least we'll have more parking space. It's so hard to find a spot nowadays.

Male: That's not a good thing either. Imagine if there's more parking space, then more students will choose to drive to school. And that means more noise and traffic...and that's not something we want to see.

Female: OK, I guess you are right. Maybe it would be better if more students could take the shuttles.



Ф

The man expresses his opinion of the university's plan. State his opinion and explain the reasons he gives for holding that opinion.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

Sample Answer: The university plans to stop the shuttle service because it has come to people's attention that only few students ride them and they cost a lot. The money saved can be used to enlarge the size of the parking lot. The man doesn't like the plan. He thinks that the reason students aren't riding the shuttles is that they only go through those expensive neighborhoods where students don't live anymore. Also, He believes that building more parking space is a bad idea as it will increase noise and traffic on campus. That's not a good outcome.





4 任务四(综合): 学术概念 / 抽象到具体



托福考试口语部分中的第四题是托福口语六道题里边被广大考生认为难度最高的一道综合口语题.它也是一道 R/L/S 题目,但因为是学术场景的题目(不同于校园场景的第三题),考生在此题中遇到阅读和听力内容与第三题中的有巨大的差异.在第四题中,考生将会用45到50秒的时间先阅读一个关于某个学术概念的短文,然后再听一个60到90秒的课堂讲座,其中一个教授会对阅读里的概念进行更加具体的解释.随后,考生需要将阅读里的概念进行总结,并说出听力中具体内容与此概念的关系.在托福口语第四题中,考生答题时有30秒的时间准备,60秒的时间作答.因为本题的难度较高,很多考生在做此题的时候压力会比较大,笔者希望考生通过对以下部分的阅读,更加清楚的了解此题的考点,从而在考试的时候做到从容不迫.

4.1 题型介绍

托福口语第四题是一个学术场景的题目,因此其中的主题均与学术概念相关.概念可以来自众多不同领域,例如心理学,生物学,环境科学,人类学,考古学,经济学,商学,等等.同学们可以放心的是,此题中出现的所有学术概念,均是在美国高中或者大学一年级课本中出现的入门级知识.因此,就算考生对于某个领域不具备基本的知识背景,也完全不会影响到他对于此题目的回答.下面我们就来看看一个具体例子.

首先,考生会有45秒的时间去阅读一个75-100字的短文(如果字数在100-110之间,学生将有50秒钟阅读).短文中,会介绍一个学术概念(它通常会有一个很明确的名字,由1-3个单词组成),然后会提供这个学术概念的背景知识,定义,特点,及应用等相关信息.下面便是一个例子:



ᆈ

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Perceptual Constancy

How an object affects our senses depends in part on external conditions, and these conditions are always changing. An object viewed from one angle presents a different shape to our eyes than when viewed from another angle; similarly, as the distance from which we view an object changes, the object will appear larger or smaller. In spite of this, even as conditions change and we see objects differently, we still recognize that they remain the same. This is what is known as perceptual constancy. If not for perceptual constancy, we might have difficulty recognizing familiar objects if we viewed them in a new and different context.

然后,考生会听一个60到90秒的学术讲座,其中一个教授会为了解释阅读中相对抽象的概念而给出更加具体的例子或者是讲述这个抽象概念在现实生活中的具体应用.下面便是一个讲座的例子:

Now listen to part of a lecture on this topic in a psychology class.





Male: Let's take an everyday example — an ordinary round plate like you'd find in a kitchen. If you hold the plate directly in front of your face and look at it, what shape do you see? A perfect circle, right? Suppose you tilt the plate to a different angle, to a horizontal position, like you are planning to put food in it. Still a perfect circle? No. The circle is now stretched out, flattened into an oval. Do you conclude that the plate has actually changed shape, or that it's a different object? Of course not. It looks different, but we perceive it as still being the same.

Here is a different example. This classroom we are in, it's fairly large, right? Now, from up close, from the front row, I appear to be relatively big, bigger than if you were in the last row, right? But let's say you are sitting in a front row today, but tomorrow you are sitting in a back row. From back there I'm going to look smaller, but you don't think I've actually gotten smaller. You don't think you are seeing a different professor, a guy who looks like me except he is smaller. No matter where you are, up close or far away, you understand without even thinking about it that I am the same size, the same person.

听完讲座之后, 考生需要按照题目要求作答(准备时间 30 秒, 答题时间 60 秒). 下面便是一个题目要求的例子:

Explain what is meant by perceptual constancy, using the examples provided by the professor.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

ш



4.2 解题技巧

Ф

在托福口语第四题中,如果同学们仔细分析,其实一共涉及到了三个方面的内容:抽象的学术概念,具体的例子或应用,以及两者之间的关联.因此,笔者经过研究,认为最合理的答题方式,便是能够把这三者有机地结合起来的答题方式,也就是笔者所谓的 "三步式答题法".在托福口语第四题中,有三个步骤,是考生必须抓住的.下面笔者会对于这三个步骤做出详细阐述,并以上边提到的题目为例,告诉考生如何运用 "三步式答题法"去对付托福口语第四题.

首先,在托福口语第四题的阅读部分里边,会出现一个学术概念的背景知识,定义,特点,及应用等众多信息.那到底哪一层,或者哪几层信息是最重要的,是需要考生去掌握的呢? 笔者认为答案非常明显 — 最关键的信息,必定是此概念的定义.搞清楚标题上的这个专业术语到底是什么意思,才是考生在阅读部分里最重要的工作.下面笔者举例告诉同学们如何获取信息点抓取阅读里边概念的定义.

下面便是阅读部分,请同学们尝试着找出 Perceptual Constancy 的定义:

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Perceptual Constancy

How an object affects our senses depends in part on external conditions, and these conditions are always changing. An object viewed from one angle presents a different shape to our eyes than when viewed from another angle; similarly, as the distance from which we view an object changes, the object will appear larger or smaller. In spite of this, even as conditions change and we see objects differently, we still recognize that they remain the same. This is what is known as perceptual constancy. If not for perceptual constancy, we might have difficulty recognizing familiar objects if we viewed them in a new and different context.

如果同学们细细读完整个阅读,不难发现,perceptual constancy 的定义句,一定是 "This is what is known as perceptual constancy"的前边一句话,也即就是 "even as



conditions change and we see objects differently, we still recognize that they remain the same". 这里,让笔者告诉大家两个在寻找托福口语第四题阅读概念的定义时可以使用的小窍门:

- 1. 凡事看到诸如 "this is known as", "this is referred to as", "this is called", "people call this", "people refer to this as"等类似表达的时候,此表达的前边一句话,很可能便是阅读中概念的定义句.
- 2. 定义句(如果它存在)一般会在概念词的附近,通常会在前一句,后一句,或者概念词本身所在的那一句.

同学们需要注意的是,并不是在每一个托福口语第四题阅读中,都有现成的定义句.在个别时候,同学们需要自己去总结概念的定义.但无论哪种情况发生,只要同学们能够正确把握阅读中概念的定义,那你就掌握了关于阅读部分的足够信息.

那听力中同学们应当掌握什么信息呢?笔者认为,这个问题的答案非常简单 — 同学们需要做的,就是对讲座中的例子或者应用,做一个清楚的,简洁的摘要 summary 即可.下面同学们来看看听力部分的例子:

Now listen to part of a lecture on this topic in a psychology class.





Male: Let's take an everyday example — an ordinary round plate like you'd find in a kitchen. If you hold the plate directly in front of your face and look at it, what shape do you see? A perfect circle, right? Suppose you tilt the plate to a different angle, to a horizontal position, like you are planning to put food in it. Still a perfect circle? No. The circle is now stretched out, flattened into an oval. Do you conclude that the plate has actually changed shape, or that it's a different object? Of course not. It looks different, but we perceive it as still being the same.

Here is a different example. This classroom we are in, it's fairly large, right? Now, from up close, from the front row, I appear to be relatively big, bigger than if you were in the last row, right? But let's say you are sitting in a front row today, but tomorrow you are sitting in a back row. From back there I'm going to look smaller, but you don't think I've actually gotten smaller. You don't think you are seeing a different professor, a guy who looks like me except he is smaller. No matter where you are, up close or far away, you understand without even thinking about it that I am the same size, the same person.

相信同学们不难看出,教授在听力中举了 kitchen plate 和他自己两个例子,分别从角度不一样和距离不一样两个方面来说明了 perceptual constancy 这个概念. 笔者做了以下的总结:

The professor gives us two examples. In the first case, if you hold a kitchen plate right in front of your face, it's a perfect circle. But if you tilt it into a horizontal position, it becomes an oval. In the second example, if you sit in a front row in the classroom, the professor looks bigger, but if you sit in a back row, he will look much smaller.

如果考生能够成功地捕获听力中的这两个例子,那加上阅读中的概念定义,我们就完成了"三步式答题法"的前两步.那我们应该如何完成第三步呢?如何把阅读和听力的部分联系起来呢?笔者认为,最理想的方式,就是将阅读中的概念引入到对听力段子的总结中去,



或者在每一次讲完听力部分的例子时,都用一到两个句子稍稍展现一下这个例子是如何证明阅读中概念的,笔者下边写的这两句话就起到了这个作用:

- 1. So we can see that the shape of the plate changes, but because of the concept of perceptual constancy, we don't think we have two plates, do we?
- 2.Although the professor seems to have different sizes in the two situations, again, because of perceptual constancy, we know he's the same person.

在我们把第一步,第二步,以及第三步结合起来形成一个完美答案之前,笔者希望提醒同学们注意以下几点:

- 1. 和第三题一样, 托福口语第四题是一个综合任务. 既然是 "综合"任务, 那说明 ETS 希望考生们去 "综合"阅读部分和听力部分的信息, 而不是简单地把两个部分完全分开处理. 因此, 以前一些所谓的专家提出的 "In the reading materials, …. In the listening material, …."这样的答题方法, 在笔者看来, 是非常不合理的. 倘若考生以这样的方式答题, 那他们根本没有做任何的 "综合"工作. 因此, 我们应当避免使用这样的语言.
- 2. 在托福口语的综合任务中, 乃至托福写作的综合任务中, 只要阅读部分和听力部分同时出现, 考生都应当把答题的重心放在听力部分上, 而不是阅读部分上. 因此, 在答题过程中, 考生在讲述听力部分内容上所花的时间, 是远远超过在阅读内容上所花时间的. 与此同时, 考生应该不难看出, 当概念和例子同时出现的时候, 能把例子讲清楚, 往往是更重要的.
- 3. 考生在总结听力中例子或应用的时候,应当首先抓住核心信息(那些能够说明这个例子可以证明阅读中概念的语句). 如果考生听力能力较强,语速也较快,能够保证在 60 秒内说完,适当地增加次要信息(如一些小细节),也是可以的,而且这样还能向 ETS 表现自己极强的获取阅读和听力中信息的能力.
- 4. 如果听力部分的例子中出现专有名词(如植物名和动物名), 考生可以用诸如 "a kind of plant"和 "a kind of bird"之类的短语表达, 不会说专有名词不会造成扣分.
 - 5. 考生需要记下,并能说出阅读中概念的名字(不要求准确发音).



在明白这五点之后,相信同学们已经能够给出一个较为理想的答案.以下是笔者自己给出的参考答案:

The professor is talking about a psychological concept called perceptual constancy, which refers to the phenomenon that even as conditions change and we see objects differently, we still recognize that they remain the same. And he gives us two examples to illustrate this concept. In the first case, if you hold a kitchen plate right in front of your face, it's a perfect circle. But if you tilt it into a horizontal position, it becomes an oval. So we can see that the shape of the plate changes, but because of the concept of perceptual constancy, we don't think we have two plates, do we? In the second example, if you sit in a front row in the classroom, the professor looks bigger, but if you sit in a back row, he will look much smaller. Although the professor seems to have different sizes in the two situations, again, because of perceptual constancy, we know he's the same person.

4.3 例题及参考答案

ᆈ

You will now read a short passage and then listen to a lecture on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Audience Effects

People deal with each other every day. This interaction is at the heart of social life. The study of social interaction is concerned with the influence people have over one another's behavior. People take each other into account in their daily behavior and in fact, the very presence of others can affect behavior. For example, one principle of social interaction, audience effects, suggests that individuals'work is affected by their knowledge that they are visible to others, that the presence of others tends to alter the way people behave or perform an activity.

Ļρ



Now listen to part of a talk in a sociology class. The professor is discussing audience effects.



Male: Ok so we said that the way we interact with others could impact our behavior...that, for example, when we have an audience...when we have someone watching us, we act differently from the way we would otherwise. In fact, there's some interesting research that suggests that when we're being observed, we tend to increase the speed at which we perform certain activities.

In one study, college students were asked to each put on a pair of shoes—shoes with laces they would have to tie. One group of students was told that they would be observed. A second group, however, did not know they were being observed. The students who were aware of being watched actually tied their shoes much faster than the students who thought they were alone.

Other studies confirm the same is true even when we're learning new activities. Let's say someone is learning a new task—for example, learning how to type. When they're conscious of being observed, they'll likely begin typing at a much faster rate than they would if they were alone. But the study also showed that behaviors that are common to the person or the situation—like making mistakes when you're learning something new like how to type...will also increase. When we're conscious of an audience, we'll type faster but we'll also make more mistakes. This might suggest that people should practice new activities alone—to reduce the number of mistakes.



Explain how the examples of tying shoes and learning to type demonstrate the principle of audience effects.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

Sample Answer: The concept of audience effects tells us that our work is affected when we know that others are watching us. In that case, we tend to do things in different ways. The professor gives us two examples. In the first example, two groups of students are tying their shoelaces. The students who knew that they were being observed did this job much more quickly than those who knew they were alone because of the audience effects. In the second example, people were learning how to type. If they knew that people were watching them, they typed at a faster rate, but at the same time, they made more mistakes. Again, audience effects can be easily observed here.





5 任务五(综合): 学生对话 / 问题和解决方案



托福考试口语部分中的第五题是一个 L/S 的综合任务题目,也就是说,考生将不会在此题中遇到阅读部分,而是只有听力部分,然后做出口语应答.在第五题中,考生将会听到一个 60 到 90 秒的学生对话(在某些时候也会出现学生和老师,或者学生和学校工作人员的对话),对话中其中一个学生会表达出自己的一个困扰,然后另一个学生(或者两个学生一起),会给出两个解决困扰的方案.考生需要在回答中总结听力对话中的内容,并说明自己对两个解决方案的偏好及看法.托福口语第五题是一个校园场景的题目,考生答题时有 20 秒的时间准备,60 秒的时间作答.

5.1 题型介绍

托福口语第五题是一个校园场景的题目,但和同为校园场景的第三题不一样的是,在此题中并不会涉及过多的校园政策或者校园改变等主题.出现较多的是学生在学校中遇到的个人问题.下面我们就来看看一个具体例子.

考生首先会听一个 60 到 90 秒的对话.对话中其中一个人会说出自己所面临的一个困扰或者难题,随后另一个人会给出(也可能两人一起给出)解决这个困扰或难题的两个方案.两人还可能对解决方案分别做出一些简单的评价.下面便是一个对话的例子:

Listen to a conversation between two students.





Male: Hey Lisa, how's it going?

Female: Hi Mark. Uh, I'm OK, I guess, but my schoolwork is really stressing me out.

Male: Yeah? What's wrong?

Female: Well, I've got a paper to write and two exams to study for. And a bunch of math problems to finish. It's just so much that I can't concentrate on any of it. I start concentrating on studying for one of my exams, and then I'm like, how long's it gonna take to finish that problem set?

Male: Wow. Sounds like you've got a lot more work than you can handle right now. Look, have you talked to some of your professors... I mean, you know, try to explain the problem. Look, you could probably get an extension on your paper, or on the math assignment...

Female: You think? It would give me a little more time to prepare for my exams right now.

Male: Well, I mean another thing that you might do... I mean have you tried making yourself a schedule? I mean that's what I do when I'm feeling overwhelmed.

Female: What does that do for you?

Male: Well, I mean it helps you to focus your energies. You know, you make yourself a chart that shows the next few days and the time till your stuff is due and...

Female: Uh-huh.

Male: I mean think about what you need to do and when you have to do it by. You know then start filling in your schedule—like, all right 9:00 to 11:30 A.M., study



for exam. 12:00 to 3:00, work on problem set. But I mean don't make the time periods too long. Like, don't put in eight hours of studying, you know, you'll get tired, or start worrying about your other work again. But if you keep to your schedule, you know you'll just have to worry about one thing at a time.

Female: Yeah, that might work.

听完对话之后, 考生需要按照题目要求作答(准备时间 20 秒, 答题时间 60 秒). 下面便是一个题目要求的例子:

The students discuss two possible solutions to the woman's problem. Describe the problem. Then state which of the two solutions you prefer and explain why.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

5.2 解题技巧

笔者和众多参加托福考试的考生持有相同的观点,在托福考试口语部分的四个综合任务中,第五题是相对来说难度最低的一道题目.原因是学生在回答第五题时,可以找到很清楚的脉络去遵循.只要考生具备足够强的听力能力,能够抓到听力中的关键信息点,并加入自己的观点和看法,便很容易把这个题目答好.在考生面对托福口语第五题的时候,笔者仍然推崇之前提到过的 "信息点式答题法".在托福口语第五题中,有五个信息点,是考生必须抓住的.下面笔者会对于这五个信息点做出详细阐述,并以上边提到的题目为例,告诉考生如何将这些信息点整合到一个60秒的答案中去.

首先,在托福口语第五题的听力部分里边,会出现三个非常重要的信息点,分别是学生提出的一个困扰,和针对这个困扰被提出的两个解决方案.下面同学们来找找,听力部分中的三个重要信息点是什么.以下是听力部分:



Listen to a conversation between two students.



Male: Hey Lisa, how's it going?

Female: Hi Mark. Uh, I'm OK, I guess, but my schoolwork is really stressing me out.

Male: Yeah? What's wrong?

Female: Well, I've got a paper to write and two exams to study for. And a bunch of math problems to finish. It's just so much that I can't concentrate on any of it. I start concentrating on studying for one of my exams, and then I'm like, how long's it gonna take to finish that problem set?

Male: Wow. Sounds like you've got a lot more work than you can handle right now. Look, have you talked to some of your professors... mean, you know, try to explain the problem. Look, you could probably get an extension on your paper, or on the math assignment...

Female: You think? It would give me a little more time to prepare for my exams right now.



Male: Well, I mean another thing that you might do... I mean have you tried making yourself a schedule? I mean that's what I do when I'm feeling overwhelmed.

Female: What does that do for you?

Male: Well, I mean it helps you to focus your energies. You know, you make yourself a chart that shows the next few days and the time till your stuff is due and...

Female: Uh-huh.

Male: I mean think about what you need to do and when you have to do it by. You know then start filling in your schedule—like, all right 9:00 to 11:30 A.M., study for exam. 12:00 to 3:00, work on problem set. But I mean don't make the time periods too long. Like, don't put in eight hours of studying, you know, you'll get tired, or start worrying about your other work again. But if you keep to your schedule, you know you'll just have to worry about one thing at a time.

Female: Yeah, that might work.

相信同学们不难找出,听力部分的三个关键信息点分别是:

- 1. The woman finds it very difficult to finish all the schoolwork.
- 2. The man suggests that the woman try to explain the problem to the professor and ask for an extension on the paper.
- 3. The man suggests that the woman make herself a schedule. If she follows the schedule, she will be able to focus her energies and get the work done.



托福口语第五题有一个非常大的特点 — 它是托福口语四个综合题目中,惟一一个需要考生加入自己观点和看法的题目.它要求考生在答案中不仅仅总结听力部分的内容,也需要纳入另外两个重要信息点,分别是考生比较偏好哪一个解决方案以及考生偏好那一个解决方案的原因.笔者在下边给出了这两个关键信息点的例子:

- 1.If I were the woman, I would definitely make myself a schedule.
- 2.Because the professor might not grant me the extension. Also, even if I don't have to write the paper now, it does not mean that I don't have to write it forever. It'll just lead to an even more hectic future.

至此,我们已经有了所有关键的信息点,如果我们把这五个重要信息点串到一起,我们便能有一个完美答案.但是,在我们一起给出这个完美答案之前,同学们需要注意以下几点:

- 1. 托福口语第五题是综合任务中惟一一个可以加入考生自己观点的题目. 因此, 考生应当掌握好听力部分的总结和自己观点之间的比例问题. 很多老师会告诉同学们要花更多时间总结听力, 自己的偏好只需要小小的提一下. 笔者并不这么认为. 既然 ETS 给了考生表达自己看法的机会,同学们就应该抓住这个机会. 因此, 在听力部分总结和考生自己的观点的比例上, 笔者认为1:1 是比较合理的, 也就是说, 考生应当花30 秒左右时间总结听力当中的内容, 然后再花30 秒左右的时间去表达自己的观点.
- 2. 考生在给出自己偏爱的解决方案的理由时,可以采用自己想出的理由,也可以参考文章中提出的线索(通常对话中会有人对解决方案提出赞同或反对).
- 3. 如果考生的目的是获得 27 分以上的绝对高分, 那考生需要尽量使用自己的语言, 而非原文中的.

在明白这三点之后,相信同学们已经能够给出一个较为理想的答案.以下是笔者自己给出的参考答案:



The woman got a lot of schoolwork to do, such as papers, exams and problem sets, so she finds it next to impossible to finish all the work. The man suggests that she try to explain the problem to the professor and ask for an extension on the paper. Or, she can make herself a schedule. If she follows the schedule, she will be able to focus her energies better and then get all the work done. If I were the woman, I would definitely make myself a schedule. Speaking of the reasons, first, the professor might not grant me the extension, right? Second, even if I don't have to write the paper now, it does not mean that I don't have to write it forever. It'll just lead to an even more hectic future.

5.3 例题及参考答案

Listen to a conversation between a student and her geology professor. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



Male: Mary, I'm so glad I ran into you.

Female: Oh hello, Professor Jensen.

Male: Listen, I know it's short notice...and maybe you've already made plans for spring break ...but...one of my students just dropped out of the field trip to the



Smithson River Caves. You're next on the waiting list, so now there's room for you to come along.

Female: You're kidding! I didn't think there was a chance...and...well, it's a three-day trip, right? I agreed to spend next week helping Professor Clark set up the new museum exhibition. I think she's really counting on me.

Male: Yeah, three days. But you know...if you'd rather come on the field trip, why not speak with her and see if she has anyone to replace you?

Female: Yeah, I'd hate to miss out on the caves. I'll definitely ask Professor Clark if there's someone else who could help her.

Male: You know...we don't leave until Wednesday. If you still have to help out, any chance you could get the museum setup done before then?

Female: Oh yeah...not until Wednesday...so then...yeah, maybe that's possible too.

Briefly summarize the problem the speakers are discussing. Then state which solution you would recommend. Explain the reasons for your recommendation.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

Sample Answer: The student has just learned from her professor that she can go on a field trip to Smithson Caves because one participant dropped out. However, she has already agreed to help another professor set up a museum exhibition. The professor suggests she find a replacement to help that professor. Or, she can just complete the museum setup before leaving for the field trip. If I were the woman, I guess I would just try to get the job done before I leave, I mean, finish the museum setup. After all, she did make a promise to that professor, so she'd better keep that promise. Also, it's really not necessary to wait until the very day before the exhibition to finish the setup.





6 任务六(综合): 学术话题 / 摘要



与第五题一样,托福考试口语部分中的第六题是一个 L/S 的综合任务题目,也就是说,考生将不会在此题中遇到阅读部分,而是只有听力部分,然后做出口语应答.在第六题中,考生将会听到一个60到90秒的课堂讲座,讲座中一个教授会针对一个学术话题为学生做出讲解,并会包括此学术话题的两个方面及每个方面相应的例子.考生需要在回答中总结课堂讲座中的概念和例子.托福口语第六题是一个学术场景的题目,考生答题时有20秒的时间准备,60秒的时间作答.

6.1 题型介绍

托福口语第六题是一个学术场景的题目,但和同为学术场景的第四题不一样的是,在此题中并不一定会直接涉及一个学术概念(因此不一定有一个明确的概念名称),而是围绕一个学术概念的两个方面进行讨论和举例.这两个方面有可能是很多种情况,以下便是其中的几种(绝非所有情况):

- 1. 解决一个问题的两个方案
- 2. 一个物体或方法的两种使用方法
- 3. 一个过程的两个步骤
- 4. 一个原因导致的两个现象
- 5. 一个后果产生的两个原因
- 6. 一个概念的两种定义



下面我们就来看看一个具体例子.

考生首先会听一个 60 到 90 秒的课堂讲座. 讲座中教授会围绕一个学术概念进行介绍, 通常他会介绍这个概念的两个方面, 并为每个方面提出具体的例子. 下面便是一个课堂讲座的例子:

Listen to a part of a talk in an economics class.



Female: So, let's talk about money. What is money? Well, a broad definition is this: money is anything that people can use to make purchases with. Since many things can be used to make purchases, money can have many different forms. Certainly, coins and dollar bills are money. Typically, people exchange goods and services they produce for dollar bills, and they use this money... these dollar bills... to obtain other goods and services. You might give a taxi driver five dollars to purchase a ride in his taxi. The taxi driver might give those dollars to a farmer to purchase some vegetables. So dollars serve as a way of purchasing goods and services and thus are a form of money.

Now suppose we didn't have coins and bills to serve as money. People would need some other way to make purchases—perhaps they'd use a barter system, where people exchange goods and services directly for other goods and services. The taxi driver, for example, might give a ride to a farmer in exchange for some vegetables. Since the vegetables are used to pay for a service, by our broad definition the vegetables are used in barter as a form of money.



Now, there is also a narrower definition of money. In the United States only coins and bills are legal tender—meaning that by law, a seller must accept them as payment. The taxi driver must accept coins or bills as payment for a taxi ride. OK? But in the U.S., the taxi driver is not required to accept vegetables in exchange for a ride. So a narrower definition of money might be whatever is legal tender in a society, whatever has to be accepted as payment.

听完对话之后,考生需要按照题目要求作答(准备时间 20 秒,答题时间 60 秒).下面便是一个题目要求的例子:

Using points and examples from the talk, explain the two definitions of money presented by the professor.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

6.2 解题技巧

笔者认为,托福口语第六题虽然是一个学术场景的题目,但其难度要远远低于第四题.在托福口语第六题中,并没有过多像第四题阅读部分一样的抽象信息,更多的是较为具体的例子.因此,听力段子更容易为学生所理解.在考生面对托福口语第六题的时候,仍然可以使用笔者之前提到过的 "信息点式答题法".在托福口语第六题中,有五个信息点,是考生必须抓住的.下面笔者会对于这五个信息点做出详细阐述,并以上边提到的题目为例,告诉考生如何将这些信息点整合到一个60秒的答案中去.

在托福口语第六题的听力部分里边,会出现五个非常重要的信息点,如果用简单的语言将它们描述出来,即下面五点:

- 1. 教授在讨论的主题
- 2. 教授讨论的主题的第一个方面



- 3. 第一个方面的例子
- 4. 教授讨论的主题的第二个方面
- 5. 第二个方面的例子

下面让我们来听一个课堂讲座.同学们来找找,听力部分中的五个重要信息点是什么.以下是听力部分:

Listen to a part of a talk in an economics class.



Female: So, let's talk about money. What is money? Well, a broad definition is this: money is anything that people can use to make purchases with. Since many things can be used to make purchases, money can have many different forms. Certainly, coins and dollar bills are money. Typically, people exchange goods and services they produce for dollar bills, and they use this money... these dollar bills... to obtain other goods and services. You might give a taxi driver five dollars to purchase a ride in his taxi. The taxi driver might give those dollars to a farmer to purchase some vegetables. So dollars serve as a way of purchasing goods and services and thus are a form of money.



Now suppose we didn't have coins and bills to serve as money. People would need some other way to make purchases—perhaps they'd use a barter system, where people exchange goods and services directly for other goods and services. The taxi driver, for example, might give a ride to a farmer in exchange for some vegetables. Since the vegetables are used to pay for a service, by our broad definition the vegetables are used in barter as a form of money.

Now, there is also a narrower definition of money. In the United States only coins and bills are legal tender—meaning that by law, a seller must accept them as payment. The taxi driver must accept coins or bills as payment for a taxi ride. OK? But in the U.S., the taxi driver is not required to accept vegetables in exchange for a ride. So a narrower definition of money might be whatever is legal tender in a society, whatever has to be accepted as payment.

相信同学们在经过仔细的分析之后,不难找出,听力部分的五个关键信息点分别是:

- 1. The professor is discussing two different definitions of money.
- 2.A broad definition of money is anything that can be used to make purchases with
- 3. For example, people might give a taxi driver coins or bills, or even vegetables for a ride.
- 4.A narrower definition of money is something that must be accepted as payment \square legal tender \square .
- 5. For example, a taxi driver must accept coins and bills, but he does not have to accept vegetables, because vegetables are not legal tender in the U.S.



至此,我们已经有了所有关键的信息点,如果我们把这五个重要信息点串到一起,我们便能有一个完美答案.但是,在我们一起给出这个完美答案之前,同学们需要注意以下几点:

- 1. 考生在总结听力中例子的时候,应当首先抓住核心信息(能够贴切地反映相应方面的信息). 如果考生听力能力较强,语速也较快,能够保证在 60 秒内说完,适当地增加次要信息(如一些小细节),也是可以的,因为在答案中包含更多的细节能够向 ETS 展示出考生较强的总结听力段子中各种信息的能力.
- 2. 考生应当花更多的时间去讲述听力中的例子,而不是概念. 在托福口语题目中,凡是概念和例子同时出现,后者的重要性往往要超过前者.
- 3. 考生应当学会去捕捉那些描述两个方面的句子. 在原文中通常有原句来对两个方面进行描述, 就算没有原句, 也会有很明显的信息(例如标志词)对考生进行提示.
- 4. 如果听力部分的例子中出现专有名词(如植物名和动物名), 考生可以使用诸如 "a kind of plant"和 "a kind of bird"之类的短语表达, 不会说专有名词不会造成扣分.

在明白这四点之后,相信同学们已经能够给出一个较为理想的答案.以下是笔者自己给出的参考答案:

The professor is talking about two different definitions of money. A broad definition of money is anything that can be used to make purchases with. For example, people might give a taxi driver coins or bills for a ride. If they don't have coins or bills, they may even use vegetables as a form of money to purchase the service, I mean, the ride. OK, a narrower definition of money is something that must be accepted as payment, in a more formal way, legal tender. For example, a taxi driver must accept coins and bills because they are legal tender in the U.S., however, he does not have to accept vegetables, because he is not required by the law to do this.



6.3 例题及参考答案

Listen to a lecture in United States history class. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



Female: Because the United States is such a large country, it took time for a common national culture to emerge. One hundred years ago there was very little communication among the different regions of the United States. One result of this lack of communication was that people around the United States had very little in common with one another. People in different parts of the country spoke differently, dressed differently, and behaved differently. But connections among Americans began to increase thanks to two technological innovations: the automobile and the radio.

Automobiles began to be mass produced in the 1920's, which meant they became less expensive and more widely available. Americans in small towns and rural communities now had the ability to travel with ease to nearby cities. They could even take vacations to other parts of the country. The increased mobility provided by automobiles changed people's attitudes and created links that had not existed before. For example, people in small towns began to adopt behaviors, clothes, and speech that were popular in big cities or in other parts of the country.

As more Americans were purchasing cars, radio ownership was also increasing dramatically. Americans in different regions of the country began to listen to the same popular radio programs and musical artists. People repeated things



they heard on the radio—some phrases and speech patterns heard in songs and radio programs began to be used by people all over the United States. People also listened to news reports on the radio. They heard the same news throughout the country, whereas in newspapers much news tended to be local. Radio brought Americans together by offering them shared experiences and information about events around the country.

Using points and examples from the talk, explain how the automobile and the radiocontributed to a common culture in the United States.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

Sample Answer: The professor is talking about two factors that helped increase connections among Americans in the US history. The first factor is the mass production of automobiles. When automobiles became inexpensive, people from small towns could travel easily to cities or to other parts of the country, and when they began to do this, they started acting like people from those regions and started to dress and speak in the same way. The second factor is the drammatic increase in radio ownership. When radio became popular, people from different areas began listening to the same programs and news reports and began to speak alike and have similar experiences and ideas.



第四章 托福口语练习题







托福口语练习题 (一)



1. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

Talk about the most memorable birthday you have ever had, explain why it is very memorable. Use details and examples in your response.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

2. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

Some people enjoy working in big companies. Others prefer working for small-size companies. Which do you think is better? And why. Use details and examples in your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

3. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

ᆈ



Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Ride-Sharing Program

After receiving several suggestions from students about the transportation to school, we have decided to organize a school ride-sharing program, in order to provide students living in the same area or community with a ride to school as a means of shared transportation. Moreover, we believe carpooling will be good for students to save money from the rising cost of gas and bus fares. Please note that this program is also an excellent means to protect the environment by reducing a great deal of pollution released from car emissions.

Now listen to a conversation between two students.



The woman expresses her opinion of the school policy to offer ride-sharing program. State her opinion and explain the reasons she gives for holding that opinion.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

坤



4. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Signaling

In economics, signaling is an approach. That is, companies use third parties to credibly convey some positive information about their products to consumers who may not be sensitive to the difference between good and bad product quality. More precisely, producers or sellers of good-quality products can distinguish themselves from that of bad-quality ones by offering high-price goods or services. However, consumers are not capable of telling the difference and not likely to purchase something expensive either. Therefore, having a third party to make objective judgments such as conducting experiments is essential to guide consumers to make purchasing decisions for high-quality products.

Now listen to a lecture on this subject.

ᆔ





The professor talks about an example in the lecture. Explain how the example demonstrates the concept of signaling in the reading.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

5. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



The two people in the conversation are discussing two possible solutions to the man's problem. Describe the problem and the two solutions. Then state which of the two solutions you prefer and explain why.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds



6. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



Using points and examples from the lecture, explain the two features species use to survive in mountain environment.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

Listening Script:

Q3:

Ф

M: Hello, dear, have you heard of the new policy about ride-sharing? We have to organize car-pools for transportation.

W: Well, I support this new policy. Maybe it can be very helpful to some extent.

M: Can you explain it a little bit? I don't get it.



W: Have you noticed that ride-sharing is one of the most common and cost effective alternatives for students' transport? I mean, the cost of sharing a ride is cheaper than a taxi or other means of transportation, because the cost will be divided among members. The program also helps lower the costs of gasoline or car operation since car-pooling needs few vehicles to transport students back and forth everyday. Isn't it great?

M: Hmm, I can see your point. But other than costs, what else is it good for?

W: Well, it helps protect our environment because fewer cars on the road also means less air pollution, including carbon emissions that contribute to climate change.

M: I haven't thought of that! Your words make a lot of sense to me.

Q4:

M: Morning everybody, now that we've read about this concept. Let me give you an example about my friend who owns a jewelry store. A big problem he had recently was that people would come into his store, look around, and then run off without making a purchase. This is because jewelry is a big investment, and customers really have no idea if the jewelry is indeed real.

Then my friend found a jewelry expert who placed some expensive jewels in fire to prove that they were real. My friend used this jewelry expert as a signaler, that is, he introduced a third party to judge the quality of his jewelry through the experiments.

The end result was that my friend's jewels were indeed real. He hung the results as an advertisement in his front window. Afterwards something spectacular happened soon after: the same customers who came in and just looked around now had the confidence in the jewels and made the purchases.



Q5:

W: Hey, Mark. You look worried, I can tell by the look on your face. What's wrong?

M: Well, this is tough. I've just been informed that my audition time for the play Hamlet has been changed from next week to tomorrow. The worst thing is that I've promised my roommate I would help tutor him for his physics test tonight, leaving me no time to prepare for the audition.

W: Ouch!! Sounds like you have almost no time. What's your plan?

M: I don't know. I really need to prepare for my audition tonight.

W: Hmm...maybe you could ask someone else to help your roommate out. I am sure your roommate will understand.

M: No, I can't just renege on my promise by not showing up. I have promised him to help him prepare for his test. I worry he won't be happy.

W: Ah, I see. Well, then I guess you could just help him first, and then prepare your audition. How's that?

M: Right, but then I might not have enough time to do all the preparation for the audition next day.

W: Hmmm...well, my friend, I don't know what to tell you.

Q6:

W: Mountains are as beautiful as they are deadly. The innumerous dangers, if not taken seriously can either kill us or cause us to be badly injured. These dangers include steep inclines, ice, snow, and bone chilling winds. However, some species of animals can live on mountain ranges because they have developed and formed two features, allowing them to survive in the harsh mountain environment over thousands of years.



A strong muscle structure is one significant feature of species like Mountain goats. They have developed to adapt to the mountain environment over time. A strong muscular system enables them to climb at seemingly impossible angles and jump nimbly from ledge to ledge when they are searching or foraging food in mountain areas.

As we all know, mountain roads or rocks are extremely steep and slippery with snow, making animals easy to fail. Therefore, special feet are another important feature that species dwelling in the area acquire. The Bighorn sheep have become well adapted to living on slippery and rocky cliffs. Their hoofs or feet have special pads with hard sharp edges surrounding a soft inner area which provide the animals with extra traction thus preventing them from skidding on the rocks. Therefore, the Bighorn sheep can get a better grip while climbing.





托福口语练习题 (二)



1. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

Describe a character in a book who influenced you a lot, and explain in what way did this character influence you. Use details and examples in your response.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

2. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

Do you agree or disagree with the following statement:

It is important for families to have dinner together once in a while.

Use specific reasons and examples to support your position.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

ᆔ



3. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

ļр

Proposal from a Student

Students enrolled at the Newton Technical Institute can borrow as many books as they need. But I am pleased to propose that the volume of books students check out each time should not be more than ten. By limiting the number of books in circulation, students can focus better on the materials and acquire more information and details they need while doing research. Furthermore, the regulation will reduce the possibility of the volumes lost after being checked out and kept in students' hands for a long period of time before the due date. I look forward to seeing our school bring the proposal into effect.

Now listen to a conversation between two students.





The woman expresses her opinion of the student's proposal to limit the number of books checked out each time from the library. State her opinion and explain the reasons she gives for holding that opinion.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

4. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Vertical Migration

Vertical migration is a pattern of movement that some aquatic species vertically travel through water areas such as lakes or oceans every day. Organisms usually move up to the water surface at night and return to the bottom of the ocean or lakes during the day. There may be several factors causing these species to move up and down through a water body, including light, temperature of the water, gravity, oxygen levels, and predator-prey interaction.

Now listen to a lecture on this subject.

ᆔ





The professor gives an example of squids in the lecture. Explain how the example demonstrates the concept of vertical migration.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds Response Time: 60 Seconds

5. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



The speaking discusses two possible solutions to the woman's problem. Describe the problem and the two solutions. Then state which of the two solutions you prefer and explain why.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

ф



6. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



Using points and examples from the talk, explain the two different methods ancient human used to keep fire from burning out.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds Response Time: 60 Seconds

Listening Script:

Q3:

ф

W: You've got to be kidding me!

M: What's wrong? You're not a fan of the proposal written by the student?

W: I can't be too happy about this message. I think it's the worst idea ever.



M: Well, what's your opinion?

W: Man writing research papers usually requires a lot of references, and for us, to borrow tons of books from the library is very necessary, if we aim to truly understand the assigned topic and scenarios behind. Only then are we able to write a well-rounded analytical paper. So we need at least 20 volumes at once or even more if we are given assignments to write papers for several different classes. And I assure you that we need to read everything we check out from the library.

M: Hmm, I agree with you about that. But what do you say about the books being lost?

W: That's another thing I have to complain about. I can tell you the books from the library have never been lost before. So the guy's concern is totally unnecessary.

Q4:

M: So, what is this concept exactly? Well, let's look at some organisms like squids. Squids feed on small fishes or tiny creatures. It's easy for them to find food on water surface in the daytime, because the sunlight is strong enough to help them. However, the same reason making their food easy to spot might also expose squids to their predators. Because of this, squids usually swim to the bottom of the oceans or lakes during the day, waiting for the evening to come.

Once the sun is set, squids can spend all night hunting for food with little or no distractions from predators under the curtain of night, because the eyesight of their enemies is relatively poor at night. When the night is over, squids return to the depths of water.



Q5:

M: Susan, I heard you've been having some problems registering for Professor Millar's writing class.

W: Yeah, the number of students enrolling for the class is far beyond the available class spots.

M: I know Professor Millar's writing class has always been hot and often difficult to get into. I hope there is room for you.

W: No way. The only way I can get in is to write a short sample story required for every student who wants to enroll in Millar's writing class. Then he will select the good ones out of those candidates. I am not that confident I'll be picked. But I would really love to take the class with Professor Millar.

M: That's tough! Maybe you should sit down and write the story right away.

W: I wish I could. But the story will take me hours to get done, and I am not sure if I even have an idea to write. Plus, I've been very busy studying for my biology test coming in four days.

M: Yeah, the time is so tight. Then, I suppose you could try to submit a poem you've published before in the school newspaper. It will save you a lot of time and trouble.

W: That might be worth a shot. But I worry that Professor Millar will reject the poem right after he receives it.

M: I suppose that's just a risk you'll have to take.



Q6:

M: As we all know, humankind has been using fire for millions of years. Fire changed the way ancient human lived. But when ancient human first got in touch with the secret of fire, their knowledge of how to control and manipulate it was primitive. Now let's take a close look at how they kept the fire burning.

At a particular stage in human history, ancient human started learning to keep fire with technical knowledge. After lightning stroke a tree, a forest fire began. When ancient human rushed to put out the flames, they realized that fire can be spreading along with forest trees; otherwise it would gradually burn out without additional wood. Therefore, instead of letting flames flash for few hours before it died out, the ancient human started to apply wood as a kind of fuel to keep the fire on as many hours as necessary.

Unfortunately, fire could still burnt out over night if no one watched over it. Therefore, social skill was another approach applied by ancient people to prevent the fire from going out. When everybody slept at night. There was usually a guard looking over the fire and keeping adding wood, and then they took turns through the night. By learning the importance of teamwork, the ancient people were warm and safe in the cold evenings.





可

托福口语练习题 (三)



1. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

What would you often do when you feel frustrated? Explain why you choose to do that. Use details and examples in your response.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

2. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

Do you agree or disagree with the following statement:

Parents should discourage their children from watching televesion programs.

Use specific reasons and examples to support your position.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

ᆔ



3. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Policy on the Usage of Printing Paper

The college computer lab has decided to charge students for printing fee when students print ten or more than ten copies at one time. Considering the limited paper resources and printing ink, proper charges can raise the students' awareness of saving paper. Also, the printer often breaks down after frequent usage and a new printer is badly needed. The printing fee can also cover part of the expenditure on the new printer, the paper and the ink. The fee will be 5 cents for every page and it is a reasonable price if not wasting any pages.

Now listen to a conversation between two students.





The woman expresses her opinion towards the university's decision of charging printing fee. State her opinion and explain the reasons she gives for holding that opinion.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

4. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Information Overload

Information overload refers to the difficulty a person has in understanding an issue or making decisions. It can be caused by the presence of too much information. It is now common for people to get many e-mails, reports and incoming messages. People have to deal with this information effectively. The advent of modern computers has created and duplicated vast amount of information, and thus the problem of information overload appears amongst the general population. As a result, the human mind will actually meet the bottleneck in the process.

Now listen to a lecture on this subject.

ᆈ





The professor uses two examples to illustrate the definition of information overload. Explain how the examples are related to the reading passage.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds Response Time: 60 Seconds

5. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.





Briefly summarize the problem and two possible solutions. Then state which solution you recommend and explain why.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

6. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



Using points and examples from the talk, explain how alpine plants adapt to extreme climates in the professor's lecture.

ф

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds



Listening Script:

Q3:

M: Have you heard about the new policy? We have to pay for every page we print if we print over ten pages.

W: I don't think it's a bad idea. Have you seen some paper were just wasted and littered around?

M: I think you are right. Why did this happen?

W: Because when it is free, students tend to print as many as they want without considering whether they really need the information. Some students choose to print out the whole article before they really read it. A lot of resources can be saved if they are aware of the value of the paper and the ink.

M: Yeah, they do waste a lot of paper, and charging some money may help them realize the problem.

W. Also, the printer needs to be checked regularly, and if necessary, it should be replaced by a new printer after some serious breakdowns. The students should not be the ones to wait for several days of repair work. The copy fee can cover this part and the money can be spent on more new equipment, such as a fax machine and a copier etc.

M: I totally agree with what you have said. Let's start to save resources from one piece of paper.



Q4:

M: In order to help you understand the concept presented in the book, I'm going to give you two examples to illustrate this term. It is an increasing problem both in people's work place and in their daily life. Those that learn to deal with it effectively will have a major advantage in the upcoming era. If we cannot handle the information well, our work efficiency will be greatly reduced.

One example happened in a workplace. A company was hiring some secretaries. After the recruitment advertisements were released on the Internet, nearly 300 applicants piled in and the interviews had to be shortened to 5 minutes. The interviews were conducted both individually and collectively. Some applicants complained that the interview was already over before they got fully ready. To make the situation worse, hundreds of resumes were sent to the human resource department monthly via the Internet and the staff had to randomly choose some of them to read. In this way, many excellent applicants just slipped through their fingers.

Another example happened in the Chemistry Department. A famous chemistry professor had a habit of reading references sent by a journal on a weekly basis. Later, the journal made some adjustments and sent the references everyday. However, the professor still read only once a week, because the articles are too much to read everyday.



Q5:

M: Hi, Jane. Haven't seen you recently. Where've you been?

W: I am planning on how to spend the summer vacation.

M: Do you have a plan?

W: Yeah, I've found a summer job in the town and rented a house near my workplace.

Congratulations! But you look a bit concerned. Any inconvenience caused by your new job?

W: Indeed. I am wondering how to deal with my dormitory. It will be a waste of money if I don't live in the dorm for nearly two months.

M: Let me see. You can rent your dorm to someone else who might have to work near our campus, you know, to rob Peter to pay Paul.

W: It sounds reasonable except one thing: I have the habit of cleaning up the room every day and I cannot stand it if I see my things are not in their right places, let alone to see the room being dirty and untidy.

M: Then, how about paying the rent for both two houses, keeping your old room and new one simultaneously?

W: I wish I could afford both. However, I am planning to buy a new computer with the salary I will earn in the summer, If I paid the rent, I would not have enough money to buy the computer, which is really useful for my study in the next semester.



Q6:

M: Alpine plants can strongly adapt to the extreme climates found at high altitude. They often grow in barren soil or shattered rocks, under great changes in temperature from searing heat to extreme cold. They are often lashed by gales of forceful winds. However, these plants can still tenaciously grow, thanks to two important adaptation abilities.

The low-growing feature of alpine plants has obvious advantages in defending wind resistance and repetitive snow falls. Most alpine plants have a height of no more than 10 centimeters and most of their biomass is concentrated in the roots, so these features can help prevent themselves from being destroyed by the wind. Water and available nutrients often lie far below the surface in mountain habitats. Plants with deep root systems are more capable to exploit available nutrients resources.

Another important feature is that a waxy coating can be found on some plants' leaves and stems in deserts and the Alps. The wax prevents moisture from evaporating and helps store water inside. Thick, waxy succulent leaves are another adaptation to help prevent water loss. It's interesting that alpine plants have many characteristics same with those in the deserts. The plants growing in these different habitats have to cope with similar harsh conditions and find ways to prevent water loss.





aЛ

аЛ

托福口语练习题 (四)



1. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

Describe one thing that you really hope to do this year. Explain the reasons why you want to do that. Use details and examples in your response.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

2. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

Do you agree or disagree with the following statement:

It is a good idea for the students to take a gap year before they go to college.

Use specific reasons and examples to support your position.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds



3. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Writing Course Cancellation

Writing is important everywhere, all the time. Being able to communicate in writing is essential for being successful in both college and job environment in future. So writing courses are highly required to all majors in every university. However, a student has proposed that the university should cancel the writing course offered to science majors and balance the course to students with other majors instead. The reason is that science students do not need to develop their writing skills since their major tasks are experiments. Also, students majored in science are always busy with their experiments in lab, leaving little time to take writing course.

Now listen to a conversation between two students.

ᆈ



맆



The man expresses his opinion of the student's proposal about writing course cancellation. State his opinion and explain the reasons he gives for holding that opinion.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

4. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

Prenatal Learning

Prenatal learning is the education of the young before birth. Many observations have been made of animals in the wild which prepare their young for the difficulties that they may face once they have reached adulthood. However, there are certain instances where mothers of young animals begin this education even before their young have even been born. This is called prenatal learning, and for some species of animals, it is a way for them to get a head start on their young's survival education, in order to increase the young's chance of survival.

Now listen to a lecture on this subject.





The professor gives an example to explain how prenatal learning helps promote the chance of survival for murre birds. Explain how this example is related to the reading passage.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

5. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



The speaking discusses two possible solutions to the woman's problem. Describe the problem and the two solutions. Then state which of the two solutions you prefer and explain why.

可

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds



6. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



Using points and examples from the talk, explain how the two sources of self-efficacy help people realize their capabilities to achieve certain outcomes.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

Listening Script:

Q3:

ᆈ

M: Have you read about the new proposal on the bulletin board? A student is asking to cancel the writing course offered to science students.

W: What comes to his mind? I don't understand it.

M: Me neither. It is true that science majors are in the lab all the time, but it



doesn't mean they could take courses without any writing. Quite the contrary, acquiring proficiency in writing is very essential to all students, including those with a science major. My father is a scientist. He told me finishing a good research paper requires effective writing skills; otherwise, new ideas or results from experiments cannot be expressed or conveyed to others. So I believe students of all majors should take writing courses. They will all be expected to do a great deal of writing in most of the classes they take and it will definitely benefit their jobs in the future.

W: That's a good point. I was about to say that.

M: And also, the reason that science majors are too busy to take writing courses shouldn't be accepted. You know, majors of other areas such as history and English are equally busy. They need to attend classes, prepare for all the quizzes and tests, do research in the library and write papers etc. So conducting experiments in lab shouldn't be any excuse for canceling the writing class.

Q4:

M: The murre bird is a prime example of this concept.

When a female murre bird has young, her baby chicks' educations begin a few weeks after the eggs have been laid. The mom murre bird creates a unique sound over her eggs; this sound is repeated constantly until her eggs have hatched. After hatching, the small birds are able to identify the same sound that their mother made to them when they were in the eggs. Then they repeat the sound and begin to follow the mother bird around. Since each sound is unique, the mom murre bird can recognize each baby bird as one of her own, feeding, caring for and protecting in case of a predator. All in all, this unique teaching method helps improve the baby murre bird's chance of survival.



Q5:

M: Amber, are you coming to the party at Sarah's place tonight? It should be a lot of fun.

W: No, I am afraid not. I am moving into a new apartment tomorrow. So I need to pack everything up and do the cleaning.

M: Really? Just let me know if you need any help.

W: I think I do need your advice.

M: Oh...yeah? Tell me about it.

W: Well, I used to hang a lot of pictures or decorations on the wall in my old apartment. You know, some nail holes were left and caused damage to the wall. I don't think the owner will be happy about the holes.

M: Have you thought about just asking your owner to hire some technical or professional service to fix it up? That would be an easy way to solve your problem.

W: Yeah, but the cost of the maintenance service and extra charges for the damages would be very costly. I am able to afford the maintenance bill but I don't really want it to cost me my arms and legs to move this time.

M: Ah, I see. You could buy some stuff and fix the nail holes on your own tonight. Don't you think it would be cheaper than being charged for the damages and the maintenance service?

W: But the problem is that I am moving tomorrow and time is so tight, and I would be very exhausted if I did so.



Q6:

W: Who's heard of the phenomenon called self-efficacy? This is the word psychologists use when people believe they are capable of performing in a certain manner to attain certain goals. Self-efficacy plays an important role helping us complete difficult tasks and succeed in our daily lives. According to prominent psychologists, there are two sources from which we draw strength for self-efficacy.

The first source is past experience. Our successes in the past have a direct psychological impact on our self-efficacy in future situations. For example, if you repetitively do well in your math exam, then you will certainly have the inner strength to continue to do well in your next exam.

The second source is seeing people similar to oneself succeed by sustained effort, raising observers' beliefs that they too possess the capabilities of mastering the comparable activities to succeed. This source is sort of a social model that others can follow. For example, your older sister plays the guitar masterfully, and this can encourage you to also study hard in order to play the piano just as well as she can.





Ф

аЛ

托福口语练习题 (五)



1. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

What do you think you will be doing ten years from now? Explain why you think you will be doing that, using details and examples in your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

2. You will now be asked a question about a familiar topic. After you hear the question, you will have 15 seconds to prepare your response and 45 seconds to speak.

When having a lot of work, some people prefer to burn the midnight oil, working until late at night. Others prefer to get up early and work. Which do you think is better? Explain why, using details and examples in your answer.

Preparation Time: 15 Seconds
Response Time: 45 Seconds

3. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.



Reading Time: 45 Seconds

A Proposal for Writing Center

Writing Center at Campion College provides all students with trained peer consultants to help them brainstorm, draft, or edit their writing. It has always been a sounding board for ideas and provides one-on-one service for students' paper writing. However, a letter from a student has currently criticized that the service is too crowded and no longer satisfies all the students' requirements. Therefore, the student has suggested that the writing service should hire more tutors as well as be open to students over weekends since the current opening hours scheduled from Monday to Friday is not enough to meet students' increasing demands for writing tutoring.

Now listen to a conversation between two students.

ᆈ



ш

ᆔ



The woman expresses her opinion of the student's proposal about hiring more tutors in the writing center. State her opinion and explain the reasons she gives for holding that opinion.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

4. You will now read a short passage and then listen to a talk on the same topic. You will then be asked a question about them. After you hear the question, you will have 30 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

Reading Time: 45 Seconds

坱

Generation Effect

The generation effect refers to the finding that information will be better remembered if it is generated rather than simply read, or we can say it is a way of committing information actively to memory. How well we retain new information depends on how actively we process it during learning. To simply read something several times committing it to memory is not as effective as generating an answer to a question. In business, companies have found customers would remember the name of their products quickly if they generate themselves in the new information.



Now listen to a lecture on this subject.

Ф



The professor gives an example to explain how generation effect helps customers remember the name of products. Explain how this example is related to the reading passage.

Preparation Time: 30 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

5. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.

ФГ





The speaking discusses two possible solutions to the woman's problem. Describe the problem and the two solutions. Then state which of the two solutions you prefer and explain why.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

6. You will now listen to a conversation. You will then be asked a question about it. After you hear the question, you will have 20 seconds to prepare your response and 60 seconds to speak.





Using points and examples from the talk, explain how the two types of ecotourism are helpful to our environment in the professor's lecture.

Preparation Time: 20 Seconds
Response Time: 60 Seconds

Listening Script:

Q3:

可

W: Oh, that's great!

M: What?

W: Look, a student is proposing a change to the writing center. I think most students will be happy if the school follows that proposal.

M: Yeah, I'll probably end up doing that too. You know, I am always on the waiting list whenever I need tutors to proofread my papers or help me with some brainstorming.

W: Yeah, I hate waiting too. And I am sure that I am not the only one who comments on the need for more tutors. Students wishing to work with a writing tutor usually need to make appointment days in advance, which makes it difficult for students to polish their work on time. But if the proposal is issued, I mean with more tutors, many students wouldn't need to wait for a long time to get their papers done.

M: That's true, I guess.



W: And the other thing is it's nice to offer the service over weekends when most students are not busy with their classes. Then there will be fewer students going to tutors during weekdays since some of them have made their appointments with tutors over the weekends.

Q4:

M: The interesting thing is that this concept is not only used in school for teaching, but it seems corporations have also caught on to the idea and are using it so that the consumers can remember their products quickly.

A case study was done by a soft drink to test this theory. There were two commercials played for a group of customers. The first commercial repeated the name and characteristics of the drink several times; the customers were asked about the name of the soft drink afterwards, but mostly all of them forget the name. The second commercial did the same but ended the commercial with a simple direct question: what was the name of the soft drink? Astoundingly, nearly all of the customers asked could recall the name of the soft drink. It appears that committing information actively to memory has more of an effect than just reading something over a few times.



Q5:

M: Hey, how's your guitar class going on so far?

W: It's been good. But I'm worried I might not have the class any more.

M: Really? What do you mean?

W: The guitar class is about to be canceled, because too few students have been attending. I liked the way the class was structured with group. I really like the group activities we do and enjoy the opportunities to participate and practice. I don't want the class to be canceled!

M: Oh, I see. Why don't you hire a private teacher to teach you once a week? There must be someone who has time and be willing to teach you.

W. I guess I wouldn't have that much trouble finding a tutor, and I'd believe the fee would be too expensive. I need to save money for my tuition.

M: Ah, okay. Then have you considered buying a book for beginners with a CD? That way you can study guitar step by step at your own pace. Plus, it is cheaper than hiring a private teacher.

W: Yeah, but I am not sure if I could follow the book and play well.



Q6:

M: The world we live in is vast and beautiful. Million of us travel the globe each year to see the places that are often talked about in nature magazines, television or on the internet. But the damage done to our planet by the sheer number of tourists is on the rise and underiable.

Ecotourism, however, is a kind of tourism beneficial to the environment by alleviating the pollution while reversing some of the damage already done, and thus healing our planet. Let's talk about a couple of ecotourism ideas.

Firstly, ecotourism helps lower vehicle pollution. In order to travel to some places, tourists sometimes use buses which are noisy and fuel consuming, thus emitting a lot of environmental pollutants. To counter this act, tourists can hike into the sites instead of taking buses or other means of transportation. If you think about the number of tourists visiting a popular tourist area every year, and eliminate the need for buses, there is no doubt that the idea of ecotourism could make a big difference.

Another way that could help cut down on pollution at tourist sites is to raise environmentally friendly awareness. By teaching tourists the impact that they are causing before hand, it can possibly persuade some of them to change their plans to a more environmentally friendly alternative. For example, having a kind of tour which makes the tourists replant trees in deforested areas can help repair the damaged forests.



第五章 托福口语练习题参考答案





(で) 托福口语练习题 (一)参考答案 (で)

Q1 Sample Response:

To be honest, I've had lots of impressive birthdays. But if I had to label one of them as the "most memoriable", I would have to say it's my 19^{th} birthday. It was the first birthday I had away from home, from my parents. After I graduated from high school, I went to the US for my college education, which was the first long trip in my life. Though my family's not around, but they sent me great birthday presents from China. Also my classmates in college planned a fantastic party for me, where we had a lot of fun. I have to say that at first I was a little frustrated because my parents could not be there with me, but my new friends made that birthday not only wonderful, but also memoriable.

Q2 Sample Response:

Working for big-size companies has myriads of benefits. For example they have more mature training system that can help newly recruited people learn faster. But personally I think a job in a small company is more attractive for me because I will be able to get access to different types of jobs, which I believe is of great importance to my growth. When I was in high school, I interned at a retail-store for a summer. It's really small, and we have like only 4 people. There're so many things we need to do, so the manager had to assign us multiple tasks. I have to say it was exhausting, but I did get the chance to see many parts of the business, and hence have a whole picture of it.



Q3 Sample Response:

The school is planning to organize a ride-sharing program for its students. Because they believe that carpooling will be good for students to save money and also it serves as a good way to protect the environment by reducing pollution. The woman thinks it's a great plan because she believes it's a very cost-effective alternative for students' transport because people can share the cost. Means like taking taxi are just too expensive. It just helps students save money because fewer cars need to be used. You don't have to pay a lot for stuff like gas and operation. Moreover it helps to protect the environment because if there're fewer cars used by students on the road, there will be less car exhaust coming out, I mean, the carbon emission that causes climate change.

Q4 Sample Response:

Signaling is an approach where companies use third parties to credibly convey positive information about their products to consumers who may not be sensitive to the difference between good and bad. The professor gives us an example of a friend of his. His friend has a jewelry store. But he had a huge problem. A lot of customers came in, but did not make any purchase, which is understandable because it's a really big investment and they had no idea if the jewelry was real. In order to solve this problem, his friend found a jewery expert, a third-party signaler, to do some experienments for him, like put the jewelry in fire, to try to prove it's indeed real. Of course, the jewelry turned out to be 100% real, and those customers changed their conservative mind, and start to buy the jewelry.

Q5 Sample Response:

Mark is frustrated because his audition time for Hamlet, the play, was changed from next week to tomrrow, but he already promised his roommate he would tutor him for the physics test tonight. So he just doesn't have time for both. The woman thinks he can try finding someone else to replace him for the tutoring job. But Mark doesn't want to renege on his promise, and he's afraid that his



roommate won't be happy. The woman thinks he can also help tutor his roommate first, and then prepare for the audition. Mark does not think there will be enough time. If I were Mark, I guess finding someone to replace me is what I will do, because the audition is just too important to fail. I'm sure if I can explain well to my roommate, he will understand. And if I can find someone to help him, then he has nothing to lose, right?

Q6 Sample Response:

The professor is discussing special features that help some species of animals live on harsh mountain environment over thousands of years. The first feature they have is a strong muscle structure. For example, the mountain goats developed a very strong muscular system that help them adapt to the severe mountain environment. This system enables them to climb at seemingly impossible angles and jump nimbly from ledge to ledge when they are foraging food in mountain areas. Another feature animals have that help them survive in harsh mountain environment is special feet. Mountain roads or rocks are steep and slippery, especially with snow. The Bighorn sheep have become well adapted to this type of environment because their hoofs or feet have special pads that provide them with extra traction. And it prevents them from skidding on the rocks.



| 托福口语练习题(二)参考答案

Q1 Sample Response:

I've read a huge number of books, in which there are a huge number of impressive charactors. Speaking of the most influential one to me, I guess it's Steve Jobs, in the book Steve Jobs. He strikes me as such a detail-oriented perfectionist, which is always the type of person I want to be. Steve Jobs is known to have a super creative mind, but it's his attention to details that gives me a bigger influence. In the book, I read the story about him being so picky on the inner part of the computer shells, even though the fact is that people cannot even see that. People may think he is a weird guy and it's not necessary to be so picky, but I think it is just this type of perfectionist character that made him one of the most outstanding business visionaries the world has ever had.

Q2 Sample Response:

In the current society, people are so busy working, and they even don't have time for a family dinner. But in my opinion, it is definitely crucial for us to sit together once in a while, because I think we do need to pay more attention to the lives of those beloved. My family members are working in different places, or even different cities. So it's really not easy for us to gather together and have dinner, but we managed to do it because we deem this family dinner thing as important. Pretty much every month, we will get together in my grandpa's home and have dinner together, during which we share with one another the recent experiences in our work and our life. It just really feels good to know what everybody is doing.



Q3 Sample Response:

A student in the school proposes that the volume of books students can check out each time should not be more than ten. This policy will help students focus better on the materials and acquire more information while doing research, and it also reduces the possibility of the volumes lost after being checked out and kept in students' hands for too long. The woman thinks this is a terrible idea, probably the worst she has seen. She thinks that it is inevitable for those people who are wriing research papers to be in need of tons of books for reference. They'll need at least 20 books, or even more when writing multiple papers from different courses at a time. As for the concern that the books may be lost, the woman thinks it's completely unnecessary because the books in the library have never even been lost before.

Q4 Sample Response:

The professor is talking about vertical migration, which is a pattern of movement that some aquatic species vertically travel through water areas.

He gives us an example of the squids. It's easy for the squids to find food such as small fishes and tiny creatures on water surface in the daytime, because the sunlight can help them. But the sunlight also exposes them to their predators. Therefore, squids usually swim to the bottom of the oceans or lakes during the day, and come up in the evening— a type of vertical migration. Squids can spend all night hunting for food with little distractions from their predators because their enemies with poor eyesight cannot see them clearly at night. But they have to return to the bottom of the water when the night is over.



Q5 Sample Response:

Susan is having a hard time registering for Professor Millar's writing class because the course is so hot that there is not enough space. One way she can get in is to write a short sample story required for every student who wants to enroll in the class. Then he will select the good ones. But the woman is not confident she'll be picked because she hasn't had any idea yet, and is busy preparing for the biology test. Or, she can try to submit a poem she has published before in the school newspaper, which will save her a lot of time and trouble. Personally, I think the woman should just go with the second solution. Since the poem was published in the school newspaper, it must be an extremely good one. So there is a good chance that the professor will be impressed. And also, she just cannot afford to fail in the biology test, which is not at all less important than the course.

Q6 Sample Response:

The professor is talking about the two stages that ancient human went through when they were trying to keep the fire burning. At first, ancient human started learning to keep fire with technical knowledge. When a forest fire happened, ancient human realized that fire could be spreading along with forest trees. Therefore, before the fire died out, the ancient human started to apply wood as a kind of fuel to keep the fire on as long as necessary. Later, they found that technical knowledge was not enough. Fire could still burn out over night if no one watched over it. Therefore, social skill was introduced by ancient people to prevent the fire from going out. When people slept at night. A guard would be there in charge of looking over the fire and keeping adding wood, and then they took turns through the night. Because this type of teamwork, the ancient people were able to keep themselves warm and safe in cold evenings.





Q1 Sample Response:

I'm a typical Virgo, so I often feel pretty melancholy. In order to feel better, I do a lot of things, one of them being going for a getaway. The current society is sort of like an arena where lots of cutthroat competitions are going on every day. It's inevitable to feel frustrated sometimes, so it's important to take a break from time to time. I used to screw up a very important task assigned to me by my boss, and found it so hard for me to recover. Then I took my friend's advice of going for a trip to Europe. I traveled there for a whole week, experiencing many interesting things, and totally forgot about those unhappy things that haunted me for so long. When I came back from the trip, to my great surprise, I was able to focus on my work again.

Q2 Sample Response:

To be frank, I do not think this statement is 100% right, though under some specific circumstances, watching television could be bad for kids. I think whether parents should encourage or discourage their kids from watching TV to a great extent depends on what exactly the programs they watch are. If they are watching those meaningless, and time-consuming shows, of course parents should discourage, if not forbid them. However, there are TV programs that are actually pretty beneficial to the kids' growth, like those shows that teach kids to sing and draw. I can't see the point why parents don't let their kids watch.



Q3 Sample Response:

The college computer lab decided to charge students for printing fee when they print ten or more than ten copies at one time. The reason is that the college believes that charges can raise the students' awareness of saving paper. Also, the printing fee can be used to purchase a new printer, the paper and the ink. The woman thinks this is a pretty good idea. Because first, people tend to print as many things as they want if it's free. For example, some students often print out the whole article before they really read it, causing a lot of waste. Also, the printer sometimes needs to be checked or even replaced by a new one. The copy fee can cover this part and the money can be spent on new equipment.

Q4 Sample Response:

Information overload refers to the difficulty a person has in understanding an issue or making decisions when there is too much information present. The professor gives us two example of it. In the first example, a company was hiring secretaries. After the recruitment advertisements were put on the Internet, nearly 300 applicants came to the interviews, which had to be shortened to 5 minutes. The result is that the applicants did not have enough time to present themselves. Also, the HR people were overwhelmed since too many resumes were sent in. They had no choice but to randomly choose some of them to read, resulting in the fact that they missed some excellent candidates. In the second example, a famous chemistry professor used to read references sent by a journal on a weekly basis. But later, they sent the references every day. Therefore, the articles became too many to read. In both examples, information overload brings negative influence to people's work.



Q5 Sample Response:

The woman got a summer job in the town and rented a house nearby, so she won't live in her dorm for two months. She doesn't know what to do about it. The man thinks that she can rent the dorm to someone else who might need to work near the campus, but the woman cannot stand it if others do not put her things in the right places and make the room a mess. The man thinks she can also simply rent both places, but the woman wants to buy a new computer with the salary, if she needs to rent both places, the money won't be enough. I actually think the woman should just rent her dorm to someone else. If she can tell the tenant to keep it clean in advance, I'm sure it won't be so bad as she thinks it will be. Also, if she really wants the new computer, she just has to make sacrifices, right?

Q6 Sample Response:

The professor is discussing two important adaptation abilities Alpine plants have that help them survive extreme climates. The first adaptation is Alpine's low-growing feature, which help them resist strong wind and repetitive snowfalls. Most alpine plants are shorter than 10 centimeters and most of their biomass is concentrated in the roots, which can help prevent themselves from being destroyed by the wind. Water and available nutrients often lie far below the surface. Plants with deep root systems are more capable to exploit available nutrients resources. The second adaptation is that Alpines have thick, waxy succulent leaves that help them prevent water loss. A waxy coating can be found on some plants' leaves and stems. The wax prevents moisture from evaporating and helps store water.





Q1 Sample Response:

I got a lot of wishes, I mean, a lot of dreams for this year. But the one thing I want to do most is taking my parents for a trip to the US. The reason for doing this is that I want to let my parents know what the campus life in the US is like. I am going to the US for my college education for the next four years, which means that I will be away from home for that long. I have never really left home for that long before, therefore my parents will definitely be very worried about my well being there. If I can take them to the US, and let them experience the life there, for example, what the food is like, what the transportation is like, etc. They will be better able to understand that there really isn't that much to worry about.

Q2 Sample Response:

Believe it or not, I actually agree with this statement. I do believe a gap year can be of great value for high school graduates, for two reasons. First, we can take a break after 10 years of hard work. Most of us have to study for at least 10 years before we get into college, and those years could be pretty tough because there's huge competition throughout the process. If we can take a break, we will be more energetic when going to college. Besides, we can spend this gap year experiencing things that cannot be learned in school. My sister is a great example. She loves traveling a lot, and she spent a whole year traveling around the whole Europe, during which she got to know lots of interesting things and people she could never have seen and met in school.



Q3 Sample Response:

A student has proposed that the university should cancel the writing course offered to science majors and balance the course to students with other majors because science students do not really need high writing skills and also they are always too busy with their experiments in lab to take writing course. The man doesn't think it's a legitimate idea. He believes that science students do need great writing skills because his father told him scientists need to effectively convey their ideas and experiment results to others through their research papers. What's more, while admitting science students are busy with their work, students from other majors such as history and English are just equally busy. So cancelling the course simply because they think science students are busy should not be acceptble.

Q4 Sample Response:

Prenatal learning is the education of the young before its birth in order to increase the young's chance of survival. The professor gives us an example of this concept in the animal species — the murre bird. A murre bird makes unique sounds to their eggs constantly before they are hatched. And those baby morre birds can recognize and repeat the sound to their mother after they are hatched. Because of the uniqueness of the sounds, the mom morre birds can recognize each baby bird as one of their own. This way, they can feed and care for, and protect the baby birds from being hurt by the predators. As a result of this type of prenatal learning, those baby morre birds have a better chance of surviving.



Q5 Sample Response:

The woman has a big problem. She is moving to a new place, but she is worried that the owner will be mad at those holes she left on the wall when she hung those pictures and decorations of hers. The man thinks she can just ask the owner to hire some people to fix it up, but the woman is worried about the high cost. The man thinks she can also buy some stuff and fix the holes on her own, but the woman has a very tight schedule because she is moving out tomorrow. If I were the woman, I'll just choose to hire people to do this for me. Although it could be very costly, it really saves her a lot of time and trouble. Also, she cannot be sure that she is able to fix the holes herself, right? What if more damage is made?

Q6 Sample Response:

The professor is giving a lecture about the two sources from which we draw strength for self-efficacy. The first source is past experience, which has a direct psychological impact on our self-efficacy in future situations. For example, if you can always excel in your math exam, you will definitely have the confidence, or the inner strength to do well in the next exam. The second source is seeing people similar to oneself succeed by sustained effort, which gives the observers a feeling that they have the ability to do it as well. For example, your older sister plays the guitar very well, and you will probably believe that if you study hard, you can play the guitar well too.



(五) 参考答案 (五) 参考答案

Q1 Sample Response:

Well, it's a really tough question because there are various things I want to do. But ten years from now, I think there is a very good chance that I will be a teacher, because education is always the field I want commit myself to. There are thousands of jobs in the world, but the school is a place where you get to nurture the future of the world. Take our generation for example, had it not been for the great help of our teachers throughout our school years, we could not have made such huge progress and be whom we want to be. Therefore, I think education is a great cause, and I would very much like to be part of it.

Q2 Sample Response:

I'm kind of a lazy bone, according to my mom, so getting up early in the morning is quite difficult for me. However, I do think that if you really want to work, work in the morning is much better than burning the mid-night oil, because in this way, you can work more efficiently. Once I was preparing for my mid-term exams, in the first few days, I tried to stay up until late to study, but I just cannot concentrate on the materials because I was so tired after the whole day's hard work. Then I started to sleep earlier and get up early in the morning to study, I was so energetic that I could focus much better. Finally, I did pretty well in my mid-term exams.



Q3 Sample Response:

A student has currently criticized that the writing center is too crowded and no longer satisfies all the students' requirements. And the student has suggested that the writing center hire more tutors to help the students, and also be open to students during the weekends. The woman is in strong support of the student's proposal. She mentioned that students often have to wait for a long time before they can meet the tutor, but if there are more tutors, they can get the help such as brainstorming and essay polishing on time. This way, they can get their essays done much faster. Also, during weekdays, most students are busy with their classes. If the writing center is open in the weekends, the students can be better helped.

Q4 Sample Response:

The professor is talking about generation effect, which refers to the finding that information will be better remembered if it is generated rather than simply read. He gives us an example of a soft drink. There were two commercials played for the same group of customers. In the first commercial, the name and characteristics of the soft drink were repeated a couple of times. Later the customers were asked about the name of the soft drink, and most of them forgot it. The second commercial was different; it ended with a direct question: what was the name of the soft drink? So the customers got involved. Surprisingly, almost all the customers could remember the name. You see? This example perfectly demonstrates to us what generation effect can do.



Q5 Sample Response:

The woman enjoyed her guitar class, but it is about to be canceled because too few students have been attending. So she doesn't know what to do. The man suggests her find a private tutor, but the woman thinks it's too expensive, and she needs to save money for the tuition. The man also suggests her buy a book for beginners and study playing guitar by her own, but the woman is not sure if she is capable of learning it herself. I think the woman can just buy a book. A private tutor can be extremely pricey, so it's not wise for someone who needs to save for tuition to hire one. Also, since the woman is still a beginner, she should be able to learn it herself. She can always get a tutor later when she already becomes pretty good at playing the guitar.

Q6 Sample Response:

The professor is giving a talk on two ecotourism ideas, which are beneficial to the environment by alleviating the pollution while reversing some of the damage already done. Firstly, ecotourism helps lower vehicle pollution. Tourists often take buses from place to place when traveling, which is quite noisy and fuel consuming. What's worse, it does a lot of harm to the environment. In order to counter this act, tourists can choose to hike into some places instead of taking buses and something like that. Considering the huge number of tourists, this idea can contribute a lot to the environmental protection. Another way that could help reduce the pollution is to instill in the tourists environmentally friendly awareness. For example, we can organize a type of trip during which the tourists need to replant trees in deforested areas. This is helpful to the environmental protection too.



附录 1: 托福考试实用笔记符号

笔者始终认为,最好的笔记符号,一定是自己可以熟练运用的笔记符号.对于某些学生, 甚至根本不需要记笔记.下面的符号是笔者给出的参考,请同学们酌情使用.

- \rightarrow : go on, continue, last, lead to, cause, result in, make, produce, stretch, develop, to the right
- ←: come from, result from, go back, withdraw, to the left
- 1: go up, increase, rise, raise, get up, arise, evaporate, fly
- ↓: go down, decrease, lower, reduce, decline, fall
- ∵ or b/c; because
- ∴ : so, therefore, thus
- < : smaller than, less than, worse than
- >: larger than, bigger than, greater than, more than, better than
- =: equal, equal to, is
- \neq : not equal, not equal to, is not
- / : or, per
- ? : question
- +: plus, and also, in addition, moreover
- : minus
- ×: times
- ~: about, approximately, probably, more or less
- \$: dollar, money, cost, price
- & : and
- %: percent



@: at

p.: page/paragraph

ft.: foot/feet

ht.: height

wt.: weight

w/: with (something)

w/o: without

w/i: within

i.e.: that is

e.g.: for example, for instance, like, such as

etc.: so on, so forth

esp.: especially

min.: minimum

max.: maximum

govt.: government

asap: as soon as possible

yrs: years

vs.: versus

ans: answer

diff: different, difference

 $^{\circ}$ C : Centigrade

: Fahrenheit

№: number



附录 2: 托福考试实用逻辑词

以下逻辑词在托福的写作考试和口语考试中均可使用.

1、并列/递进

and, plus, furthermore, more than that, also, likewise, moreover, in addition, what is more

2、转折/让步

although, however, on the contrary, in contrast, but, despite, in spite of, nevertheless, nonetheless, notwithstanding, yet, still, otherwise, admittedly, undoubtedly, while, whereas

3、顺序

first, second, third, and so on, and so forth, then, after, before, next, first of all, in the first place, at last, finally

4、因果

as a result, for, thus, because, so, therefore, as, since, consequently, account for, because of, owing to, due to, thank to

5、归纳

as a result, finally, therefore, accordingly, in short, thus, consequently, in conclusion, so, in brief, in a word, in summary, to sum up, in a nutshell

6、举例

for example, for instance, such as, like, take ...for example, take ...as an example, namely

7、程度

absolutely, definitely, adequately, partly, extremely, perfectly, soundly, fairly, poorly, strongly, almost, sufficiently, amazingly, fully, awfully, pretty, very, quite, rather, completely, totally, tremendously, considerably, hugely, incredibly, radically, truly, drastically, intensely, unbelievably, utterly, largely, moderately,



enormously, remarkably, virtually, significantly, nearly, exceedingly, simply, extensively

8、比较/对比

on the contrary, conversely, in contrast, likewise, unlike, on the one hand/on the other hand, instead, rather than, while, whereas, nevertheless

9、个人观点

as far as I am concerned, personally, for me, in my opinion, from my perspective, from my angle, as for me, to my knowledge, in my mind

10、无实意插入语

All I'm trying to say is...

To put it another way...

It would be more accurate if I say it like this...

So in a word…

Anyway, it's actually...



附录 3: 英语学习材料推荐

以下是一些在笔者自己学习英语过程中所使用到的非常有价值的材料,在此提供给同学们参考.

阅读写作:

Time http://www.time.com/time/

The Economist http://www.economist.com/

NY Times http://www.nytimes.com/

China Daily http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/

Beijing Review http://www.bjreview.com.cn/

The New Yorker http://www.newyorker.com/

Miller Center http://millercenter.org/scripps

听力口语:

VOA Special

VOA Standard

NPR http://www.npr.org/

Six Seconds Science http://www.scientificamerican.com/podcast/podcasts.cfm?id=60-second-science

CNN http://edition.cnn.com/

Debatabase http://www.idebate.org/index.php

Academic Earth http://www.academicearth.org/

TED http://www.ted.com/

American Rhetoric http://www.americanrhetoric.com/



新浪公开课 http://open.sina.com.cn/

美剧电影:

Boston Legal

The West Wing

Desperate Housewives

Grey's Anatomy

House

How I Met You Mother

Friends

Criminal Minds

The Apprentice

American Idol

Super Size Me

An Inconvenient Truth

Forrest Gump

The Shawshank Redemption



后记(一)

幸福的人生

从美国回到中国之后我便加入了啄木鸟教育,除了日常的教学,教研,以及管理工作,我也有幸参与到了一系列的招聘工作中.每次有机会跟职场新人们分享自己的求职路时,我都不知该从何说起.作为一个没有太多国内求职经历的人,也许我没有资格去告诉大家如何选择自己的工作,如何选择自己今后的生活.但我往往会告诉他们,无论你们处在人生中的哪一个阶段,无论你们的能力有多强多弱,也无论你们的经验是否丰富,你们都应该将一个巨大的标准放在自己的心中,你必须努力让自己过一个幸福的人生. You gotta live happily.如何才能过上一个幸福的人生呢,我认为有三个简单的标准:

第一,你必须做你热爱的事. You gotta do what you love. 苹果的创始人乔布斯说过,一定要追随你的心. 人的一生非常短暂,不要浪费时间去做一些你不喜欢的事情. 在生活中,我看到了太多太多的人,为了经济上的利益,放弃了自己的梦想. 很多很多的学生,为了能够在毕业之后找到一个高薪的工作,选择去念自己根本没有兴趣的专业. 我曾经有一个学生,从小酷爱绘画,而且极具天赋. 在她小学毕业的时候,已经拿了不少的大奖. 她的作品,是那种能够触及人心灵最深处的作品. 然而,在她申请去美国大学念书的时候,她的家人却希望她念金融专业,因为金融专业的毕业生能够有更大的机会在毕业后进入像投资银行和管理咨询这样的高薪职业. 但是他的爸爸妈妈可曾想过,也许金钱并不是对自己女儿最重要的东西.一个人可以为自己热爱的事业奋斗一生,是一种巨大的幸福. 让我庆幸的是,女孩儿的父母最终同意她申请艺术类院校. 现在孩子已经大学三年级,即将毕业. 我坚信她会有一个美好的未来.

第二,你必须做你擅长的事. You gotta do what you are good at. 我的好友猴哥曾经说过,一个人的幸福感来源于他能经过自己的努力,做成一件他原本做不到的事情. 记得以前看到过一句美特斯邦威的广告词:每个人都有自己的舞台.一个人如果想要有所成,最终得到幸福,就必须找到属于自己的舞台.并不是每一个人都适合做每一种事,也不是每一个学生,都适合每一个专业.只有当你在做一件你擅长的事情的时候,你才有最大的机会把它做好.我经常跟我的朋友和学生开玩笑,说我是一个从小数理化都很糟糕的学生.也正因为这样,我并不是一个在中国教育体制下的"好学生".但当我到了美国,能够学习语言,文化,



交流,意识形态等相关领域的知识时,我突然发现自己如鱼得水.也正因为这样,我才能让自己的人生,有了现在的一丁点精彩.

第三,你必须为社会创造价值. You gotta create value for the society. 我们生活在这个社会,这个国家里,就有义务为他们创造价值. 如果一个人做的事情本身是没有为社会创造价值的,那就算他能挣到再多的钱,他也不能让自己真正的幸福. 我的父母,朋友,甚至我的学生,都经常问我: 你为什么要进入教育行业,为什么要做一个老师呢? 我往往会告诉他们,首先我喜欢教育,其次我擅长教育(正好印证了上面我提到的两点),最重要的是,我在为这个社会的未来服务,我能通过自己现在的努力,让这个世界在不久的将来变成一个更好的地方. 教育是一个伟大的行业,不,应该说是一个伟大的事业. 能够为这样一个伟大的事业工作,是我的巨大荣幸. 每当我看到学生拿到优秀的分数,进入优秀的美国大学继续他们的教育之旅时,心中产生的那种巨大的幸福感,是其他任何事情都没有办法提供给我的.也正是因为这个原因,我进入了教育行业,并已经准备好,为它奉献自己的一生. 我也希望我的学生们,能够找到一个充满意义的事业,并为之付出自己的一生.

做你所爱,做你所长,为社会创造价值-过一个幸福的人生,就这么简单.



后记(二)

Stay True to Yourself & Learn to Let Go of Things

我在宾大念书的时候上过一门政府学院的课,叫做 Public Speaking. 基本上这是一门教你怎样做公众演讲的课,因为觉得自己以后的工作会有很多地方需要这些技巧,我便注册了这门课程.一个学期下来,发现这是一门非常有意思的课,教授没有给我们布置任何的written assignment,但是每周会给我们一个不同的主题或者情景,让我们做一个演讲.下面这篇是在那门课上我的最后一个演讲的演讲稿,题目类型是 inspirational speech. 我的题目是 Stay True to Yourself & Learn to Let Go of Things,这也是我在过去几年中学到的很多重要的事情中的两件,在这里与大家分享.(因为文章是演讲稿,所以并没有使用书面语言,因此词汇和句型的使用会稍显随便.)

Good evening guys.

My life here in the US has left me with some amazing memories. I really wanted to share all of them with you. But I knew that I wasn't gonna have enough time to do that. So I've been struggling with what I wanted to say. Myriads of topics popped up in my mind, like my study here at Penn, the friends I made here in Philly, my internship experience at ETS, and my current job in the PCCW program. These are all great experiences, but none of these topics really stands out as a satisfactory choice for me at this particular moment. Fortunately, I got the answer when I was waiting for my lunch in front of a food truck. Instead of talking about my actual life here at Penn, maybe it's better for me to share with you some extremely valuable lessons that I have learned in the past few years, both at Penn and in China. So here, I'm just gonna talk about two crucially important lessons that I believe would benefit me tremendously in my future life: First, stay true to yourself. Second, learn to let go of things.

Stay true to yourself. When I was back in China, I wasn't really a so-called good student. In high school, I was terrible at Mathematics and Physics, which



later resulted in the fact that I didn't get the opportunity to study in those great universities in China like Tsinghua or Peking University. Thanks to my Mom, who literally forced me to study English when I was very young, my English was a little better than most of my peers in China. And it won me a lot of stuff like a job in New Oriental School - the best private language training institution in China, an exchange program in Hong Kong University, and a pretty decent score in TOEFL. Then I came to Penn. I did struggle a little bit when I was trying to pick a program for myself. Some of my friends were going to engineering programs because it's very easy for them to get a job after graduation. Some of them were going to study finance or management because they knew that investment bankers and consultants were making a lot of money. But not many people chose education. Come on, let's face it, educators just don't make much money. Of course I know that, and I know it probably better than many people since I have worked in the education industry before. I finally made this decision not because I was determined to be some kind of reformer who's gonna be dedicated to saving the education in China, not because education master program has a relatively higher acceptance rate than many other programs do, not because I could get more access to gorgeous girls because education schools are full of them. I made this decision because I knew I was good at it, I was comfortable with it, and most importantly, I enjoyed doing what I do. The program is about to end. I got a nice job here at Penn, and later a nice job in Beijing. I know I did the right thing. What's the trick here? Stay true to yourself.

I'll be working in the education consulting business after I graduate. More specifically, I'll be offering advice to students who are interested in pursuing an education abroad. Actually I have already started doing things like that since I got the offer from Penn. Whenever I was talking with my students, or clients, I would try to find out what are the things that they really like, what are the things that they are passionate about, and what are the things that they believe they are intoxicated in, and can really delve themselves into. Unfortunately, a majority of them, both those high school kids who were hoping to go to colleges abroad and those undergrads who wanna get a master's degree or a PhD, had no idea what the heck they wanted. Many of them made their choices under the influence from others, such as their parents and peers. "My dad is lawyer, so he wants me to go to law school." "My friend told

I said, stay true to yourself.



me it's easy to find a job if I study computer science, so I guess I should do that." "You see those investment bankers? Their salaries are crazy, I'm just gonna study finance." These are the things that I often hear. It just doesn't make any sense to me. You are living for yourself, not for others. You gotta make your own decision, and go for it. The best way, and probably the only way to be phenomenal in what you do, is to do things that you really love doing. All the other things are secondary. Like

Learn to let go of things. Believe it or not, I am an extremely typical Virgo person. I mean, I' m one of those, like some people put, incredibly detail-oriented pessimistic perfectionists. Since I was a little kid, I' ve always been trying to make everything right. For example, I' ve always tried to live up to my parents' expectations. When my mom wanted me to study singing, I did it. When she wanted me to study playing soccer, I did it. When she wanted me to study English, I did it again. I tried really hard to do everything well. But I just couldn't, because I just didn't have enough time and energy to handle everything. I've always tried to be a good student. In high school, when I was studying mathematics, I couldn't help thinking about the assignments from my physics teacher. When I was in physics class, I couldn't help starting to memorize English vocabularies. Even when I was taking the mathematics exam in Gaokao, the college entrance examination in China, I was worried about the English exam later. You could imagine the result - yep, I totally screwed it up. After I got into college, I kept my tradition. But it started to help me. Simply because I was a perfectionist, I couldn't allow myself to make any mistake in every single one of my assignments. I was always meticulous in the tasks assigned by my professors. And because of that, they all liked me a lot. Nevertheless, I wasn't happy. In order to make everything right, I had to invest a huge amount of time in it. Consequently, I lost an enormous amount of time that could otherwise be spent with my families and friends. I still remember the time when I locked myself in my bedroom, preparing for those stupid tests. If I could do it all over again, I would just get the heck out of there, and enjoy the precious time with my parents and friends. I wish I could have that back.

After I came to Penn, I finally started to give up things that are of minor



importance. For instance, I skipped classes to attend some wonderful lectures. I didn't do my homework because I was enjoying the magnificent beauty of cherry blossom in Washington D.C. I missed the annual career fair because I was eager to see my girlfriend and our little puppy. I have to admit that I was a little frustrated sometimes because I couldn't get the most out of everything. But I gradually started to realize that as people, we just couldn't be perfect. We just have to make choices throughout our entire lives. There are things that we need to hold on to really tightly no matter what happens, but there are also things that we should just let go of. So, whenever you're facing a dilemma, tell yourself that you can't have all, just go ahead and pick the ones that you think are more important to you, never look back. British social reformer Havelock Ellis once said, all the art of living lies in a fine mingling of letting go and holding on. So, just give yourself a break, learn to let go of things. And that's the key to the happiness of life.

I guess that's pretty much everything I wanna say. Thank you very much for your time.



感谢

感谢我的父亲母亲.是你们为我提供了衣食无忧的生活,为我提供了赴美留学的机会.你们永远都是我最爱的人.

感谢啄木鸟教育的总裁陈起永老师,副总裁程来川(猴哥)老师.是你们为我提供如此 广阔的平台,从而让我能够把知识传播给更多的学生.

感谢一直陪伴在我身边的朋友们.没有你们的支持和影响,我不会成为今天的我.

感谢宾夕法尼亚大学的老师们.是你们为我提供了最好的教育.

感谢我在 ETS 托福项目口语组的导师和同事们: David Rosenfeld, Emily Pooler, Kirk Schillinger, Jennifer Manokian, Catherine O' Hallaron, Gabrielle Gianelli, Margaret Cantrell, Sasha Sharif. It's such an honor working with you guys.



案例分析





案例分析(一)

€ 学生情况

高中学校	加拿大某高中	平均分数GPA	87/100
学校排名	N/A	TOEFL	N/A
SAT I	2050	SAT II	M2:760 P:700

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	有经商头脑,成功创立2家网络公司	GPA偏低,排名在学校相对靠后
2	家族拥有自己的慈善基金会,利用自己的慈善基金会帮助需要帮助的儿童	SAT分数低,不具备名校申请竞争的优势
3	参加了2011年夏季沃顿暑期班	校内外没有任何学术奖项

国 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度	
5	University of Pennsylvania (Wharton) (ED)	

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

该生最初的选择为 Yale University, 经过详细的了解, 啄木鸟顾问认为以他的个人条件更适合冲击沃顿商 学院。挖掘学生的特色与拥有学校录取的方针的经验是成功的关键

学生的家族虽然有自己的慈善基金会,但是实际操作的项目并不多。在啄木鸟的策划下,我们有针对性的 为其基金会选择筹款团体,并尽量展现其基金会的成果

学生在校内学业上并不属优秀范畴,啄木鸟在包装时,尽量让学校了解学生独特的内力,而忽略在校 GPA 和分数带来的弱势



案例分析(二)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内重点中学	平均分数GPA	94/100
学校排名	Top 10% , 年级456人	TOEFL	100
SAT I	1950	SATII	无

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	就读于当地重点高中	托福、SAT成绩一般
2	活跃于学校众多活动,多才多艺,具有歌唱 天赋且从小练习琵琶演奏	活动仅局限于校内,没有特别的重大或者特殊活动经历

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
21	University of California-Berkeley
25	University of California-Los Angeles
37	University of California-San Diego
42	University of Washington
42	University of Wisconsin Madison
45	University of Illinois, Urbana Champaign

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

申请人就读于偏远省份的重点高中、留学准备较晚、托福和SAT都只有一次考试机会。学生和家长最初找 到我们的时候把目标仅定在 50-60 名的学校。在鼓励学生鼓足信心迎战托福、SAT 考试的同时,我们开始认真 挖掘学生的个人特质与以往成就。我们承认这是一位非常积极向上且闪耀着艺术光辉的学生,但在她的活动经 历中并没有看到一些"大场面",活动更多集中于校内并且很多都极具"中国特色",很难让美国人产生认同感。 对此,在时间很紧的情况下,我们并不想特意策划一些与她生活不符的活动,而是从一些日常活动下手,展现 学生内在人格魅力以及深刻的思想。我们选取了她在校合唱团以及心理协会工作的经历,通过一些小事体现学 生美好的内心世界以及出色的社团管理能力。丝毫没有提及取得的成绩、外界的褒奖,仅仅抓住学生内心活动, 展现给美国大学一个勤奋、踏实、热爱文艺热爱生活的少年领导人,最终伯克利从众多超高分学生组成的看似 不能逾越的壁垒后挑中了她。



案例分析(三)

学生情况

高中学校	国内重点中学	平均分数GPA	93
学校排名		TOEFL	110
SAT I	2310	SATII	M2:800 C:760 P:800

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	TOEFL, SAT分数很理想	在来啄木鸟之前几乎没有参加任何活动
2	近10年去过埃及、美国、澳大利亚、新西 兰、新加坡、日本等多个国家	
3	孤儿院志愿者	

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
05	University of Chicago (EA)
23	Carnegie Mellon University

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

这个学生是典型的中国式的好学生,学习成绩非常优异,但凡和学习有关的各项考试和成绩,都非常出色,反之,社会活动则非常匮乏。好在找到啄木鸟的时候一切都还不晚,在我们的建议下,学生参加了名校的夏季课程,取得好成绩的同时也取得了宝贵的学分。于此同时学生对计算机非常感兴趣,我们为其策划和计算机相关的活动,并不但体现了学生在计算机领域的天赋也为申请计算机专业增加专业分量和砝码。我们还为其策划独一无二的社会公益活动,让学生看上去更全面。 这一系列活动在学生优秀的学业的基础上,得到了完美的效果!



案例分析(四)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内重点中学	平均分数GPA	89/100
学校排名		TOEFL	110
SAT I	2190	SATII	M2:800 C:800 P:800

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	校根与芽社团社长,组织领导很多环保相关 活动	在校GPA相对低
2	在家乡受灾地区做慈善事业	无大奖
3	传统文化协会的发起人和领导者	活动需要深化

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
15	Cornell University
23	University of Southern California
25	University of Virginia
25	University of California-Los Angeles
33	New York University
45	UIUC

№ 啄木鸟策划及点评

学生没有竞争力很强的大奖做支持,因此,我们将学生的亮点放在活动挖掘上。学生是根与芽社团的社长,参加了很多环保活动,而经过我们挖掘,决定将活动重点放在其中的一项大型活动 – 百万植树项目。将学生在沙漠地区的亲身感受,与他在大城市的学校中不断的组织宣传相结合,让学生致力于环保的形象跃然纸上。另一方面,学生曾系统接受过中国传统文化教育,而我们建议他不止于个人提高,更要致力于传播中国传统文化,成立中国传统文化协会。更难能可贵的是,学生在家乡受灾时,不仅给予受灾群众物质支持,还利用传统文化,对当地儿童进行心理辅导和安慰,真正做到学以致用,为社会服务。通过整体和系统分析,这样一位致力于为社会、为自然服务的学生,获得了理想大学的青睐。



案例分析(五)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内重点中学	平均分数GPA	90/100
学校排名	NA	TOEFL	110
SAT I	2070	SATII	M2: 800 C: 800 P: 800

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	联合国实习经历	无大奖
2	知名高中, 学习成绩好	活动少
3	班级拍电影	标准化考试分数不高
4	兴趣爱好广泛, 会京剧, 滑雪, 滑冰等	

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
5	Middlebury College
25	University of Virginia

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

我们结合学生特点和家长资源,为学生设计出独特的实习经历。学生欲学习环保专业,而她独特的联合国 实习经历,也为她的活动增重不少。从此点出发,我们指导学生在环保领域做强。除了受家庭环境的影响,平 时学习对此领域的积累,还建议学生在国内相关专家的指导下,做调查研究。学生在写申请文书时,向学校统 一传达了一个强烈的声音: 我热爱环保,并且在此领域有深度研究,将来也将献身此事业。同时,学生擅长中 国国粹一京剧,据此,我们建议学生参加京剧社,并参加一系列活动。学生成功获得排名前10文理学院的录取。



案例分析(六)

€ 学生情况

高中学校	国内重点中学	平均分数GPA	93
学校排名	NA	TOEFL	101
SAT I	2220	SATII	M2: 800 C: 770

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	GPA 不错	TOEFL 分数对于申请TOP 20 名校, 竞争力 欠缺。
2	SATI 分数较有竞争力	课外活动多而杂,但是出类拔萃的几乎没有。 兴趣爱好涉猎较泛,但是均没达到出色水平。 客户无法挖掘出自己的特色。

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
20	Emory University
21	University of California-Berkeley
25	University of California-Los Angeles
37	University of California-San Diego
38	University of California-Davis
45	University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

鉴于学生的劣势,即课外活动深度欠缺,且爱好泛而浅的缺点,经过和学生多次沟通后,为学生策划了某 爱心活动,体现了学生的领导力,责任感,和资源整合能力。同时,为了体现学生的多样性和对爱好的一贯坚持, 指导学生构思了一篇美文,将自己的爱好给予展现,并影射出学生的无限潜力。文书构思完成后,曾经为文书 素材深感挫败的学牛本人,表示极其满意。录取结果也表明,好的文书对于名校申请确实能锦上添花。



案例分析(七)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内普通中学	平均分数GPA	94/100
学校排名		TOEFL	108
SAT I	2100	SATII	M2:780 P: 780

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	曾在国际知名投资银行做实习生,参与投资项目	高中知名度一般
2	学生会主席, 多次在学校活动中展露风采	托福、SAT对于冲击美国前20的名校并没 有绝对优势
3	经营自己的小公司,从初中开始进行商业尝试	虽尝试开展商业活动,却没有形成规模, 且活动的社会意义很小

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
10	Duke University
15	Brown University
15	Cornell University

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

申请人从小对商业感兴趣,并从初中开展自己的商业经营,但活动大多很散乱,并没有形成一定规模,也 没有深刻的社会意义。申请人在找到啄木鸟的最初虽然对自己的活动经历很自豪,但却感到无从入手,很难找 出一个亮点可以让自己从众多优秀申请者中脱颖而出。啄木鸟经验丰富的申请顾问提出两个建议:一是建议申 请人结合自己在知名投行的实习经历,应用商业管理知识,切实地去解决家族企业经营上的问题,并总结成果, 二是增加商业实践的社会意义,帮助弱势群体并带动周围人以扩大影响力。申请人在听取我们建议后开始了不 懈的尝试,终于在多次经历挫败后收获了满满的感受与心得。当我们把这些充满起伏却又洋溢着乐观、坚定与 智慧的小故事展现给评审委员会后,申请人如愿以偿,赢得了杜克、布朗、康奈尔大学的垂青。



案例分析(八)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内普通中学	平均分数GPA	95/100
学校排名		TOEFL	98
SAT I	无	SAT II	无

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	中国首个中学生红十字志愿者组织发起人及 创办者	没有SAT成绩,只有托福,且托福分数不高
2	创办中学生模拟咨询公司	学术方面的奖项与活动几乎为零

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
21	Bates College (ED2)
42	University of Washington
45	Penn State University-University Park
47	Dickinson College
53	Wabash College \$15000/yr

☞木鸟策划及点评

托福 98 分单刀成功闯进前 20 的名校,实属一个天大的惊喜! 学生来啄木鸟的时候已经是 9 月下旬,各项考试准备毫无头绪,申请材料和活动也是杂乱无章。之所以能脱颖而出,在于三方面: 1. 直面无 SAT 软肋,选校得当。对于一个来不及准备 SAT 的学生来说,细致筛选对 SAT 没有明确要求的学校是必做功课。尽管部分名校对托福要求远高出学生分数,但啄木鸟在选校上给客户拉开了高中低的距离, 2. 申请时间的精准把握。啄木鸟建议学生申请了 Dickinson 的提前批,为将来的冲刺铺好了后路,并在 ED2 的时候就锁定了 Bates College,虽然 ED2 的结果是 defer,但积极对学校作出了回应最终 RD 获得了录取; 3. 文书与活动的深度挖掘。学生与啄木鸟顾问讲述活动前后花了两天的时间,其实绕来绕去都是同一件事情,欠缺逻辑,主题也不鲜明,在啄木鸟顾问的精心梳理下,将学生的亮点进行了归类,使申请文书立意鲜明,并帮助学生策划了活动小册子。



案例分析(九)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内重点高中	平均分数GPA	95
学校排名		TOEFL	109
SAT I	2190	SATII	M2:800 C: 800 P: 800

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	名校在读并且成绩突出	没有国际活动经历
2	参与北大化学研究项目,并发表论文	
3	数理化多次获得国家、市级竞赛奖项,发明 "电梯分配程序"获得国家专利发明	

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度	
4	Columbia University (ED)	

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

申请人成绩优异,可对于冲击美国名校并没有十足的把握。啄木鸟经验丰富的申请顾问首先肯定了学生的 优秀个人素质,鼓励学生要有信心接受挑战并把个人长处以独特的方式展现给录取委员会。申请顾问在和学生 仔细回顾了他以往活动经历后,选取了最具特色也是最具优势的三个方面作为文书选题。最终呈现给大学录取 委员会一个富有强烈社会责任感、多才多艺、善于观察生活并运用智慧解决生活难题、以及具有卓越领导力的 优秀青年。不出预料, 哥伦比亚大学的 FU FOUNDATION 工程学院向申请人展露了微笑。



案例分析(十)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内重点中学	平均分数GPA	90
学校排名	NA	TOEFL	107
SAT I	2080	SAT II	M2: 800 C: 750 P: 800

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	高中所在学校为重点高中	SAT分数不占优势
2	有一个关于藏药的研究特别新颖,还有多项 物理化学研究,研究活动比较丰富	
3	高中时获奖较多	

■ 申请结果

排名	录取学校名称及奖学金额度
10	Duke University
21	University of California-Berkeley
23	Carnegie Mellon University
33	New York University
35	University of Rochester, 每年9000美金奖学金

№ 啄木鸟策划及点评

学生担任学生干部,组织的活动非常多,但级别不够,也没有独特吸引眼球的地方。所以在题材的选择上 我们选择了学生最有特色的一个活动:藏药研究。在材料上我们尤为注重的是文书的完整性,不单只是在文书 中体现学生对藏药研究的来龙去脉,还配合了所跟导师的推荐信作为附加材料。在简历中也用了部分笔墨来罗 列研究中具体的几次方案和实验, 使得这个活动看起来特别的真实生动。

针对于目前美国高校认为许多中国学生活动文书作假的情况,我想说编造文书不可取,当一篇文书不足以 说明你此项活动的时候可以配合其他材料弥补。



案例分析(十一)

● 学生情况

高中学校	省重点高中	平均分数GPA	95/100
学校排名	Top 5%	TOEFL	111
SAT I	2200	SATII	Math2: 800 Physics:800 Chemistry:800

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	全国科技创新大赛一等奖	除创新大赛之外,其他活动级别不够
2	TOEFL和SAT分数有竞争力	学生本人对申请文书的亮点把握不准

■ 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
6	University of Pennsylvania	宾夕法尼亚大学
9	Duke University	杜克大学
17	Rice University	莱斯大学
22	University of California, Berkeley	加州大学伯克利分校
23	Carnegie Mellon University	卡耐基梅隆大学
23	University of Southern California	南加州大学
25	UCLA	加州大学洛杉矶分校
29	University of Michigan, Ann Arbor	密歇根大学安娜堡分校

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

该学生在课外科研方面取得了令人瞩目的成绩,我们又进一步策划了利用其科技成果造福母校的方案;虽然学生也担任学生干部,组织的活动也比较多,但是活动级别不够,也没有独特的吸引眼球的地方,因为参与的模联活动的级别不高,我们又推荐其参加在美国举办的国际级别的全球青少年领袖峰会 GYLC 活动;最后,策划了个性化的慈善活动。

我们预测学生会得到前 10 名最低前 15 名的录取,但在提前申请斯坦福大学失利后,学生开始怀疑自己,欲推翻原有申请方案重来,被我们极力劝阻。最后的宾大和杜克的录取,证明了我们的判断。

借此案例的机会,我想象中国的学子和家长传递一个信息: 当两所顶尖大学排名接近时,比如斯坦福和宾大,你被任何一所录取都可以证明你是极其优秀的,而最终结果甚至还带有一定程度的偶然性。如果有一个同样的学生,他被宾大拒了但被斯坦福录取也是完全有可能和正常的。



案例分析(十二)

② 学生情况

高中学校	加拿大公立高中	平均分数GPA	89/100
学校排名	Top 10%	TOEFL	101
SAT I	1840	SAT II	无

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	09年开始在加拿大高中就读,在校成绩优秀	学生的SAT不占优势
2	学校漫画部创建人	学生没有学术奖项
3		学生在活动方面,尤其长期从事的活动有欠缺

国 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
23	University of Southern California	南加州大学
41	University of Washington-Seattle	华盛顿大学
47	University of Wisconsin-Madison	威斯康辛大学
47	Penn State University	宾州州立大学

№ 啄木鸟策划及点评

学生的活动不多,更没有学术奖项,但是该学生是新疆长大的,父亲工作于国内石油企业,所以我们根据学生背景来策划具有地域特色的活动,如多民族文化交流活动,以及帮助当地吸毒青少年重拾生活信心。考虑受到父亲的企业管理氛围的熏陶,我们指导学生在申请材料里显现出极大的国际思维和领导能力的潜力,相信这种潜力也是大学录取委员会所感受到的。



案例分析(十三)

(■) 学生情况

高中学校	国内重点高中	平均分数GPA	90/ 100
学校排名	Top 10%	TOEFL	113
SAT I	2160	SAT II	Math2: 760 Physics: 780 Chemistry: 770

	学生优势	学生劣势
1	对中国某少数民族文化研究深入,成为对该领域研究的最年轻研究员,相关论文也已发表	作为文科学生,学生一直担忧自己缺少竞赛奖项
2	在中国某偏远地区捐赠图书	对自身亮点,以及文书题材选取不佳
3	托福成绩优秀, SAT 1的成绩也不低	有很好的课外活动和经历,但是不懂如何百尺 竿头更进一步,不知道怎样会把某项活动做到 极致从而为申请增加极大竞争力。

■ 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
4	Stanford University	斯坦福大学
10	Duke University	杜克大学
15	Cornell University	康奈尔大学
8	Carleton College	卡尔顿学院
11	Vassar College	瓦萨学院
24	University of California-Los Angeles	加州大学洛杉矶分校
34	Boston College	波士顿学院
42	University of California-Davis	加州大学戴维斯分校
42	Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute	伦斯勒理工学院



🥻 啄木鸟策划及点评

学生初期接受海外顾问的指导,但是海外顾问不太懂中国文化,对学生的亮点挖掘和策划方面做得不足。 啄木鸟建议该学生,放弃一些比较常见的亮点,转而挖掘和策划自身独特的背景和经历。

学生虽有在边远地区做义工的经历,但是除了爱心之外,并不能反映该学生的额外能力和潜力,因此这样 一个经历如果不挖掘策划,就被极大弱化了,最终变成与绝大多数义工经历一样,没有独特性。鉴于此,啄木 鸟指导学生在该地区发起某一独特项目,并与其他志愿者活动和学生自身特长相结合。

学生是少数民族,本身就是个特色,并且对自己民族文化研究颇深,自身又非常优秀,还真正的做了大量 的义工,很有意义,社会责任感极强。然而,学生初期却没有把这个亮点作为文书写作素材,海外顾问也未能 给出建议,幸运的是最终听了啄木鸟 VIP 升学顾问的建议后顿然醒悟。

申请临近截止之时,该学生面临二选一的抉择:是参加最后一次SAT1考试去提高分数,还是放弃SAT1 考试去参加一个同期举行的由啄木鸟策划的有关少数民族文化的活动?该学生又一次听取了啄木鸟 VIP 升学顾 问的建议,放弃最后一次 SAT1 考试而参加了该项活动。在斯坦福大学和杜克大学的录取信中,录取官手写了 一段话,表达了对该项活动的赞许。



案例分析(十四)

● 学生情况

高中名称	国内重点高中		
平均分数	92/100	学校排名	10%
TOEFL	106	IELTS	
SAT I	2060	SAT II	Math2: 770 US History: 630

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	擅长写作,散文获得冰心文学金奖	想冲刺前10的名校,但TOEFL和SAT成绩相 对普通
2	校刊副主编	活动在啄木鸟策划前几乎没有
3	校报记者	

国 申请结果

排名	1	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
4		Wellesley College	卫尔斯利学院(女校)(提前录取)

№ 啄木鸟策划及点评

学生写作能力强,获得过奖项,但是最吸引我们的还是冰心文学奖。冰心是学生的偶像,而 Wellesley College 这个冰心的母校,也是学生梦想的大学。

如何能帮学生进入理想的大学?啄木鸟顾问团队花了很长时间了解和策划学生的材料。为学生策划更有砝码的活动突出学生的特长,展现学生的爱心和领导力,让学校了解学生更多特质。

在您的身边我相信经常会发生这样的事情,看似平庸的学生走进了美国的名校,而公认的"牛人"却没有 offer 或是拿到不如人意的 offer, 大家在质问为什么的同时是否曾想过"你是否真的展现了你的特质?你是否真正了解美国名校到底需要什么?你的文书包装,选校是否合理?" 这都是可能导致"牛人"瞬间滑落的原因。



案例分析(十五)

● 学生情况

高中名称	国内普通高中		
平均分数	92/100	学校排名	10%
TOEFL	85		
SAT I	1760	SATI	Math2: 800 Physics: 780 Chemistry: 800

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	对生物有优势	TOEFL, SAT成绩偏低
2	写作有特长,发表文章较多	缺少公益性课外活动

■ 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
18	Grinnell College	格林内尔学院
39	University of California–Santa Barbara	加州大学圣塔芭芭拉分校
39	University of California-Davis	加州大学戴维斯分校
41	University of Washington	华盛顿大学
56	Purdue University-West Lafayette	普渡大学西拉法叶校区
56	University of Georgia	乔治亚大学

№ 啄木鸟策划及点评

学生和很多中国学生相反,是一个很典型的课外强但分数不高的同学。刚接触学生时,学生的托福只有 40 多分,赛达更是 1500 左右。经过几次考试成绩不理想的打击,学生越来越焦虑,家长越来越焦急。

啄木鸟并没有在这时放弃学生的想法,而是不断地鼓励给他自信,一次又一次帮他分析失败的原因。同时 我凭着长期的经验和些许灵感,坚定地告诉学生"你一定能进前 20 名的大学"。

在活动方面,学生虽然在竞赛,写作和艺术才能方面都有自己的优势,但是他缺少了美国大学最重视的"如何用自己的力量回报社会"。

为此我们根据学生的特色为他打造了独特的"公益活动"。对比该案例以低分创造的奇迹和其他高分牛人被格林内尔学院拒绝的事实,我们更加相信,名校要考察的绝不仅仅是学生的分数。



案例分析(十六)

学生情况

高中学校	国内重点高中	平均分数GPA	90/ 100
学校排名	Top 20%	TOEFL	107
SAT I	2080	SAT II	Math2: 800 Physics: 800 Chemistry:740

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	高一高二暑期分别在世界五百强企业做实习	学生的SAT想申请美国前十名的大学不占优势
2	北京高中生英语竞赛一等奖	学生的奖项想申请美国前十名的大学略显不足
3	青少年基金会组织的摄影比赛最佳摄影	学生在活动方面,尤其公益活动方面欠缺事例

申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
4	Stanford University	斯坦福大学
10	Duke University	杜克大学
24	University of California-Los Angeles	加州大学洛杉矶分校
27	University of Michigan-Ann Arbor	密歇根大学

🤼 啄木鸟策划及点评

学生的活动不多,更没有特别的奖项,单看其现有条件,并没有实力去冲刺前十名大美国大学。学生最初的冲刺目标是 十五名左右的美国大学,即使如此啄木鸟的 VIP 升学顾问也告诉学生,这样的目标也是不容易实现的,因此还要"补课"。

除了学生本身在 TOEFL 和 SAT 方面的能力之外,还要进行课外活动的"补课"。在初次咨询以后,家长立即飞赴几千 公里之外进行实力考察,我们为其在5个项目中挑选了2个项目,让学生参加。在第三次沟通后,最终方案才敲定,此时, 不论是啄木鸟的 VIP 升学顾问,还是家长和学生,都激动不已。此时,我们认为学生若能顺利完成这 2 个项目,完全拥有冲 击名校的砝码。此时,啄木鸟 VIP 升学顾问建议学生"你可以冲刺前十的大学了,比如斯坦福大学",学生和家长几乎是大 惊失色,认为那是不可能的,但禁不起名校诱惑听取了啄木鸟的意见。

果然不出我们所料,学生被提前录取之后,斯坦福录取委员负责中国地区的录取委员来信说:"我认真地阅读并评估了 你的申请,我深深地被你为 XX 地区做出的贡献所感动。你的能力真的让我惊讶,让我迫不及待的想见到你的本人。'

此案例中,家长的参与程度不多不少,堪称楷模;全盘插手和不闻不问都不是正确的家长参与态度。学生原本没有机会 展示自己的组织领导能力,但在此项目总,其表现出的能力不亚于任何一位学生会主席或其他突出的学生领袖。如果学生把 后面的时间花在提高 TOEFL 和 SAT 方面,即使 TOEFL 达到 115,SAT 达到 2300,也无法取得这样的申请结果,因为具有 这样高分的七八位同校同学,在提前录取中都被斯坦福拒了。因此,当我看到某位 SAT I 已经取得 2300 的同学于 2010 年 5 月再次飞临香港, "争取考到 2350"的时候, 我不禁哑然失笑了。



案例分析(十七)

● 学生情况

高中名称	国内重点高中		
平均分数	92/100	学校排名	10%
TOEFL	103		
SAT I	2100	SATI	Math2: 800 Physics: 660

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	模联社社长	心理状态不好,前一年某机构帮助申请很失败
2	擅长运动,国家三级运动员	要申请奖学金,增加了申请难度
3	能歌善舞	SAT和TOEFL对于申奖来说没有优势

■ 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称	奖学金
8	Carleton College	卡尔顿学院	\$17,000/yr
51	Tulane University	杜兰大学	\$25,000/yr

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

第一次接触学生和家长时,顾问就发现了他们都具有典型的"GAP YEAR"综合症。学生 09 年选择另一 家留学机构帮她申请但是全部失败,所以心理状态不稳。在美国对于"GAP YEAR"的学生来说是很常见的, 大家可能选择高中毕业后的那年去做自己喜欢的事情, 比如打工, 旅游。"GAP" 并不可怕, 可怕的是你在"GAP" 的时候却没有事情做,告诉不了美国大学这一年你发生了什么变化,做了什么有意义的事情。所以在中国,如 果学生和家长遇到了这样的问题都会觉得这是世界末日的来临,周围的人会投来异样的眼光。正是因为这样的 环境,致使了我们的家长和学生在重新申请时会出现大量情绪的起伏:烦躁,易怒,不确定,没信心。家长告 诉我,他们对孩子很愧疚,因为去年是家长选择了不合适的机构导致了孩子命运的转变。孩子告诉我,她要尽 快离开这个家,她不想每天面对叹气,烦躁和争吵。 这个案例的成功,不仅仅做到的是帮助学生申请到更好的 名校, 更重要的是拯救了一个家庭。

我一边认真分析学生第一年失败的原因,一边为客户策划"GAP YEAR"的活动,重新选校,合理搭配奖学金。 当接到前 10 名的大学录取信和奖学金时,家长第一时间并没有打电话给孩子,而是打电话给我和其他顾问老师。 当我出差归来时,第一眼看到的是办公桌上放着的一束鲜花和一张家长的感谢贺卡。



案例分析(十八)

● 学生情况

高中名称	国内重点高中		
平均分数	91/100	学校排名	5%
TOEFL	105		
SAT I	1990	SAT II	Math2: 800 Physics: 760

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	一年的美国留学交换生经历	SAT成绩不理想
2	参加美国校足球队,参加16场比赛	缺少公益活动
3	市化学竞赛奖项	

■ 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
15	Brown University	布朗大学 (ED)



🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

客户刚咨询啄木鸟的顾问时,赛达只有 1820。为了达到客户能进前 20 的目标,我们一步步帮她规划学习和 活动。对于学习,我们找到了满分培训部的老师为其分析原因,规划学习时间,讲解学习方法,并不断给学生 修改作文,指出语法问题。一个月的时间,学生成绩提高近200分。

在活动上,我们根据学生的特点为其打造有力的公益活动,为她的申请包装锦上添花。面对提前批布朗的 录取,啄木鸟的独特的培训和留学规划方法又一次创造了奇迹。



案例分析(十九)

● 学生情况

高中名称	国内普通高中		
平均分数	94/100	学校排名	10%
TOEFL	91		
SAT I	1900	SAT II	Math2: 790 Physics: 730

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	参加过全球青少年领袖峰会GYLC	学生无论TOEFL还是SAT想申请美国名校都 不占优势
2	组织校内捐款	学生所在的高中没有任何提供竞赛获奖的机会
3	为传统文化出自己的一份力	对自己没有自信

💷 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
12	Wesleyan University	卫斯理大学
25	University of California-Los Angeles	加州大学洛杉矶分校
35	University of California-San Diego	加州大学圣地亚哥分校
39	University of California–Santa Barbara	加州大学圣塔芭芭拉分校
39	University of California-Davis	加州大学戴维斯分校
41	Case Western Reserve University	凯斯西储大学
47	University of Illinois, Urbana Champaign	伊利诺伊大学—香槟分校

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

当拿到 Wesleyan University 大学录取时,孩子的母亲在电话那边泣不成声。孩子母亲不断地说谢谢,谢 谢你们,谢谢啄木鸟,我相信这是此时最能表达她心声的语言了。依稀记得她们签约时对顾问说的话: "争取 帮我们进入前50吧,这是我们全家人的梦想。

经过和孩子不断的沟通,我们发现孩子身上很多小故事都可以作为文书的素材。有时家长和学生认为很小 不值得一提的事情,往往是学校欣赏的才能。亮点寻找过后,我们开始为学生策划与传统文化相关的个性化活动, 然后根据学生的情况选择合适的学校。看到选校时,孩子和孩子母亲不断地重复问我: "老师,您觉得我能上吗? 那么好的学校怎么会要我呢?" 耐心地为客户讲解去年的成功案例,不间断地为客户鼓舞后,我相信客户得到 的不只是惊喜和美好的四年,更重要的是对自己未来的信心。



案例分析(二十)

● 学生情况

高中学校	国内普通中学	平均分数GPA	93
学校排名	Top 10%	TOEFL	104
SAT I	2080	SAT II	Math 2: 800 Physics: 800 Spanish: 500

	学生主要优势	学生主要劣势
1	美国高中交换经历。	TOEFL和SAT对于冲击常青藤名校并无优势
2	理科成绩突出,有重要奖项。	接受啄木鸟策划前,没有令人印象深刻的活动。
3	热衷公益活动。	

■ 申请结果

排名	大学英文名称	大学中文名称
15	Brown University	布朗大学 (ED)

🧸 啄木鸟策划及点评

该学生没有特别的课外活动。在与学生充分的沟通下,啄木鸟顾问了解到学生在美国交换生期间的义工活 动中曾引导和帮助过自闭症儿童骑马,所以指导了学生将这件事作为亮点来深入地挖掘。

同时,啄木鸟顾问启发学生用父亲从事桥梁工作的事例,逐一从"搭桥"的视角来写为什么自己想学习心 理学的专业文书, 最终学生成功获得布朗大学的录取!

另外,啄木鸟顾问根据布朗大学学风活泼的特性,重点突出了学生戏剧表演获奖的事迹,以及作为领导人 创办社团的过程, 让学生的申请材料显得丰富多彩。该生接到布朗大学面试通知后曾犹豫是参加, 在啄木鸟顾 问的鼓励下学生克服了顾虑和紧张,并接受了啄木鸟精心的面试辅导,最终顺利地拿到布朗大学的录取。



免费领书

领取以下所有托福、SAT 书籍

领取方式:

方式一: 登录满分网, www.manfen.net 首页, 点击"免费赠送", 留下邮寄地址, 啄木鸟邮寄给您。

方式二: 以下城市上门自取。

北京	地址:海淀区丹棱街甲一号欧美汇购物中心四层	电话: 010-82484566
上海	地址:上海市静安区南京西路555号555商厦413室	电话: 021-52135109
沈阳	地址: 沈阳市沈河区北京街51号 银河国际大厦A座1206室	电话: 024-86251368
深圳	地址:深圳市福田区华强北路4002号圣廷苑酒店B座12层	电话: 0755-82076505
南京	地址:南京市太平南路1号新世纪广场A座1910室	电话: 025-66778760
武汉	地址: 武汉市武昌区武珞路628号亚贸广场A座2202室	电话: 027-87873006
广州	地址:广州市天河北路183号大都会广场703室	电话: 020-22829243
西安	地址: 西安市西高新开发区高新路86号领先时代广场B座19楼	电话: 029-68905979











400-888-0059

同等分数 更好结果

精英计划 帮助你满足名校"胃口"!

你是初三至高二的在读生吗? 你在备战TOEJL和SAT考试吗? 你想顺利拿到美国名校的OJJER吗?

T美国名校"精英计划"

~~~ 精确起点·梦想终点 >>>>

### 

给你一个结果——美国名校 给你两个分数——SAT和TOEFL成绩

给你八大学术能力——词汇、语法、阅读、写作、听力、口语、数学、逻辑 给你策划申请大学所需要的活动;给你综合素质的提高

> 给你一套高效学习方法 给你一个愉快的2-4年学习体验



**€**82484566 美国留学解决方案引领者

010-82484566

# 常春藤种子计划!

### 啄木鸟常春藤种子计划奖学金



- 1.啄木鸟总裁,资深海外升学顾问陈起永老师携VIP申请团队,为您的 留美申请保驾护航!
- 2.帮助学生以更雄厚的活动背景,更精良的申请文书,冲击美国名校!
- 3.以常规本科申请服务费享受VIP指导的专项待遇!
- 4.帮助家长节省100000余元!

### > 常春藤种子计划申请内容 <

- ★ 申请条件 申请美国本科,TOEFL成绩110分以上,且SAT成绩2200分以上。
- ★ 申请时间 2012年3月1日-2012年10月31日
- ★ 招收名额 申请期内,全国限招10名学员!

→ 详情请登录官 www.zmnedu.com



### 留学规划 考试培训 申请咨询

www.zmnedu.com www.manfen.net

### 啄木乌教育 中国十佳留学机构 中国诚信教育机构

总部:北京市海淀区丹棱街甲1号(中关村步行街南侧)欧美汇购物中心4层 全国免费咨询电话: 400-888-0059 网址: http://www.zmnedu.com http://www.manfen.net 电话: 010-82483098 传真: 010-82484179 电邮: info@zmnedu.com 邮编: 100080 上海: 上海市静安区南京西路555号555商厦413室 邮 编: 200041 海 电话: 021-52135109 52131692 传真: 021-52135107 电邮: shanghai@zmnedu.com 广州:广州市天河北路183号大都会广场703室 邮编: 510620 电话: 020-22829243 22829247 传真: 020-22829249 电邮: guangzhou@zmnedu.com 沈阳:沈阳市沈河区北京街51号银河国际大厦A座1206室 邮编: 110013 电话: 024-86251368 传真: 024-86223266 阳 电邮: shenyang@zmnedu.com 武汉:武汉市武昌区武珞路628号亚贸广场A座2202室 邮编: 430070 汉 电话: 027-87873006 87870102传真: 027-87877712 电邮: wuhan@zmnedu.com 深 圳: 深圳福田区华强北路4002号圣廷苑酒店B座1201-1205室 邮 编: 518028 电话: 0755-82076505 传真: 0755-82076515转8118 电邮: shenzhen@zmnedu.com 南 南京:南京市太平南路1号新世纪广场A座1910室邮编:210002 电话: 025-66778760 66019212传真: 025-66778761 电邮: nanjing@zmnedu.com 西 安: 西安市西高新开发区高新路86号领先时代广场B座19楼 邮 编: 710075 电话: 029-68905979 68905978 68905976 传真: 029-68905977 电 邮: xian@zmnedu.com